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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
B IS B

For the year ended 31 March 2023
B22023F3H31HIFFE

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT

Revenue increased from approximately HK$456.4 million for the
year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$541.6 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing an increase of
approximately HK$85.2 million or 18.7%.

Gross profit increased from approximately HK$57.7 million
for the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$65.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing an
increase of approximately HK$7.8 million or 13.6%.

The Group recorded a profit and total comprehensive income
for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$49.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2023 (2022: approximately HK$31.3 million).

Basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company
was approximately HK5.7 cents for the year ended 31 March
2023 (2022: approximately HK4.2 cents).

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of a
final dividend for the years ended 31 March 2023 (2022: nil).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHE

Dear Shareholders,

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of GC
Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to
present the consolidated annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2023, together with the comparative figures for the year ended 31
March 2022.

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were successfully listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 10 October 2022 (the “Listing Date”) by
way of share offer (the “Share Offer”) (the “Listing”). The Group
is a wet trades contractor in Hong Kong. The wet trades works
performed by the Group mainly included plastering, tile laying, brick
laying, floor screeding and marble works.

In the first half of year under review, Hong Kong experienced the
well-documented fifth wave of outbreak of COVID-19 which resulted
in certain adverse impact to the Group'’s business, and the progress
of the residential related projects of the Group were slowed down
due to the disruptions of COVID-19. However, with the efforts of
the management team and the success of the business strategies,
the Group shifted the business focus to government infrastructure
projects in the first half of the year under review. The projects of a
hospital in Yaumatei, a sports park in Kai Tak and the community
isolations and treatment facilities helped the Group withstand the
challenging times and maintain a solid financial position. The Group
participated in the construction of the community isolations and
treatment facilities. With the dedications and hard work of the
workers and employees, the Group completed the construction of
the community isolations and treatment facilities efficiently under the
tight timetable. The Board is of the view that it was an honour for the
Group to be able to assist the community to fight COVID-19.

Towards the half way of the year ended 31 March 2023, the
outbreak of COVID-19 in Hong Kong began to ease and the
economic activities in Hong Kong has gradually resumed. The
Group was fully committed to the progress of all existing projects.
The revenue increased from approximately HK$456.4 million for
the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$541.6 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing an increase of
approximately HK$85.2 million or 18.7%. The increase in revenue
was mainly driven by the increase in the amount of works performed
by the Group in some of the ongoing sizeable projects, including a
commercial project at the Hong Kong International Airport, a private
residential project in Tai Wo Ping, a project of a sports park in Kai Tak
and a project of a community isolation and treatment facility.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 53 projects (31 March 2022: 39
projects) on hand.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERH/E

PROSPECTS

Leveraging the Group’s established track record in the wet trades
industry in Hong Kong, the management will continue to make use
of the advantages of the Group to increase the Group’s market share
in the wet trades industry. It is commonly known that the Hong Kong
government has a high priority in addressing the housing problem
in Hong Kong. The increasing land for housing development, the
northern metropolitan development, the development plan of Tseung
Kwan O District 137 and the new Light Public Housing are expected
to increase the demand for wet trades works. The Group is confident
in maintaining solid performance in the coming years by seizing the
abovementioned opportunities and controlling its costs.

In recent years, Southeast Asia countries have achieved robust
economic growth, primarily driven by strong domestic investments
in infrastructures and real properties developments, and supported
by the trend where an increasing number of international enterprises
have been setting up or relocating their supply chain and production
activities to such regions. Amid this geo-economic development,
the Group is considering to look into the feasibility of establishing
a presence in Southeast Asia, with an aim to securing suitable wet
trades works and other construction-related projects. The Group will
closely monitor the economic demand from various Southeast Asia
countries and explore suitable opportunities to expand overseas,
in an effort to stimulate its long-term growth and diversify its
growth drivers. In addition, with its solid financial position, strong
reputation, established customer base and experience management,
the Group will look out for potential opportunities to diversify its
service portfolio via offering other wet trade-related ancillary works,
including but not limited to fitting-out and decoration works. In this
regard, the Group may consider collaborating with other partners
and/or setting up its own team in developing its presence in other
ancillary works. Considering the Group’s leading market position in
the Hong Kong wet trades industry and its successful listing on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange in the past year, the management
believes that the Group is well-positioned to develop its practice in
other ancillary works and in turn capture the market growth in such
fields.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEET RS T

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The revenue increased from approximately HK$456.4 million for
the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$541.6 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing an increase of
approximately HK$85.2 million or 18.7%. The increase in revenue
was mainly driven by the increase in the amount of works performed
by the Group in some of our ongoing sizeable projects, including a
commercial project at the Hong Kong International Airport, a private
residential project in Tai Wo Ping, a project of a sports park in Kai
Tak and a project of a community isolation and treatment facility.

Cost of Services

The cost of services mainly comprised subcontracting fees, cost of
materials and toolings and direct labour costs.

The cost of services increased from approximately HK$398.7 million
for the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$476.1
million for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing an increase
of approximately HK$77.4 million or 19.4%. The increase in cost of
services was generally in line with the increase in revenue.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit increased from approximately HK$57.7 million for
the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$65.5 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing an increase of
approximately HK$7.8 million or 13.6%. The increase in gross profit
was primarily attributable to the increase in revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

The gross profit margin remained relatively stable at approximately
12.1% and 12.6% for the year ended 31 March 2023 and 2022,
respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERER WE DT

Other Income

The other income increased from approximately HK$0.6 million
for the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$18.7
million for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing an increase
of approximately HK$18.2 million. Such increase was primarily
attributable to the government grant from the Employment
Support Scheme under the Anti-Epidemic Fund, which amounted to
approximately HK$18.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2023,
while our Group did not receive such government grant for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses increased from approximately HK$12.1
million for the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$20.6
million for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing an increase
of approximately HK$8.5 million. Such increase was mainly due to
the increase in staff cost, entertainment expenses and legal and
professional fee incurred after the Listing.

Finance Income/(Costs), net

The Group recorded net finance costs of approximately HK$0.1
million for the year ended 31 March 2022, and it turned to net
finance income of approximately HK$0.5 million for the year ended
31 March 2023. Interest income from short-term bank deposits
amounted to approximately HK$1.0 million for the year ended 31
March 2023, which was partially offset by the interest expenses on
bank borrowings.

Income Tax Expense

The income tax expense remained relatively stable at approximately
HK$7.4 million and HK$7.5 million for the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022, respectively. The effective tax rate, which is
calculated by dividing the income tax expense by profit before
taxation, was approximately 13.1% and 19.3% for the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022, respectively. The decrease in effective tax
rate was mainly due to the increase in income not subject to tax.

Profit and Total Comprehensive Income for the
Year

The profit and total comprehensive income for the year increased
from approximately HK$31.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2022 to approximately HK$49.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2023, representing an increase of approximately HK$18.0 million
or 57.6%. Such increase was mainly driven by the increase in gross
profit and other income.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group needs to maintain a solid liquidity for working capital to
support the Group’s business operations. The principal sources of
liquidity are equity capital, cash generated from operations and bank
borrowings. As at 31 March 2023, the Group maintained a healthy
liquidity position with net current assets balance of approximately
HK$303.6 million (2022: approximately HK$140.3 million),
comprising cash and cash equivalent of approximately HK$47.9
million (2022: approximately HK$27.5 million) and short-term bank
deposit of HK$50 million (2022: nil), respectively. The cash and cash
equivalents were denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
10 October 2022. There has been no change in the capital structure
of the Company since then. As at the date of this annual report,
the capital structure of the Company comprised mainly issued share
capital, reserves. The Group also deploy bank borrowings as its
financial resources.

Bank Borrowings

The bank borrowings as at 31 March 2023 represented term loans
of approximately HK$5.6 million (2022: nil). Such term loans are
dominated in Hong Kong dollars and bear interest at floating rates.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings (i.e. bank borrowings)
divided by the total equity as at the respective reporting dates. The
gearing ratio was approximately 1.8% as at 31 March 2023.

The gearing ratio was nil as at 31 March 2022 as there was no
outstanding bank borrowings as at 31 March 2022.

Net Debt to Equity Ratio

Net debt to equity ratio is calculated as net debts (i.e. bank
borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents) divided by total equity
as at the respective reporting dates.

The net debt to equity ratio was not applicable as at 31 March 2023
and 2022 as the Group had net cash position as at both dates.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERER WE DT

Treasury Policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policy. The Board closely monitors the Group's
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s
assets, liabilities, and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements all the time.

Capital Expenditures

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group incurred capital
expenditures of approximately HK$2.5 million (2022: approximately
HK$0.9 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2023 and 2022.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS AND
COMMITMENTS
The Directors confirm that as at the date of this annual report,

the Group did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements or
commitments.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

All of the personal guarantees and securities for the Group’s bank
borrowings has been released and the bank borrowings are secured
by the Company by way of corporate guarantee as at the date of
this annual report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS
OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES
AND JOINT VENTURES

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any

significant investments, acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group has a minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as
most of the business transactions and assets and liabilities of the
Group are principally denominated in Hong Kong Dollar. As such,
the Directors consider the Group’s risk in foreign exchange is
insignificant and no foreign exchange hedging was conducted by
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023.

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e

BB BUR
AEEYEFEHRRR T BROMBERS
% - EERRYERAEEORDESMR - WU
WRALEEE  BEREMAEORDESR
BBERRERARY -

BEARZH

HE2023F3A31HIEFE » AEBEEL25
BEABITHNERT H(20224F : 09BES
JT) °

HAREE

R2023F K 2022F3A31H » NEEIW L
BERHREE -

BERBERIRZHRAR

EEWR - NAFHRAY  AKREVEEAEE
BERINL P RIE -

BEEH

AEBMBTEROAEBAEREERREH#
B RAERAR - RITERBARBARFE
R AR

MEAR BEATAREELEN
EXARE - WBEZHE

HE202343A31AILFE - ARETEHED
7 MEARRAELEMEMEARE - KE
Kb -

S EE [ B

AR AEBRBAOEBRIULREERABEE
LAVSTLEHE » N5 [E T B A9 SN E R R AR o
It BEERABAEENINERBMTRE - MR
BZE2023F3A31AIEFE - AEEWEHEITIN
EEpaii

2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 March 2023, the major financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, short-term bank deposit,
cash and cash equivalents, trade payables, accruals and other
payables, bank borrowings and lease liabilities. The management
manages such exposure to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 77 employees (31 March
2022: 83 employees) who were directly employed by the Group and
based in Hong Kong. The Group offers remuneration package to the
employees which includes salary and bonuses. Generally, the Group
considers employees’ salaries based on each of their qualifications,
position and seniority. The Group has an annual review system
to appraise the performance of the employees, which constitutes
the grounds of the decision as to the salary raises, bonuses and
promotions. The remuneration of the Directors is decided by the
Board upon the recommendation from the remuneration committee
of the Company having regard to the Group's operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There have been no material events from the end of the reporting
period to the date of this annual report.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Shares were successfully listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 10 October 2022.

The amount of gross proceeds from the Share Offer is HK$125
million and the amount of net proceeds from the Share Offer
is approximately HK$91.8 million after deducting underwriting
commissions and the expenses relating to the Share Offer (the “Net
Proceeds”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERER WE DT

The Net Proceeds will be used in the manner consistent with that as
disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”

PSR FRBeRREARRNT BEIA20225F9
RA23AMBERER([BRER D AR &AT

of the Company’s prospectus dated 23 September 2022 (the BHIBEBRE|—SMEEE—BNAABH E

“Prospectus”), details of which are as outlined below: BT
Utilised
amount Unutilised
since the amount of  Expected
Intended Listing Date Net Proceeds  timeline for
use of and up to asat the use of
Purposes Net Proceeds 31 March 2023 31 March 2023  Net Proceeds
BLmEH R2023F
FRERE £2023F 3ANBME BRAME
TREEN 3A31AM FEFEN FUEFEEN
B RERZ EE )itk AEBASHE RHNEEX
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEAT BEBT BEAT

Financing the up-front costs AAEETE B RATH 67.0 67.0 - March 2023
of the Group's projects BAREES 2023F3A

Expanding the Group’s BRAEEANKEE 9.9 0.7 9.2 March 2024
manpower and leasing BIMIRE 2024F3A
an additional office

Purchasing machinery and ~ BE B #423 K B 8 2.7 1.9 0.8 March 2024
motor vehicles 202453 A

Procuring an enterprise RECXERAE 19 - 1.9  March 2024
resources planning ([eEERTE]) 2024F37
("ERP") system (Note 1) ZH (M)

Purchasing planks and fE B AR REEHRUA 14 0.4 1.0 March 2024
toe-boards to further E—HIaREE 2024F3A
strengthen the Group's MBXEZE
occupational safety

The Group's general AEEN—REEES 8.9 8.9 - March 2023
working capital 2023%3A

Total R 918 78.9 12.9

Note: BiAE -

(1) The use of procuring an enterprise resources planning system was (1) HRARARRE SR ERREZERTERR

delayed as the Company needed more time to conduct search on ERP

system and negotiate with the service providers of ERP system.

As at the date of this annual report, there was no further change for
the intended use of Net Proceeds as disclosed in the Prospectus.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

NO BENEFITS AND SIDE AGREEMENT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SHARE OFFER

In connection with the Share Offer:

(a)

no benefits (in whatever form, including rebate, discount,
incentive, commission, loan or otherwise) have been or will
be given by the Company, any of its Controlling Shareholders
(as defined in the Prospectus), subsidiaries, Directors, senior
management or any of their respective associates, to (1)
Grande Capital Limited in its capacity as the sponsor (the
“Sponsor”); (2) any of the intermediaries involved in the
placing, distribution or underwriting of the Share Offer,
including the Sole Global Coordinator (as defined in the
Prospectus), the Joint Bookrunner and Joint Lead Manager (as
defined in the Prospectus), underwriting syndicate members,
non-syndicate sub-placing agents and distributors; or (3)
any of the placees (including the ultimate beneficial owners,
subsidiaries, directors, senior management or the respective
associates of the parties referred to in (1), (2) and (3)) (together,
the “Relevant Parties”) directly or indirectly in connection
with the Share Offer other than those set out in the Sponsor’s
engagement letter, placing and sub-placing agreements and/
or underwriting agreements (as the case may be) and the
Prospectus; and

no side agreement, arrangement, undertaking or otherwise
(verbal or written) has been or will be entered into by the
Company (including its Controlling Shareholders, subsidiaries,
Directors, senior management or their respective associates)
and the Relevant Parties in connection with the Share Offer
or any subsequent dealings in respect of the Company’s
securities, other than those set out in the respective Sponsor’s
engagement letter, placing and sub-placing agreements and/
or underwriting agreements (as the case may be) and the
Prospectus.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERER WE DT

During the year ended 31 March 2023, From the Listing Date and up
to the date of this annual report, there was no transaction between
(1) the Company, the Controlling Shareholders, subsidiaries,
Directors, senior management or their respective associates; and (2)
any of the Relevant Parties, consultants or advisers involved in the
application of the Listing, save for the fees paid by the Company
under the respective engagement letters to (i) the parties involved
in the application for the Listing as stated in the section headed
“Directors and Parties involved in the Share Offer” in the prospectus;
and (ii) Grande Capital Limited, ONC Lawyers, LIF Consultants
Limited, Garron Holdings Limited and Appleby in the their respective
role as the compliance adviser; the Hong Kong legal adviser to the
Company, the internal consultant, the safety consultant and share
registrar to the Company following the Listing for compliance
purposes. Each of the independent non-executive Directors and
the compliance adviser are of the view that such transactions were
entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group, conducted on normal commercial terms and were in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” of the Prospectus, as at the date of this annual report, the
Group did not have other plans for material investments and capital
assets.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: nil).
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum, aged 65, was appointed as a Director on
28 April 2020 and was re-designated as an executive Director on
30 October 2020. Mr. Chan Kiu Sum also serves as the chairman
of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Group. He is
the chairperson of the Nomination Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee. He is primarily responsible for the
overall management, formulation of business strategies, project
management and day-to-day management of the operations of the
Group. He is also a director of all the subsidiaries of the Company,
namely Wai Wai Prestige Company Limited (“Wai Wai Prestige”),
Ying Ying Company Limited ("Ying Ying"), Chan Kiu Construction
Decoration Engineering Limited (“Chan Kiu”) and Ying Wai (Chan
Kiu) Construction Engineering Co., Limited (“Ying Wai"). He is a
cousin-in-law of Mr. Chan Wing Ping and the father of Ms. Chan
Chui Ying.

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum has over 30 years of experience in the wet trades
works industry. From June 1988 to December 1997, he worked as
a foreman at a wet trades works contractor with his last position
as manager. He was the sole proprietor of Chan Kiu Construction
Decoration Engineering from February 1998 to February 2013. Since
July 2005 and October 2007, Mr. Chan Kiu Sum has been a director
of Ying Wai and Chan Kiu, respectively.

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum completed the special training course for
Hong Kong and Macao committee members held by the
Business School of Nankai University in the PRC in April 2018.
He was a vice president (8] € &) of the Hong Kong Construction
Sub-Contractors Association from July 2015 to June 2017.
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum has been appointed as the president
and the honorary president of The Association of Plastering
Sub-Contractors Limited from May 2015 to October 2022 and
since November 2022, respectively. Since October 2020, Mr. Chan
Kiu Sum has become the founding executive vice president of the
Registered Specialist Trade Contractors Federation. Since January
2023, Mr. Chan Kiu Sum has become the president of the Shenzhen
Baoan Shajing Natives Association (HK).

Mr. Chan Wing Ping, aged 62, was appointed as a Director on
28 April 2020 and was re-designated as an executive Director on
30 October 2020. He is primarily responsible for the overall project
management and day-to-day management of the operations of the
Group. He is also a director of all the subsidiaries of the Company,
namely Wai Wai Prestige, Ying Ying, Chan Kiu and Ying Wai. He is a
cousin-in-law of Mr. Chan Kiu Sum and an uncle of Ms. Chan Chui
Ying.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEERE

Mr. Chan Wing Ping has over 20 years of experience in the wet
trades works industry. From January 1996 to December 1997, he
worked as a foreman at a wet trades works contractor. He then
worked at Chan Kiu Construction Decoration Engineering as a
foreman from February 1998 to February 2013. Mr. Chan Wing Ping
has been a director of Ying Wai and Chan Kiu since July 2005 and
October 2007, respectively.

Mr. Chan Wing Ping completed the safety supervisor course offered
by the Industrial Centre of the School of Professional Education and
Executive Development of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
January 2001. He has been appointed as a council member (32 %)
of The Association of Plastering Sub-Contractors Limited since May
2015.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Huang Hong, aged 45, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 13 September 2022. She is the chairperson
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee.

Dr. Huang has over 15 years of experience in corporate finance
and corporate governance. From January 2003 to March 2004,
she worked at the representative office of Stevenson, Wong & Co.
in Guangzhou as China business consultant. From April 2004 to
November 2005, she practised at Drew & Napier LLC in Singapore
as a registered foreign lawyer. Dr. Huang was a visiting lecturer
and a lecturer at the School of Accounting and Finance of the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University from January 2006 to May 2007
and from May 2007 to June 2015, respectively. From October
2018 to November 2021, Dr. Huang was the senior manager of
the commercial and corporate finance department of Stevenson,
Wong & Co.. Since January 2020, she has been a part-time visiting
lecturer at the School of Accounting and Finance of the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Since December 2021, Dr. Huang has been
a compliance director of Metalpha Holding (HK) Limited (formerly
known as Long Yun International Holdings Limited). Since January
2022, Dr. Huang has been a part-time compliance director of SW
Management Limited.

Dr. Huang graduated from Sun Yat-sen University in the PRC with
a bachelor’'s degree of laws in June 2000. She further obtained
a master’s degree of laws from the University of Liverpool in the
United Kingdom in December 2002 and a master’s degree of
corporate finance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
October 2009. In October 2019, Dr. Huang obtained a doctor’s
degree of philosophy from the School of Law of the City University
of Hong Kong. Dr. Huang is qualified as a PRC lawyer in April 2001.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yu Chi Wing, aged 39, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 13 September 2022. He is the chairperson
of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee.

Mr. Yu has over 15 years of experience in advisory, accounting,
taxation and auditing. Mr. Yu joined RSM Nelson Wheeler as staff
accountant in June 2005 and left as manager in June 2014. From
June 2014 to May 2015, he worked at Niche-Tech (Hong Kong)
Limited (which is a subsidiary of Niche-Tech Group Limited, a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8490))
as chief accountant with his last position as financial controller.
Since June 2015, Mr. Yu has been the financial controller of Tactful
Building Company Limited. Mr. Yu founded Yu Chi Wing CPA
(Practising) and JR & Co., Certified Public Accountants in March
2015 and September 2016, respectively. He also co-founded
Emerald Capital CPA & Co. in May 2021.

Mr. Yu has been an independent non-executive director of
Fameglow Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8603) and Wah Wo Holdings Group
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 9938) since September 2018 and December 2019,
respectively.

Mr. Yu graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a
bachelor’s degree of arts in accountancy in June 2005. He has been
a member and a practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since January 2012 and March 2015,
respectively.

Dr. Lo Ki Chiu, aged 38, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 13 September 2022. He is a member of the
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.

Dr. Lo has over 10 years of work experience. He joined Wealth
Property Agency Limited as an account executive in December 2007
and is currently its managing director. He was an assistant instructor
from September 2012 to August 2013, a part-time instructor from
September 2013 to January 2014 and from February 2017 to
June 2017, and a part-time college lecturer from February 2018
to June 2018, from February 2019 to June 2019, from February
2020 to August 2020, and from January 2021 to June 2021, at
the Lingnan Institute of Further Education, Lingnan University.
He was also a guest lecturer of The Education University of Hong
Kong from January 2017 to June 2017. Dr. Lo was an honorary
assistant professor in the School of Arts and Social Sciences of The
Open University of Hong Kong (currently known as the Hong Kong
Metropolitan University) from August 2019 to August 2022.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEERE

Dr. Lo was an independent non-executive director of Wang Yang
Holdings Limited (currently known as Central Holding Group Co.
Ltd.), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1735) from March 2018 to October 2019. He has been
an independent non-executive director of Yield Go Holdings Ltd.
(stock code: 1796) since December 2018.

Dr. Lo graduated from the Hong Kong Baptist University with a
bachelor’'s degree of arts in physical education and recreation
management in November 2007. He further obtained a master’s
degree of science in international banking and finance and a
master’s degree of philosophy in economics from Lingnan University
in October 2009 and October 2011, respectively. In November
2019, Dr. Lo obtained a doctor’s degree of philosophy in physical
education from the Hong Kong Baptist University.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chan Chui Ying, aged 27, is the corporate promotion,
administration and human resources manager of the Group and is
responsible for the sales and marketing and administration of the
Group. She is the daughter of Mr. Chan Kiu Sum and a niece of Mr.
Chan Wing Ping.

Ms. Chan has over 5 years of experience in sales and marketing. Ms.
Chan was an account executive of Ginger Advertising Limited from
September 2015 to June 2016. She worked at Meitu (China) Limited
as a marketing and public relations executive from June 2016
to February 2018. She joined Chan Kiu as corporate promotion,
administration and human resources manager in February 2018.

Ms. Chan graduated from Pierce College in Washington, the
United States, with an associate’s degree of arts in June 2013. She
then obtained a bachelor’s degree of arts in communication from
the University of Washington in the United States in June 2015.
In October 2019, Ms. Chan completed the online credential of
readiness program in business analytics, economics for managers
and financial accounting organised by Harvard Business School.

Ms. Chan completed a 43-hour programme of construction safety
supervisors in August 2022.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lai Wai Hung, aged 36, is the project manager of the Group
and is responsible for overseeing and managing project execution
and operation of the Group.

Mr. Lai has over 10 years of experience in the wet trades works
industry. He joined the Group as a part-time site worker in June
2006 and was promoted as site foreman in July 2012. Mr. Lai has
further been promoted as project manager in November 2020.

Mr. Lai completed his secondary education in June 2003. He further
completed the two-year full time basic craft course in bricklaying,
plastering and tiling held by the Construction Industry Training
Authority in August 2005. He then completed the safety supervisor
training course and the 3-day metal scaffolding supervisor course
organised by the Hong Kong Human Resources Ltd. in October 2007
and December 2007, respectively.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEREAHRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance and business practices. The Company’s corporate
governance practices are based on the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”). During the period from the Listing Date to the year ended
31 March 2023, save as disclosed below, the Company has complied
with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code and, where
applicable, the recommended best practices of the CG Code.

According to the code provision C.2.1 of part 2 of the CG Code,
the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. The Company
has appointed Mr. Chan Kiu Sum as both the chairman and the
chief executive officer of the Company. Considering that Mr. Chan
Kiu Sum has been operating and managing the Group since 2005,
the Board believes that vesting the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer in Mr. Chan Kiu Sum would enable the Group to
achieve higher responsiveness, efficiency and effectiveness when
formulating business strategies and executing business plans. The
Board believes that the balance of power and authority is sufficiently
maintained by the operation of the senior management and the
Board, which comprises experienced and high-calibre individuals.
The Board currently comprises two executive Directors (including
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum) and three independent non-executive Directors
and therefore has a fairly strong independence element in its
composition.

The Board will nevertheless review the structure and composition of
the Board from time to time in light of prevailing circumstances, in
order to maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices
of the Company.

CULTURE AND CORPORATE STRATEGY

The corporate value of the Company is acting in lawful, ethical and
responsible manner. The Group is dedicated to deliver quality and
attentive wet trade works to its customers and put the health and
safety of its employees and workers as top priority.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the required standard
for securities transactions by Directors. All Directors, after specific
enquiries by the Company, confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code during the period
from the Listing Date to the year ended 31 March 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the formulation of business policies
and strategies of the Group, the nomination and appointment
of Directors, and to ensure the availability of resources as well
as the effectiveness of its system of internal control. The senior
management was delegated the authority and responsibilities by
the Board for the day-to-day management and operations of the
Group. In addition, the Board has also established Board committees
and has delegated to these Board committees various duties and
responsibilities as set out in their terms of reference respectively.
Each Director shall ensure that he/she carries out his/her duty in
good faith in compliance with the standard of applicable laws
and regulations, and acts in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times.

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised five Directors,
including two Executive Directors and three Independent non-
executive Directors. Details of the Board composition by category are
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Wing Ping

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Huang Hong

Mr. Yu Chi Wing

Dr. Lo Ki Chiu

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biography
of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 15 to 19 of this
annual report.

The Company is governed by the Board which has the responsibility
for leadership and monitoring of the Company. The Directors are
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group'’s affairs.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF MEETINGS

The Board sets strategies and directions for the Group’s activities
with a view to developing its business and enhancing shareholders’
value. The Board has delegated the daily operation and day-to-
day management of the Group as well as the implementation of
the Board’s policies and strategies to the executive Directors and
management of the Group. During the period from the Listing
Date to the date of this report, no general meeting was due to be
convened and two Board meetings were held and the attendance of
each Director is set out below:

BRHFELR

BEFE/RAKEBEIESREN R - §EERR
EFBRERABRREE EFRCHAEEREE
ERER AR EEEFEBORMRE M TIFRIK
FTHROEELAKEERE - 8 LHRHEER
HE R ARFWEEAAT EROBER
Rg  HERTTRMRAEZGEE  MIEFZH
RRCEREIIANT

Board Meeting

Attended/Held
HE CHESY
BRR™
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum PBRIGAR S 2/2
Mr. Chan Wing Ping PRk oA 2/2

Independent non-executive Directors BAFHITESE
Dr. Huang Hong EUEL 2/2
Mr. Yu Chi Wing EEREE 2/2
Dr. Lo Ki Chiu EHEEL 2/2

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Executive Director has entered into a service agreement
for a term of three years with the Company which renewed and
extended automatically upon expiry of the initial term unless
otherwise terminated by either party by giving to the other not less
than three months’ prior written notice. Each of the Independent
non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter for
a term of one year with the Company which renewed and extended
automatically upon expiry of the initial term unless otherwise
terminated by either party by giving to the other not less than one
month'’s prior written notice. In accordance with Article 108 of the
Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire
from office by rotation and re-election. Each Director shall retire
from office at least once every three years. In accordance with
Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any Director appointed
by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office until the following general meeting
(in the case of filling a causal vacancy) or the next following annual
general meeting (in the case of an additional Director) and shall then
be eligible for election.
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Board Independence

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in
good corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The following
mechanisms are adopted by the Board to ensure that independent
views and input are available to the Board, and these mechanisms
are reviewed annually by the Board to ensure their effectiveness:

1. The Board must have at least three Independent non-Executive
Directors and must appoint Independent non-Executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

2. On an annual basis, all Independent non-Executive Directors
are required to confirm in writing their compliance of
independence requirements pursuant to the Listing Rules, and
to disclose the number and nature of offices held by them
in public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments.

3. External independent professional advice is available as and
when required by individual Directors.

4.  The chairman of the Board meets with Independent non-
Executive Directors annually without the presence of the
Executive Directors.

The Board considered that the above mechanisms were effective
during the year under review.

The Company has received from each of the Independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considered that
the Independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules. Upon the recommendation of the Nomination Committee,
the Board considers all independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in light of the independence guidelines set out in the
said Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS" CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To ensure that the Directors’ contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant and in compliance with provision code C.1.4
of part 2 of the CG Code, the Company would arrange and fund
suitable continuous professional development for the Directors to
participate in order to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The training each Director received during the year ended 31
March 2023 is summarised as below:

EENEERER

ARERESHBEHESSFEANBERNER
MEBTOEERTUNEHFDECIAME AR
AERAEELH2MEENBESEEBILIR
HES  UBEREEFEMBRLE - REZE
2023F3A31HIEFE - SESEZ BT
RN

Reading
Attending seminars/ newspapers,
in house workshops journals and

relevant to the other relevant
Company’s business, materials regarding
Listing Rules, regulatory update
regulatory and and corporate
statutory updates governance matters
2meE REEH

PVNSTE 373 EEBRNERR
LHRA - EER TEEREEN
ERRFERH ®BE - AR

WaE  RBIfEY  HaEER

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum PRIGAR T

Mr. Chan Wing Ping BRoK TS
Independent non-executive BYFHTES

Directors

Dr. Huang Hong EHHET

Mr. Yu Chi Wing THE&EE

Dr. Lo Ki Chiu ERSEL

4 4
4 4
4 v
v v
v v
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BOARD AND WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach of which the Board could
achieve a higher degree of diversity. The Company recognises
the benefits of having a diversified Board. In summary, the board
diversity sets out that when considering the nomination and
appointment of a director, with the assistance of the Nomination
Committee, the Board would consider a number of factors, including
but not limited to the skills, knowledge, professional experience
and qualifications, cultural and educational background, age,
gender and diversity of perspectives that the candidate is expected
to bring to the Board and what would be the candidate’s potential
contributions, in order to better serves the needs and development
of the Company. The Diversity Policy also seeks to attract, retain
and motivate the Directors and other staff from the widest pool of
available talent. All Board appointments will be based on merits, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Diversity Policy and
discussed the above measurable objectives and agreed that these
measurable objectives were achieved for the diversity of the Board
which contributed to the corporate strategy and the business
development of the Company. The Board will take opportunities to
increase the proportion of female members over time when selecting
and making recommendation on suitable candidates for board
appointments. The Board would ensure that appropriate balance
of gender diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders’
expectation and international and local recommended best practices,
with the ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender parity. The
Board also aspires to having an appropriate proportion of Directors
who have direct experience in the Group’s core markets, with
different ethnic backgrounds, and reflecting the Group’s strategy.

The Company is conscious of maintaining Board diversity with an
appropriate level of female members on the Board, which shall not
be less than one female member and may further increase to not
less than two in the next five years. Due to the industry nature of the
business as wet trades works contractor and the prevailing gender
dominance in the industry, the Board currently comprises four male
Directors (80%) and one female Director (20%), whereas the senior
management comprises one male member and one female member.
The Company values gender diversity and will continue to take
steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of the Company and
to develop a pipeline of potential successors, including but without
limitation at the Board.
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The Group strictly adheres to fair and appropriate employment
practices and labour standards. With an anti-discriminatory and
equal-opportunity policy in place, the Group provides job applicant
and employees with equal opportunities of employment and
promotion, and prohibits all forms of discrimination on gender,
religion, race, disability or age. As at 31 March 2023, 21 out of 77
employees (including senior management) of the Group are female,
representing approximately 27.3%.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee with terms of reference to assist them in the efficient
implementation of their functions.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules
and code provision D.3.3 of part 2 of the CG Code pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 13 September 2022. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among others, to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of external auditor, review the financial statements and
material advice in respect of financial reporting, oversee the financial
reporting process, internal control, risk management systems
and audit process of the Company and perform other duties and
responsibilities assigned by the Board.

At present, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Yu Chi Wing,
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Committee.
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on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit
Committee from the Listing Date up to the date of this report:

— reviewed the condensed consolidated interim financial
information for the six months ended 30 September 2022
and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2023, the interim report for the six months ended
30 September 2022 and annual report for the year ended 31
March 2023, the related accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, the report from the management on
the Company’s review of the risk management and internal
control systems, and recommendation of the appointment and
re-appointment of the external auditor;

—  reviewed the effectiveness and performance of the Company’s
financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems;

— reviewed the nature and scope of the non-audit services
provided or to be provided by external auditor and assessed the
respective implication on the auditor’s independence; and

—  reviewed the report communicated by the external auditor for
matters including the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the appointment of external auditor.

From the Listing Date up to the date of this report, two Audit
Committee meetings were held and the attendance of each
committee member is set out below:
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Number of
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IR

Independent non-executive Directors BIYFHITES
Dr. Huang Hong EHUET 2/2
Mr. Yu Chi Wing FEEEE 2/2
Dr. Lo Ki Chiu EESEL 212
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 13
September 2022 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules and code provision E.1.2 of
part 2 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to review and approve the management'’s
remuneration proposals, make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration package of the Directors and senior management
and ensure none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.
At present, the Remuneration Committee comprises Dr. Huang
Hong and Mr. Yu Chi Wing, being the independent non-executive
Directors, and Mr. Chan Kiu Sum, being the executive Director. Dr.
Huang Hong is the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee.

Meetings of the Remuneration Committee shall be held at least
once a year. Details of the authority and duties of Remuneration
Committee are set out in the Remuneration Committee’s terms of
reference which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

The following is a summary of the work performed by the
Remuneration Committee from the Listing Date up to the date of
this report:

— reviewed the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management; and

—  made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
individual Directors and senior management.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration in the Group and the five
highest paid individuals are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

From the Listing Date up to the date of this report, two
Remuneration Committee meetings were held and the attendance
of each committee member is set out below:
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Number of
Attendance
HERE
Executive Director HITES

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum PRIBAR ST 2/2

Independent non-executive Directors BIUKHITES
Dr. Huang Hong EHHEL 2/2
Mr. Yu Chi Wing FEREE 2/2
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Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of part 2 of the CG Code, the
remuneration paid to the members of the senior management
(excluding Directors) by band during the year ended 31 March 2023
is set out below:
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AE

HK$Nil to HK$ 1,000,000

Remuneration Policy of the Directors

Quality and committed staff are valuable assets contributing to
the Group's success. To ensure the ability to attract and retain
talents, the Group’s remuneration policy of the Directors is built
upon the principles of providing equitable and market-competitive
remuneration package that support the performance culture and
enable the achievement of strategic business goals. The Group’s
remuneration policy of Directors is, therefore, aiming at providing
competitive but not excessive remuneration package to the
Directors.

The Directors’ remuneration comprises fixed salary or service fee
and variable components (such as bonus and share options), which
is benchmarked against companies of comparable business or scale
with reference to a mix of factors such as the prevailing market
condition, the Company’s performance and the qualifications, skills,
experience and educational background of the Directors.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 13
September 2022 with written terms of reference in compliance with
code provision B.3.1 of part 2 of the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Nomination Committee are, among others, to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, and select or make
recommendations on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships. At present, the Nomination Committee comprises Mr.
Chan Kiu Sum, being the executive Director, and Dr. Huang Hong
and Dr. Lo Ki Chiu, being the independent non-executive Directors.
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum is the chairperson of the Nomination Committee.

Meetings of the Nomination Committee shall be held at least once
a year. Details of the authority and duties of Nomination Committee
are set out in the Nomination Committee’s terms of reference
which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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The following is a summary of the work performed by the
Nomination Committee from the Listing Date up to the date of this
report:

—  reviewed the board diversity policy; and

- reviewed the independence of the independent non-executive

T RiREZ B g8 LT RREEA®RE AHAM
HITTIEBZ

- EHEFEXEZITEHE &

— WEEMEMITESR B -

Directors.
From the Listing Date up to the date of this report, one Nomination B tTHHEEARERS  BELE 87T
Committee meeting was held and the attendance of each committee — X @ SZELKE 2 HELRHNO T ¢
member is set out below:
Number of
Attendance
HERE
Executive Director BITES
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum PRIGARTAE 11
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Dr. Huang Hong EHUET 11
Dr. Lo Ki Chiu EESEL 171
Nomination Policy EBEHE
The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination A FEHMA—DIRERKE([BEBE]) » B¢

Policy”) which sets out the approach and procedures the Board
adopts for the nomination and selection of Directors, including
the appointment of additional Directors, replacement of Directors,
and re-election of Directors. The Nomination Committee has
been delegated with the overall responsibility for implementation,
monitoring and periodic review of the policy, and the summary of
which is set out below:

Nomination Criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for the directorship,
the following criteria would be considered by the Nomination
Committee and the Board:

—  the candidate’s character and integrity;
— the candidate’s qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience, and diversity

aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the
Company'’s business and corporate strategy;

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e

HAEEGHIRR RBEESARR T RIE
o BRZERINES BREZNEEES -
REZBECOXZERE  BENREHRFZBER
ZEEEME  ZBREBERHIIMT

EERE
W%V&ﬁLEHi%%LAM BrEaeRn
EEggZR N IIRE

- REANRIERHIE
- REANEE BREXEFE - Kk A#

Nk UREBEEEXNEZT/EBEEAET
PERRREB R EEHENZTLER

2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT



any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

for independent non-executive Directors, whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

willingness and ability of the candidate to devote adequate
time to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or
Board committee(s) of the Company; and

such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where applicable may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning.

Nomination Procedures
The Company has put in place the following director nomination
procedures:

Appointment of New and Replacement Directors

If the Board determines that an additional or replacement
Director is required, it will deploy multiple channels for
identifying suitable Director candidates, including referral from
Directors, shareholders, management, advisors of the Company
and external executive search firms.

Upon compilation and interview of the list of potential
candidates, the Nomination Committee will shortlist candidates
for consideration by the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board based on the selection criteria and such other factors
that it considers appropriate. The Board has the final authority
on determining suitable Director candidate for appointment.
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Re-election of Directors and Nomination from Shareholders

i.  Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself for re-
election, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
consider and, if consider appropriate, recommend such retiring
Director to stand for re-election at a general meeting. A circular
containing the requisite information on such retiring Director
will be sent to shareholders prior to a general meeting in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

i.  Any shareholder of the Company who wishes to nominate a
person to stand for election as a Director at a general meeting
must lodge with the company secretary of the Company within
the lodgement period specified in the relevant shareholder
circular (a) a written nomination of the candidate, (b) written
confirmation from such nominated candidate of his willingness
to stand for election, and (c) biographical details of such
nominated candidate as required under the Listing Rules.
Particulars of the candidate so proposed will be sent to all
shareholders for information by a supplementary circular.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY AND
WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The policies of Anti-corruption and whistleblowing policy are
contained in the section headed "Anti-corruption” on page 96 in
this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing and has performed in
compliance with the corporate governance duties as set out in the
CG Code which includes develop and review the Group's policies
and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations
to the Board; review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior management;
review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; develop, review and monitor
the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and directors; and review the Group’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. The statement by the auditor of the
Company about their responsibilities for the financial statements is
set out in the independent auditor’s report contained in this annual
report. There are no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt of the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid and payable for the year ended 31 March
2023 to the Company’s external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, is
set out as follows:
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HK$'000

Services rendered to the Group m A B RE FHT

Audit services iR 2,000
Services in connection with the proposed BN B 2R T ARRE RO AR

listing of shares of the Company 1,500

COMPLIANCE ADVISER

The Company has appointed Grande Capital Limited as the
compliance adviser pursuant to Rule 3A.19 of the Listing Rules for
the term commencing on the Listing Date and ending on the date
on which the Company distributes annual report in respect of the
financial results for the first full financial year commencing after
the Listing Date. Such appointment may be subject to extension by
mutual agreement.

Pursuant to Rule 3A.23 of the Listing Rules, the Company shall seek
advice from the compliance adviser on a timely basis in the following
circumstances:

—  before the publication of any regulatory announcement,
circular or financial report;

—  where a transaction, which might be a notifiable or connected
transaction, is contemplated, including share issues and share
repurchases;
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—  where the Company proposes to use the proceeds of the
Listing in a manner different from that detailed in the
prospectus or where business activities, developments or results
of the Company deviate to a material extent from any forecast,
estimate, or other information in the prospectus; and

- where the Stock Exchange makes an inquiry of the Company
regarding unusual movements in the price or trading volume of
the Shares.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an adequate
system of internal controls and risk management of the Company
and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is committed to
implementing an effective and sound internal control and risk
management systems to safeguard the interest of shareholders and
the Group's assets. The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems of the Group through
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee assists the Board in the
review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis. The Directors through
the Audit Committee are kept informed of significant risks that may
impact on the Group’s performance.

The Audit Committee has received the risk management and internal
control evaluation reports prepared by the external internal control
review consultant. The reports summarised information relating to
the work carried out in the following areas:

1. the results of selective testing of internal control procedures,
operation, and the financial records of the Company;

2. a general evaluation of risk management and internal control
systems installed by the Company; and

3. an outline of major control issues, if any, noticed during the
year under review.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the reports and discussed
with the management of the Company. The Audit Committee
acknowledged that the management of the Company has been
progressively implementing adequate and effective risk management
and internal control systems in order to ensure the effective
functioning of the Company’s operations. The Board is therefore
of the view that the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group are effective and adequate. The review on the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group would
be done on an annual basis. Although, the Group does not yet
have an internal audit function having considered the complexity
of the Group’s operation, the Board considers that the review on
the risk management and internal control systems by the Audit
Committee and the Board on a regular basis as well as engaging
external internal control review consultant to review the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems would be
sufficient to ensure the effective operation of the Group. The Audit
Committee and the Board will continue to review the need for an
internal audit function on an annual basis.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year ended 31 March 2023, Mr. Choi Wan Sang Vincent
was the Company Secretary. Mr. Choi Wan Sang Vincent has
confirmed that he has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 March 2023 in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Following the resignation of Mr. Choi Wan Sang Vincent with effect
from 12 June 2023, Mr. Yu Tsz Ngo was appointed as the Company
Secretary with effect from 12 June 2023. Mr. Yu Tsz Ngo has over
15 years of experience in the related fields of finance, auditing,
accounting, corporate governance practices and company secretarial
matters, and possesses the requisite qualification and experience
as required under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Yu Tsz Ngo
obtained a bachelor degree of commerce (accounting and finance)
and a master degree of applied finance from Monash University of
Australia in December 2005 and December 2006, respectively. He is
a member of the Certified Public Accountants Australia and a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

The following procedures for shareholders of the Company to
convene an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM") of the
Company are prepared in accordance with Article 64 of the Articles
of Association of the Company:

1. One or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings may,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
of the Company require an EGM to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

2. The EGM shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of
such requisition.

If the Directors fail to proceed to convene such meeting within
21 days of such deposit of requisition, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Procedures for raising enquires

1. Shareholders should direct their enquires about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong by post to 2103B, 21st Floor, 148 Electric Road, North
Point, Hong Kong.

2. Shareholders may raise questions, request for publicly available
information and provide comments and suggestion to the
Directors and management of the Company and can be
addressed to the Company by post to Unit 909, 9th Floor,
Tower 1, Cheung Sha Wan Plaza, 833 Cheung Sha Wan Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

3. Shareholders are reminded to lodge their questions together

with their detailed contact information for the prompt response
from the Company if it deems appropriate.
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Procedures and contact details for putting forward
proposals at shareholders’ meetings

1.

To put forward proposals at the general meeting of the
Company, a shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/
her/its proposal (“Proposal”) with his/her/its detailed contact
information at the Company’s principal place of business at
Unit 909, 9th Floor, Tower 1, Cheung Sha Wan Plaza, 833
Cheung Sha Wan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention
of the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company.

The identity of the shareholder and his/her/its request will be
verified with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong and upon confirmation by the branch share registrar that
the request is proper and in order and made by a shareholder,
the Board will include the Proposal in the agenda for the
general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholders
concerned at the annual general meeting or an EGM varies
according to the nature of the Proposal as follows: (i) At least
21 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal constitutes a special
resolution of the Company in an EGM or if the Proposal is put
forward at an annual general meeting of the Company; or (ii)
At least 14 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal constitutes an
ordinary resolution of the Company at an EGM.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which
will enable shareholders and investors to make the best investment
decisions.

The Company considers that effective communication with its
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group's business performance and
strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going
dialogue with its shareholders and in particular, through annual
general meetings and other general meetings, publishing corporate
communications such as interim results and annual results, financial
reports, announcements and circulars. Shareholders may make
enquiries with the Company through channels of the Company’s
corporate website www.chankiu.hk and provide comments and
recommendations to the Directors. Upon receipt of enquiries from
shareholders, the Company will respond as soon as practicable.

The annual general meeting provides a platform for communication
between the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman of
the Board as well as the chairmen of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee or, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees, are available
to answer questions at shareholders’” meeting.

During the period from the Listing Date to the year ended 31 March

2023, there was no change to the Articles of Association of the
Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERS

The Directors present the first annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2023.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION AND SHARE
OFFER

The Company was incorporated with limited liability in Cayman
Islands on 28 April 2020.

Pursuant to a reorganisation scheme (the “Reorganisation”) to
rationalise the structure of the Group in preparation for the Listing,
the Company became the holding company of the companies now
comprising the Group on 17 November 2020.

Details of the Reorganisation are set out in section headed “History,
Development and Reorganisation” in the Prospectus. The Shares
were listed on the Stock Exchange on 10 October 2022 (the “Listing
Date”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding while
its operating subsidiaries are principally engaged in provision of
wet trades works in Hong Kong. There were no significant changes
to the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 31 March
2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, revenue contributed by
the largest and the top five customers of the Group accounted
for approximately 23.8% (2022: approximately 34.4%) and
approximately 71.5% (2022: approximately 78.7%) of the Group's
total revenue, respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s cost of
services from the largest and the top five suppliers accounted for
approximately 5.3% (2022: approximately 6.2%) and approximately
19.4% (2022: approximately 19.7%) of the Group's total cost of
services, respectively.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, save as disclosed
under Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements and the
section headed “Connected and Related Party Transactions” in this
report, none of the Directors, their respective close associates or
any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company), had any interest in any of the Group’s top five customers
or suppliers.
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EMPLOYEES

The Group maintained a good relationship with its employees.
The Group has not experienced any significant problems with
its employees or any disruption to the operations due to labour
disputes nor have the Group experienced any material difficulties
in the recruitment and retention of experienced core staff or skilled
personnel during the Track Record Period. There has not been any
trade union set up for the Group’s employees.

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS
AND EMPLOYEES
Customers

The Group has maintained good relationships with its major
customers. The Group values the relationships with its customers as
it believes that maintaining good relationships with them is crucial
to the success of the business. The long-term working relationship
can help the Group to understand the demands of its customers in a
timely manner and also increase its visibility in the wet trades works
industry in Hong Kong. The Directors consider that maintaining
good relationships with its customers would increase the chance of
being invited to tender or quote for the forthcoming projects, which
is conducive to securing a steady stream of projects for the Group.
The Group strives to monitor manpower, machinery and material
distribution in all projects in response to the customers’ demands.

Suppliers and subcontractors

The Group has established stable business relationships with its
suppliers and subcontractors which is essential to the smooth
operation of the Group’s business, as the Directors consider that
timely delivery of materials and provision of labour assistance can
enable the Group to meet the schedules of its customers. The Group
has also maintained a list of approved suppliers and subcontractors
which is periodically reviewed and updated based on the internal
assessment of their performance, to ensure that all works performed
by the suppliers and subcontractors satisfy the requirements of the
relevant contract.

Employees

The Group maintains a cooperative and good relationship with its
management and employees in providing competitive remuneration,
staff welfare and benefits. In general, the Group reviews and
determines the remuneration packages of its employees on a
periodical basis by reference to, among other things, the market
level of salaries paid by comparable companies, the respective
responsibilities of its employees and the performance of the
employees and the Group.
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RESULTS/BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group as well as discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the
material factors underlying its financial performance and financial
position are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” set out on pages 7 to 14 of this annual report. This
discussion forms an integral part of this report.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

The future development of the Group’s business is set out in the
section headed “Chairman’s Statement — Prospects” set out on
pages 5 to 6 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, as far as the Directors are
aware, the Company did not have any non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that is material or systemic in nature.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

As a contractor specialising in wet trades works, the Group values
environmental sustainability and has been striving to integrate the
concept into every part of the daily business operations. The Board
has overall responsibility for the Group’s environmental, social and
governance strategy and reporting. The Board is responsible for
the Group’s ESG risk management and internal control systems to
ensure that the ESG strategies and reporting requirements are met.
Discussion on the Group's environmental policies and performances
are set out on pages 58 to 108 in the section headed “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” in this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in Note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 120 and Note
26 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company had distributable reserves of
approximately HK$82.2 million (2022: nil) calculated in accordance
with the Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment reporting are set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy which aims to set out
the principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply
in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its profits,
realised or unrealised, or from any reserve set aside from profits, as
dividends to the shareholders of the Company. The Board adopted
the dividend policy that, in recommending or declaring dividends,
the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting
its working capital requirements and future growth as well as its
shareholder value.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Board has the discretion to declare and
distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company, subject to
the provisions of the Articles of Association and all applicable laws
and regulations and the factors set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the factors of the Group
when considering the declaration and payment of dividends such
as operations, earnings, financial condition, cash requirements and
availability, capital expenditure, future development requirements,
business conditions and strategies, interests of shareholders, any
restrictions on payment of dividends, and any other factors that the
Board may consider relevant.

Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the
Group and the conditions and factors as set out above, dividends
may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for a financial year
or period as interim dividend, final dividend, special dividend, and
any distribution of profits that the Board may deem appropriate. The
Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or
by other means that the Board considers appropriate. Any dividend
unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: nil).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are set out on
pages 7 to 14 in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme (as defined below) the Company
did not enter into any equity-linked agreement from the Listing Date
up to date of this report or subsisted at the end of the year ended
31 March 2023.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in plant and equipment of the Group during
the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 20 to 38 in this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company from the Listing Date and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Wing Ping

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Huang Hong
Mr. Yu Chi Wing
Dr. Lo Ki Chiu
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In accordance with Articles 108 and 112 of the Articles of
Association, all the Directors will retire by rotation and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The Company has received annual confirmations
of independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors required Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Upon the
recommendation of the nomination committee of the Company,
the Board considered all independent non-executive Directors to
be independent. Biographical information of the Directors and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 15 to 19 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the executive Director has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date. The term of service shall be
renewed and extended automatically by three years on the expiry of
such initial term and on the expiry of every successive period of three
years thereafter, unless terminated by either party thereto giving at
least three months’ written notice of non-renewal before the expiry
of the then existing term.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company for an initial fixed term of one
year commencing from the Listing Date. The term of service shall be
renewed and extended automatically by one year on the expiry of
such initial term and on the expiry of every successive period of one
year thereafter, unless terminated by either party thereto giving at
least one month’s written notice of non-renewal before the expiry of
the then existing term.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has any service agreement or appointment letter
with any member of the Group which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without the payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director or other
officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them, their or any of their executors or administrators, shall or may
incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their
respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or
sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme"”) pursuant to the written resolutions of
the then sole Shareholder passed on 13 September 2022.

No awards or options had been granted, agreed to be granted,
exercised, cancelled, forfeited or lapsed under the Share Option
Scheme since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report.

Summary of terms of the Share Option Scheme

(a)

(b)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Group to grant options to the eligible participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable
the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group or any
entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interest (the “Invested Entity”). As at the Latest Practicable
Date, there was no “Invested Entity” other than members of
the Group, and the Group had not identified any potential
“Invested Entity” for investment.

Who may join

The Directors shall, in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, be entitled but
shall not be bound at any time within a period of 10 years
commencing from the date of the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme to make an offer to any of the following
classes:

(i) any employee (whether full time or part time, including
the Directors (including any independent non-executive
Director)) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries (within
the meaning of the Companies Ordinance) or any Invested
Entity (an “eligible employee”);

(i) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(iii) any customer of any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity;

(iv) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(v) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
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(vi) any adviser (professional or otherwise), consultant,
individual or entity who in the opinion of the Directors
has contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group; and

(vii) any other group or class of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group;

and, for the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, the offer for
the grant of an option may be made to any company wholly
owned by one or more eligible participants.

For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any option by the
Company for the subscription of Shares or other securities of
the Group to any person who falls within any of the above
classes of eligible participants shall not, by itself, unless the
Directors otherwise determine, be construed as a grant of
option under the Share Option Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the eligible participants to an offer
under the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the
Directors from time to time on the basis of the Directors’
opinion as to such eligible participant’s contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares

(i)  The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme adopted by the Company shall
not exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in
issue from time to time.

(i)  The total number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options (excluding, for this
purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Company) to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of Shares (assuming the
Over-allotment Option and the options granted under
the Share Option Scheme are not exercised) in issue at
the time dealings in the Shares first commence on the
Stock Exchange, being 100,000,000 Shares (the “General
Scheme Limit").

(©
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(iii)  Subject to sub-paragraph (i) above and without prejudice
to sub-paragraph (iv) below, the Company may seek
approval of the Shareholders in a general meeting of the
Company to refresh the General Scheme Limit provided
that the total number of Shares which may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company shall not exceed 10% of
the Shares in issue (assuming the Over-allotment Option
and the options granted under the Share Option Scheme
are not exercised) as at the date of the approval of the
limit and for the purpose of calculating the limit, options
(including options outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or
exercised in accordance with the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group)
previously granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Company will not
be counted.

(iv) Subject to sub-paragraph (i) above and without prejudice
to sub-paragraph (iii) above, the Company may seek
separate Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting to
grant options under the Share Option Scheme beyond
the General Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the extended
limit referred to in sub-paragraph (iii) above to eligible
participants identified by the Company before such
approval is sought.

(d) Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

Subject to paragraph (e) below, the total number of Shares
issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of any
option which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Company (including
both exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being. Where any further
grant of options to a grantee under the Share Option Scheme
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and proposed to be granted to
such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such further grant representing in
aggregate over 1% of our Shares in issue, such further grant
must be separately approved by the Shareholders in a general
meeting of the Company with such grantee and his close
associates (or his associates if the participant is a connected
person) abstaining from voting.
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(e) Option period

The period during which a share option may be exercised will
be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that
no share option may be exercised more than 10 years after it
has been granted under the Share Option Scheme.

(7

(9)
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Vesting period

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the
offer to a grantee, a grantee is not required to hold an option
for any minimum period nor achieve any performance targets
before the exercise of an option granted to him.

Grant of options to core connected persons

@)

Without prejudice to sub-paragraph (ii) below, the
making of an offer under the Share Option Scheme to any
Director, chief executive of the Company or Substantial
Shareholder or any of their respective associates must be
approved by the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is
the grantee of an option under the Share Option Scheme).

Without prejudice to sub-paragraph (i) above, where any
grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to a
Substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director or any of their respective associates, would result
in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options under the Share Option Scheme already granted
and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares
in issue; and

(2) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the Shares on the offer date of each grant,
in excess of HK$5 million;

such further grant of options must be approved by the
Shareholders in a general meeting. The grantee, his
associates and all core connected persons of the Company
must abstain from voting in favour at such general
meeting.
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For the purpose of seeking the approval from the Shareholders
under paragraphs (c), (d) and (e) above, our Company must
send a circular to the Shareholders containing the information
required under the Listing Rules and where the Listing Rules
shall so require, the vote at the Shareholders’ meeting
convened to obtain the requisite approval shall be taken on
a poll with those persons required under the Listing Rules
abstaining from voting.

(h) Payment on acceptance of the option

Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to
submit to the Company a duly signed offer letter within 7 days
from the offer date together with a payment in favour of the
Company of HK$1.00 per option as the consideration of the
grant.

(i) Basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such
price as determined by the Board, and shall be at least the
highest of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date (the “Offer
Date”), which must be a business day, on which the
Board passes a resolution approving the making of an
offer of grant of an option to a Participant;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five

business days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and

(c) the nominal value of a Share on the Offer Date.

(j) Remaining life

Subject to any prior termination by the Company in a general
meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on
the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme, after which
period no further options shall be granted. All options granted
and accepted and remaining unexercised immediately prior
to the expiry of the Share Option Scheme shall continue to
be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme. Since the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme, no option has been granted under the Share Option
Scheme. Therefore, no option was exercised or cancelled or has
lapsed from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report
and there was no outstanding option as at the date of this
annual report.

(h)

(@)

1
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RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group joins mandatory provident fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme in
Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

No forfeited contributions (by the Group on behalf of employees
who leave the defined contribution plans prior to vesting fully in
such contributions) can be used by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contributions.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions made by the Group
amounted to approximately HK$1.3 million (2022: approximately
HK$1.3 million) during the year ended 31 March 2023. Save as
the aforesaid, the Group did not participate in any other pension
schemes during the year ended 31 March 2023.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group during the years ended 31 March 2023 and
31 March 2022 are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as auditor of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2023. A resolution will be submitted to
the 2023 AGM to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of
the Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There have been no material events from the end of the reporting
period to the date of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

No purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities
was made by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the
period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Company’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or a connected
entity of a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at 31 March 2023 or at any time during the year
ended 31 March 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

(a) Long positions in the Shares

EERRSTHRAERAQARHA
MESEER KRG - HERORER
HPEANERERAR

M2023F3A318 » EERARAESTHRAE
AR R SERE EE (T&ERFES KIS KM
FEXVER)BRRG - HERG RERFTHEIRE
FBHMEEIEDIEXVEETRESH HBERKE A
GARA RN AR (BEREES
REREGROIB BIE SO EE SR IE AN ER
MAR) » HREES M E K FE3521EEE
RRRZIEFTIER B M ANERS AR - SRE
AT R A AN AN A 7] M B A2 P A 25 ROk B
T

(a) RERGIHHFR

Number of Shares Percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest interested interest
BEERN
EEpnA B REntE R EE BB
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum (Note) Interest in controlled corporation/ 750,000,000 75%
interest held jointly with others
BRAB AR ST A (B EE) R EE R A AT
HRF AR
Mr. Chan Wing Ping (Note) Interest in controlled corporation/ 750,000,000 75%

interest held jointly with others

BROKF S A (BYRE)
e ESEER L

Note: Evolve Billion Limited is beneficially owned as to 80% by
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum and 20% by Mr. Chan Wing Ping. On 5
November 2020, Mr. Chan Kiu Sum and Mr. Chan Wing Ping
entered into an acting in concert confirmation to acknowledge
and confirm, among other things, that they are parties acting
in concert within the meaning of the Code on Takeovers and
Mergers. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chan Kiu Sum and Mr. Chan
Wing Ping are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Evolve Billion Limited.
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(b) Long position in the shares of associated

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEMRE

(b) REESEBRGNEFR

corporations
Number of
Name of associated Capacity/Nature of Shares held Percentage of
Name of Director corporation interest interested interest
BEEREEN
EEpE HEEE B8 B4 EntE FrERHEE BB
Mr. Chan Kiu Sum  Evolve Billion Limited Beneficial owner 80 80%
BRI EE ERARAT BEmEEA
Mr. Chan Wing Ping Evolve Billion Limited Beneficial owner 20 20%

BRACF S ERARAA BEHEAA
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
register referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
of the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF

THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2023, the following persons had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and entered in the register

maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO

were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares

FERRRAQTRSG - HERS
REERNEZIAR

M2023F3A318 - THALTRERRRD KA
RO THEEEREEFLAE ﬂﬂﬁIJ%xwﬁ%z
MEIDHNERAT KB RFTW B RN AR
*E%EM%&H iﬂlﬂﬁu%336fm‘ﬁzmaﬂﬁ2ﬁé
WEORBIATR ¢

RBRGBZHR

Number of Shares Percentage of

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest held interested interest
BEERDN

REREME A B RemitE RGO # A EENBE I

Evolve Billion Limited Beneficial owner 750,000,000 75%

HERARAR BEEEBA

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum Interest in controlled corporation/ 750,000,000 75%
interest held jointly with others

BREEFR T4 THEEREREEMAL
/\H?ﬂ'ﬁ E’]*&

Ms. Tsang Chiu Ching (Note 1) Interest of spouse of Mr. Chan Kiu 750,000,000 75%
Sum

B gLt (ME) PRIBAREE BB 2 s

Mr. Chan Wing Ping Interest in controlled corporation/ 750,000,000 75%
interest held jointly with others

BRACF S SHEE R EEMA L
Aﬂ%ﬁm&m

Ms. Chan Pong Hing (Note 2) Interest of spouse of Mr. Chan Wing 750,000,000 75%

PR 5 B Ac 4 (K FE2)

Notes:

Ping
0 e A =

GEX

1. Ms. Tsang Chiu Ching is the spouse of Mr. Chan Kiu Sum. Under the 1.
SFO, Ms. Tsang Chiu Ching is deemed to be interested in the same
number of Shares in which Mr. Chan Kiu Sum is interested.

2. Ms. Chan Pong Hing is the spouse of Mr. Chan Wing Ping. Under 2.
the SFO, Ms. Chan Pong Hing is deemed to be interested in the same
number of Shares in which Mr. Chan Wing Ping is interested.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Company had not
been notified by any persons who had interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract, other than a contract of service with any Director or
any person in the full-time employment of the Company, concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date
of this report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any body corporate.

COMPETING INTERESTS

Mr. Chan Kiu Sum, Mr. Chan Wing Ping and Evolve Billion Limited
(collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) had entered into
the deed of non-competition in favour of the Company on 18
September 2022 (the “Non-competition Undertaking”). Each of
the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed that he/it had complied
with the Non-Competition Undertaking during the period from
the Listing Date to the date of this annual report. The independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed that state of compliance of
each of the Controlling Shareholders with the Non-competition
Undertaking and as far as the independent non-executive Directors
can ascertain, there has been no breach of the undertakings given in
the Non-competition Undertaking by the Controlling Shareholders
during the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual
report.

The Directors further confirmed that none of the Directors and
their respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) is
interested in any business apart from the business operated by the
Group which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly,
with the Group’s business from the Listing Date to the date of this
annual report.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as otherwise disclosed, no contract of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which the
Controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year ended 31 March 2023.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group had not entered
into any connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
during the year ended 31 March 2023 which is required to be
disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, save as disclosed under
Note 25 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, there was no
other related party transaction during the year ended 31 March
2023.

COMPLIANCE ADVISER'S INTERESTS

As notified by the Company’s compliance adviser, Grande Capital
Limited (the “Compliance Adviser”), as at 31 March 2023, the
Compliance Adviser nor its directors, employees or close associates
had any interests in relation to the Company, which is required to be
notified to the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public during
the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules and
the code provisions D.3.3 and D.3.7 of part 2 of the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among others, to make
recommendations to Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of external auditor, review the financial statements and
material advice in respect of financial reporting, oversee the financial
reporting process, internal control, risk management systems
and audit process of the Company and perform other duties and
responsibilities assigned by the Board.

The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Yu Chi Wing, Dr. Huang Hong

and Dr. Lo Ki Chiu, all being independent non-executive Directors.
Mr. Yu Chi Wing is the chairperson of the Audit Committee.
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The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s annual results
for the year ended 31 March 2023 and confirmed that they were
prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and
the Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.

PUBLICATION OF ANNUAL RESULTS AND
ANNUAL REPORT

The annual results announcement and the annual report are
published on the Company’s website at www.chankiu.hk and
the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk. The annual
report of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023 will be
despatched to its shareholders and will also be published on the
websites of both the Stock Exchange and the Company in due
course in the manner as required by the Listing Rules.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming Annual General Meeting (2023 AGM") of the
Company will be held on 18 August 2023 and the notice and
circular of the 2023 AGM will be published and despatched to the
Shareholders in the manner as required by the Listing Rules in due
course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To ascertain the identity of the Shareholders who will be entitled to
attend and vote at the 2023 AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 15 August 2023 to Friday,
18 August 2023, both dates inclusive, the period during which no
transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the 2023 AGM, all completed share transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Boardroom
Share Registrars (HK) Limited, at 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road,
North Point, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 14 August 2023.

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to express its sincere gratitude to the
management of the Group and all the staff for their hard work and
dedication, as well as its shareholders, business associates and other
professional parties for their support throughout the period.

On behalf of the Board
Chan Kiu Sum
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2023
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RIR - HERERWE

OUR MESSAGE

GC Construction Holdings Limited is deeply devoted to ensuring that
our company operates in a sustainable and responsible manner, and
we place great importance on environmental, social, and governance
("ESG") considerations for ensuring our long-term prosperity. We
firmly believe that by integrating ESG factors into our decision-
making processes, we can generate value for all our stakeholders,
including shareholders, customers, employees, and the communities
in which we operate.

In recognition of climate change as one of the most pressing
challenges facing our planet today, we have set high targets, both
short-term and long-term, to reduce our greenhouse gas (“GHG")
emissions and are actively working towards transitioning to a low-
carbon economy. We vow to seize every opportunity to reduce
emissions across our entire value chain, as we remain committed to
addressing this issue.

Our commitment to ESG issues stems from our recognition of our
responsibilities to evaluate and determine ESG-related risks for the
Group, as well as to ensure the establishment of effective ESG risk
management and internal control systems. We acknowledge the
importance of diversity, equity, and inclusion in our workplace and
in society, and are committed to fostering an inclusive and respectful
culture that values the unique perspectives and contributions of all.

We regard ethical business practices as essential to our long-
term success and uphold the highest standards of integrity and
accountability in all our operations. We operate in compliance
with all applicable laws and regulations and have established a
comprehensive set of code of conduct that promotes transparency
and accountability in all our business practices.

While we take pride in the progress we have made, we recognise
that there is still much work to be done. We remain committed to
continuous improvement and to ensuring that our ESG performance
meets the highest standards, so that the Group may continue to
lead the industry as a responsible corporate citizen. We will continue
to collaborate with our stakeholders on ESG issues and to work
together to create a more sustainable and responsible future for all.

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e

RS

GC Construction Holdings Limited & ¥ 20 1 7A HE
RARFIEHANAIFERAEENATALE -
RERABRAEERETE - HMTHERRE
g kega(lBE HBRERDFTENEEA
- RBMRGE BRKRE HgkBERAER
MAKEKBEE - RMPTARAIERMNE (BRER
RBP EEUARBEMKEMENLE)EIE
BfE -

ZFBA A RIRE (R E 5 i B g pY Al YT PEEK
Z— Bt BARET R FRESREHE
% BRRERERE(NRERE DR - 85
HEENEAREEEY - HIPROBORRIRE(CRHE - 2
A - BPIeHEEs AR ERIARR]E
EEEENHFRE -

BFIZFAERERE - 4G REAZEMNR
L REABARRBA RS BRIIBAEEEFER
BEEEARKERE - g MNEARMNER - A
KRR PIRESE L B RMNIRE - HE MEaME
BEERABIEN RS - WAR/RBLAFA
IE- ZRHBNITESAILERETOEE
REBNIEEEAREENLE - BRMAE AR
BEBRMLAR -

BMRBERNAETRERMNRERDNER
BE  WEMBEBEETRARSRENHE
MEES - B2 EXBRSETHAERNZE
AR XEHIFT—E2ENTTRTH - R
BEBRENFEHR  KXHE -

HARRME S BUERENERRI A% - B
F7RAR - ARREBERANESZER - Fit - &
PUDAB N S RIFESE - BRBEFINRIE - 44
gREARRBAEIZSKT  EAKERSEE
EHRERR - SIBTERR - HAIEEER
NEAERIERE  HENEREE  REAR
—HEEE—EENAFEER BB ENRKE

2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT
GC Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company” together with

its subsidiaries, hereinafter referred to as the “Group”, “we" or
“us") are delighted to share our first Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “Report”) that outlines our achievements
and advancements in significant ESG aspects. In compliance with
Rule 13.91 of the Listing Rules (the “Listing Rules”) and Appendix
27 to the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), this report encompasses a broad
spectrum of topics, such as our initiatives towards mitigating carbon
emissions, our pledge towards fostering diversity and inclusivity, and
our strategy for maintaining ethical business practices.

Reporting Period

This report outlines the performance and approach of GC
Construction Holdings Limited (defined below) during the period
spanning from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023. (the “Reporting
Period” or “2022/2023")

Reporting Scope and Boundary

The Report reveals the relevant policies and efforts concerning
the Group’s core and significant operations, which are wet trades
works including plastering, tile laying, brick laying, floor screeding
and marble works in both public sector projects and private sector
projects in Hong Kong.

The Report presents the environmental and social key performance
indicators (“KPIs") for both the Group. The Group strives to
enhance its internal data collection process to continuously provide
a comprehensive overview of our performance. Unless explicitly
stated, the environmental, social, and governance data in this
report pertains to GC Construction Holdings Limited and its primary
subsidiaries. The following chart sets forth our Group’s corporate
structure as of 31 March 2023:

Wai Wai Prestige

Company Limited (BVI)

HEARAE
(REEL#E)

GC Construction Holdings

Limited (Cayman)

GC Construction Holdings

Limited (F2#E5)
Ying Ying Company
Limited (BVI)
BBRARQA

(RBELEHS)
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Reporting Basis and Principles

The Report is constructed based on the guidelines outlined in the
ESG Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide") set out in Appendix 27 to
the Listing Rules as well as the four reporting principles — materiality,
quantitative, balance and consistency:

Materiality: The Group identifies significant ESG matters through
stakeholder engagement and materiality assessments.

Quantitative: The Group discloses information on the standards,
methodologies, assumptions, and calculation tools utilised, as well as
the source of conversion factors employed for reporting emissions/
energy consumption (where relevant).

Balance: The Report identifies both achievements and challenges
faced by the Group.

Consistency: The Report uses consistent methodologies for
meaningful comparisons unless improvements in methodology are
identified.

The Report has fulfilled all “comply or explain” requirements and
mandatory disclosures outlined in the ESG Guide.

The contents of this report are derived from internal documents and
statistics of the Group, as well as the management and operational
information provided by its subsidiaries, in accordance with the
Group’s internal management systems. A comprehensive index
of the report’s contents is included in the final section for easy
reference. The report is available in both Chinese and English on the
Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s
website (www.chankiu.hk). If there is any conflict or inconsistency
between the Chinese and English versions, the English version will
take precedence.

Review and Approval

The Board accepts its obligation to ensure the ESG Report’s precision
and thoroughness, and to the best of their understanding, the
ESG Report has tackled all significant material concerns and has
presented a just portrayal of the Group’s ESG performance for
2022/2023. The Report underwent examination and endorsement
by the board of directors (the “Board”) on 27 June 2023.

Feedback

If you have any feedback or recommendations regarding the
ESG Report, please do not hesitate to contact the Group at
info@chankiu.hk.
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COMPANY PROFILE

Established in 2005, GC Construction Holdings Limited has been
providing exceptional wet trades works as a subcontractor, through
our two principal operating subsidiaries, Chan Kiu Construction
Decoration Engineering Limited and Ying Wai (Chan Kiu)
Construction Engineering Company Limited. The wet trades works
undertaken by us typically involve various trades of works, details of
which are set out as follows:

—  Plastering works which generally refer to applying plaster
evenly on the surfaces of floors, walls and ceilings manually or
with the use of our plaster spray machine.

—  Tile laying works which generally refer to cutting and laying
tiles on the surface of floors and walls.

—  Brick laying works which generally refer to laying brick blocks
in uniform layers.

—  Floor screeding works which generally refer to applying a well-
blended mixture of cement with graded aggregates and water
to a floor base.

—  Marble works which generally refer to cutting and laying
marble tiles on the surfaces of floors, window sills and walls.

Our unwavering commitment to excellence in execution has earned
us a high ranking in the Hong Kong wet trades works subcontracting
market. Our primary engagements were in the private sector,
encompassing private residential and commercial developments,
with property developers as the project owners and main contractors
as our customers. Our forte in the sector has resulted in us being the
preferred choice of Government departments and statutory bodies
for public sector projects, covering public residential developments,
infrastructure, and public facilities developments.

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is dedicated in its commitment to upholding the Group'’s
environmental and social obligations while overseeing the Group's
ESG strategy and reporting. The Board shoulders the responsibility
of evaluating and determining the Group's ESG-related risks,
ensuring the establishment of appropriate and effective ESG risk
management and internal control systems through providing
practical recommendations.
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For the day-to-day implementation, the Board places great
importance on facilitating the adoption of ESG strategies and
policies throughout the organisation. The Board also performs
regular meetings to discuss the implementation of ESG initiatives and
corresponding performance to keep abreast of all developments.

As part of its oversight role, the Board conducts regular reviews
of the Group’s ESG performance, examining and approving the
Group's annual ESG report, which serves as proof of the Group's
strong commitment to ESG issues. The Board’'s commitment to
ESG issues reflects its firm belief in the importance of corporate
social responsibility and its unwavering commitment to creating a
sustainable and responsible future.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Continual engagement and transparent communication with key
stakeholder groups are integral to crafting a business strategy
that aligns with their needs and expectations, thereby enhancing
the ability to identify risks and fostering strong and collaborative
relationships. The Group regards stakeholder opinions as the
bedrock for sustainable development and success, recognising
that their priorities and perceptions enable us to make informed
decisions and manage material ESG considerations. To facilitate
effective stakeholder engagement, the Group communicates with
its stakeholders via various channels, including but not limited to the
following:

Stakeholder Key Expectations
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Communication Channel

0 E FTEHE BERE
Government and regulators e Compliance with national laws and e  Regular announcements and other
regulations public information
e Promote local employment e Examinations and inspections
e Timely payment of taxes
e Ensure production safety
BT & B e o EBTBFOEINESR s TFHREREMAHER
o {REEMBE o FHMERME
o ERRM
o WBREEZZR
Shareholders and investors e Profits e General meetings
e Compliant operation e Financial reports, ESG reports,
e Increase company value announcements and other public
e Transparency in information and information
effective communication ° Email, telephone communication
e Company website
R RIREE o & e REARE

. A
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. EHERERAWER
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Key Expectations
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Communication Channel

BRERE

Suppliers/Sub-contractors/

Business partners

HIER, DR,/ EBBH

Customers

P

Environment

3

Community or
non-governmental

organisations (NGOs)
[ Sk FEER AT AR 45

Industry
7%

Employees

7l
il

Operate with integrity

Fair competition
Performance of contracts
Mutual benefit and win-win
outcomes

IR

AFHE

B#)

BFIHR

Health and safety

Timely performance of contracts
Operate with integrity
(SRS

RS EL)

SRS

Energy saving and emission reduction

RETR T

Improve community environment
Participation in charity
Transparent information
HEMRIRIR

/////

aHERE

Transparency and accuracy in
information

BERE RN

Promote industry growth and
advancement

RETHRERNES

Occupational health and safety
Remunerations and benefits
Career development

Social welfare

BERERETE

e ISR

BEERE

Zan=gi=v
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Review and appraisal meetings
Business communications

BENFHAEE
ESvsiEl

Customer service center and hotlines
Customer communication meetings
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Reporting

Investigations and inspections
wE

AERBE

Participation in community events
ESG Reports

//\Zilfzu/éﬁ
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Enquiry mailbox

EREE

Participate in industry forums
DERITHEWR

Employee communication meetings
Training and workshop

Employee activity

Surveys
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group conducts internal and external materiality assessments to
identify relevant issues for disclosure in the Report. By considering
the impact and influence of stakeholders, alongside the available
resources for the Group, the management pinpointed and invited
key stakeholders to participate in a survey that seeks their input and
recommendations on ESG-related issues pertaining to the Group's
operations.

The materiality assessment conducted in 2023 yielded a refined set
of 10 material topics, derived from a list of 21 potentially relevant
issues. The Group has constructed a materiality matrix as depicted
below. The materiality matrix highlights issues of significance from
the perspective of stakeholders and the Group’s businesses with
the issues falling within the quadrant in top-right holding greater
significance. Based on the materiality assessment outcomes, we have
identified the following sustainability issues as the most pertinent:

The Group will continue to improve its reporting process when
there are relevant updates on methodologies of processing data and
disclosures in future.
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Environmental
governance
and compliance

RAEARER

Production safety

£ERE

Environmental
technology and
clean energy

RABBRRERRER

Energy and
resources management

RERRERERE

Discharge of pollutants

BESRY

Response to climate
change and low-carbon
development
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Waste disposal and
composite utilization

BEVEERGATIA

Drive for employment
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Materiality Matrix
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Materiality to Group’s Development
HAEEBERNEEN
1 Management efficiency, 8  Discharge of pollutants 15  Product and service quality
operational results and BESAY management
corporate value EmkRFEEERER
BN SEXBENRDERER
2 Anti-corruption and risk 9  Waste disposal and composite 16  Rights, interests and satisfaction
management utilisation of customer
k&5 RERER REEYRE KRima N A BREEN - ERREE
3 Safeguarding the rights and 10  Response to climate change and 17  Supply chain management
interests of shareholders and low-carbon development HpEgEER
investors JE 8 SR B R AR AR R
TREEARER ] 1 & & BRI Ko i o
4 Deepening reform and high- 11 Compensation and benefits of 18  Facilitation of fair competition
quality development employees RN FFRESF
RERERGEEER BERFE LB
5  Environmental governance and 12 Development and training of 19  Production safety
compliance employees EERE
RIEERREH EEBEKEI
6  Energy and resources 13 Occupational health of 20  Drive for employment
management employees S
SRR ERER BB REE
7  Environmental technology and 14 Rights and interests of 21 Community investment and

clean energy

RIFRE B RRER

employees and care for
employees
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engagement
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS
Environmental Management

The Group strives to incorporate a culture of environmental
responsibility and sustainable practices into our operations. To
achieve this, the Group's subsidiaries have adopted environmental
management systems which are in conformity with the requirements
of I1SO 14001:2015 standards.

The Group’s environmental management system encompasses
a range of measures and protocols to guarantee adherence
to environmental protection regulations. Our employees and
subcontractors are obligated to adhere to these procedures. The
environmental management system we have in place is extensive,
covering every aspect of our operations, from raw material
procurement to waste disposal. For instance, our environmental
management system may include measures such as waste reduction,
energy conservation, and pollution prevention, while work
procedures may include guidelines on the proper handling and
disposal of hazardous materials, minimising emissions from vehicles
and equipment, and conserving resources like water and energy.

Our primary objective in implementing these measures and
procedures is to limit our environmental impact and ensure that we
operate in a sustainable manner. Compliance with these protocols
is mandatory for all employees and subcontractors, and we regularly
monitor and audit our activities to ensure that we are achieving our
environmental goals.

Emissions Target and Objectives
Short-term
The environmental targets below are set for the existing projects:

Our objective is to adhere to all legislation pertaining to air quality,
noise, water quality, and waste management, ensuring 100%
compliance. Additionally, we aim to prevent any breach of the limits
for air, noise, and water, and to avoid receiving any complaints
during the contract period. To accomplish these goals, we will
ensure that all waste is sorted with the concept of reusing and
recycling. By implementing these measures, we strive to promote
responsible waste management and minimise environmental impact.
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Long-term

Our objectives are to enhance compliance with legislation related to
air quality, noise, water quality, and waste management. We aim
to achieve this by controlling the noise generated by our operations
and minimising waste generation during the construction phase.
Additionally, we seek to minimise the amount of waste that is sent
to disposal grounds.

The Group has established emission reduction targets to ensure a
sustainable future. These targets have been set in comparison to
the 2022/2023 baseline year, and we aim to attain the following
objectives by 2027/2028:

—  Decrease air emission by 3%;

Decrease energy consumption by 3%;
—  Decrease water consumption by 3%; and
—  Decrease waste disposal by 3%.

Emissions

The Group is bound by specific environmental regulations under
Hong Kong laws, including the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap.
311), Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400), Water Pollution Control
Ordinance ("WPCO") (Cap. 358), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.
354), Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance (Cap. 132) and
other relevant environmental ordinances and regulations.

The Group ensures its compliance with relevant laws and regulations
through measures described in the following sections.
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Air Pollutant Emissions

Air pollutant emissions were produced from various sources,
including but not limited to forklifts onsite, vehicles and dust from
the construction activities.

The total air pollutant emissions were 2.22 kg in 2022/2023 The
table below sets forth the breakdown of air pollutants by category
and premise:

ZERTRY L
ZERSAMBMELAZERIR - BFRETER
THIRGHNE  TEUNETEREENRK
E o

20222023 F =R SR BEMBEE B2.22F
7 oo NEREGIIEEER RIGHE 5 = RIS YA
am

2022/2023 2021/2022

2022/2023% 2021/20224F

Air Pollutant Emissions’ kg kg

RS RN F= T

Total NO, RALHEE 2.02 2.71

Total Sulphur Oxides (SO) meltmps 0.05 0.06

Total PM TN YR E 0.15 0.20

Total wast 2.22 2.97
GHG Emissions BEREHH

As a wet trades works contractor, the main source of exhaust gas
emissions for our operations is from our motor vehicles. Although
our executive directors believe that the emissions generated by our
forklifts are relatively minor, our Group is still committed to reducing
exhaust gas emissions as much as possible.

! The data covers emissions from petrol consumption only. It is estimated
based on “How to prepare an ESG Report? Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong.
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During the Reporting Period, majority of our GHG emissions came AR & I - FRMIAIB R E R BRI ZR B
from three categories: Scope 1 emissions, which were generated by ~ N={EER : &E—HFH - BURERRE T MFTE
the combustion of petrol by our motor vehicles; Scope 2 emissions, A RIBEMR : BE B > IR AZ=REAE R
which were created by the consumption of electricity in our office  EEAHIBER : A NEIE =M - BNFERKRFTE
and Scope 3 emissions, which were created by the consumption — AEVHERK o X EE7E & 1BF2 {5 8950 K2 3
of paper. The diesel utilised for forklift during operations and the £ Tith/E A FUE SRR R £ B AR AR E IR ME
construction waste we generated in construction sites were mainly ¥ - FEIlt - FFWEEZSBRBEIIEIZEARAN
provided and handled by the main contractors therefore we have no 8% o TR IR HE BEBRZE RE T A
record of those KPIs. The table below provides a breakdown of our — #f :

GHG emissions during the Reporting Period:

GHG Emissions?’

BERBHNR

2022/2023 2021/2022
2022/2023% 2021/20224
tonnes tonnes

CO,-equivalent CO -equivalent
M_E{HER W _RILREE

Total Scope 13 Emissions
Total Scope 24 Emissions
Total Scope 3° Emissions
Total Emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3)

Intensity (per million HK$ revenue)®

HE PESE 9.49 11.14
HE—HEE 6.23 6.10
HE= PE=E 3.59 3.70
Penhses

(8F— - —p=) 19.31 20.94
BE(Fas&BTlA)s 0.04 0.05

Breakdown of GHG Emissions

bt 295 CEEL

@® Scope 1 @ Scope 2 Scope 3
#E— #HE— #HE=

2 The calculation of GHG emissions is made reference to the Guidelines 2 BERBERNGFEN2ERBREERKET

to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals

BREBRMGE(EBREY (HE  EEXAHA

for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong BREREBFMRBROZENREES DR

Kong published by the Environmental Protection Department, and the

NEENERATDSKMEBNAHEERRES

Electrical and Mechanical Services Department, the latest sustainability
reports published by the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited.

Scope 1: The direct emissions from the business operations owned
or controlled by the Group, including the emission from the Group’s
vehicle fleet.

Scope 2: The “indirect energy” emissions from the internal purchased
electricity consumption by the Group.

Scope 3: All other indirect emissions that occur outside the Group,
including both upstream and downstream emissions.

The Group’s annual revenue is approximately HK$541.6 million in
2022/2023.

4 oo

3 HE- AREHEASEHNEBEEELNE
BN BRERAAEEEGHATN

¢ WE  AREFEMOINEE DR R
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6 7R2022/2023%F - AEBMEEWAL RS541.68
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For the Reporting Period, Scope 1 emissions accounted for
approximately 49% of the total GHG emissions, Scope 2 emissions
accounted for approximately 32% of the total GHG emissions and
Scope 3 emissions accounted for approximately 19% of the total
GHG emissions. The total GHG emissions and its intensity were
19.31 tonnes CO,-equivalent (tonnes CO,-e) and 0.04 tonnes CO,-e
per million HK$ revenue respectively.

To minimise the direct GHG emissions associated with our
operations, we have implemented several measures, including:

-  Reminding our employees to switch off idling engines when
our forklifts or motor vehicles are not in use;

-  Monitoring the fuel consumption of our forklifts and motor
vehicles and conducting regular maintenance and inspections
to ensure optimal performance; and

— Adhering to air pollution abatement guidelines as outlined
in our environmental management plan. These guidelines
encompass ensuring that the concentration and rates of air
pollutants comply with pertinent environmental protection
laws and regulations, conducting regular inspections to ensure
that our forklifts and motor vehicles’” GHG emissions fall do not
exceed the prescribed legal limits as well as prohibiting open
burning on project sites.

By implementing these measures, we aim to minimise our direct
GHG emissions and promote sustainable practices within our
operations.

Waste Management

According to our materiality assessment, waste disposal and
composite utilisation has been shown to be one of the key concerns
pertaining to environmental problems by our stakeholders. It is of
utmost importance for the Group to address to the needs of our
stakeholders and we will perpetually strive to adopt appropriate
waste reduction and recycling measures as well as being in
compliance with the Waste Disposal Ordinance.
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Hazardous Wastes

To the best knowledge of our executive directors and due to the
nature of our business, the Group did not generate a significant
amount of hazardous waste during our operations. However, we
have established guidelines to manage any hazardous substances or
chemicals that may be used in our operations.

For instance, we compile safety data sheets that detail the
composition and physical and chemical properties of any hazardous
materials we use, as well as instructions for their safe handling,
storage, use, and disposal. We also provide training and workshops
to our employees on the proper treatment of hazardous substances
and chemicals.

In the rare event that we do produce hazardous waste, a qualified
chemical waste collector will be appointed to handle and dispose
of such waste in compliance with relevant environmental laws and
regulations.
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Non-hazardous Wastes BEEEY
2022/2023 2021/2022
2022/2023% 2021/20224F
Waste kg kg
BEEY FR F=
Total non-hazardous wastes’ EEREYEST 748.44 771.83
Intensity (per million HK$ revenue) BE(BEBITBRA) 1.38 1.69

The non-hazardous waste that the Group generates are primarily
from paper consumption and domestic waste. For those papers
containing sensitive information of the Group, they will be properly
scattered before being treated as waste. Such wastes are collected
and processed by our office’s property management, therefore,
the relevant quantitative data is not available. And we have no
discharges into land except solid waste that delivers to landfills. Over
the Reporting Period, we generated approximately 748 kg of non-
hazardous waste.

7 It primarily includes office paper waste.
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To limit the environmental impact of our non-hazardous waste,
we have implemented several waste management measures and
launched various waste reduction initiatives. These measures include
providing recycling bins for various waste streams to encourage
recycling, promoting the use of electronic communication to reduce
paper consumption, placing a collection box for single-sided used
paper next to each printer to promote paper reuse, and encouraging
employees to use double-sided printing or photocopying whenever
possible. Moreover, on-site project teams are trained to study the
customer’s specifications very well to gauge the estimated number
of materials that will be used so as to prevent wastage.

Through these measures, we aim to reduce the amount of non-
hazardous waste generated by our business operations and promote
sustainable waste management practices.

Sewage Discharge

The Group’s operations have not resulted in any significant water
consumption, and thus we have not generated any substantial water
discharges during the Reporting Period. In compliance with the
Water Pollution Control Ordinance, any wastewater that is produced
at site is discharged into the municipal sewage pipeline network for
processing under the account of our main-contractors.

Noise

Given the nature of our business, we acknowledge that noise
generated on project sites can have negative environmental impacts.
To minimise any annoyance to the community and environment, we
have adopted specific noise pollution control policies on our project
sites.

The Group has taken practical steps to mitigate excessive noise
resulting from our operations. These measures include utilising
advanced construction and noise damping technology to minimise
noise levels. Furthermore, we investigate underlying causes and
make necessary adjustments to adhere to relevant regulations, such
as the Noise Control Ordinance, when noise levels exceed prescribed
levels. Additionally, we provide hearing protection devices for our
employees to minimise their exposure to excessive noise levels.
By implementing these measures, we aim to reduce the negative
impact of noise pollution resulting from our operations and ensure
the safety and well-being of our employees.

Energy Consumption

The Group’s primary sources of energy consumption include two
categories:

—  Consumption of petrol by motor vehicles

—  Electricity used in office
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The table below provides a detailed breakdown of our major sources
of energy consumption during the Reporting Period:

R - HEREGHRS

TRFMEI T RIS R E BTN
P4 -

2022/2023 2021/2022

2022/2023%  2021/2022%

Energy Consumption MWh MWh
BERFEH R B JKELBS
Direct Energy Consumption HERERE 34.59 40.58
Indirect Energy Consumption HEHEEE 15.96 15.64
Total Energy Consumption® BFERE = 50.55 56.22
Intensity (per million HK$ revenue)® BE(Ba&ETlkA)° 0.09 0.12

During the Reporting Period, the total energy consumption and its
intensity were 50.55 MWh and 0.10 MWh per million HK$ revenue
respectively.

In addition to the energy saving measures implemented for our
forklifts and motor vehicles, our Group has established energy
conservation management practices to minimise the waste of
energy. These include:

—  Encouraging e-office practices and measures that promote
energy conservation, such as turning off electronic appliances
when not in use;

—  Encouraging employees to set room temperatures within the
range of 23°C to 25°C;

—  Providing regular training and workshops to enhance
knowledge on energy-saving measures and awareness among
employees;

—  Fostering the use of energy-saving and efficient equipment and
attending to damages immediately once reported.

By adopting these energy conservation measures, we aim to
minimise our energy consumption and promote sustainable practices
within our business operations.

6 The Group’s annual revenue is approximately HK$541.6 million in
2022/2023.

8 It includes the direct energy consumption from the fuel uses of Group's
vehicles and indirect energy consumption from electricity, purchased
from the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited for the Group’s office use.
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Water Consumption

Our Group's primary water consumption occurs within our office,
and our water consumption expenses are included in the property
management fee. Therefore, the related consumption data is not
available. To ensure efficient use of water, we have implemented
measures to increase water efficiency. For example, we have placed
environmental signs with water-saving messages in prominent
locations within our office to promote water conservation. Through
these measures, we aim to promote sustainable water usage
practices and minimise our environmental impact.

Water is also recognised as a precious resource. During the
Reporting Period, we obtained water from the third party suppliers,
hence, we were not aware of any issue in sourcing water that is fit
for purpose.

As the Group’s operations do not involve any production process,
it does not consume packaging materials, this aspect is considered
irrelevant to the Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group’s primary objective is to minimise the negative impact
of business operations on the environment and natural resources.
To achieve this, the Group aims to implement best practices that
promote environmental protection and adaptation to climate
change. Additionally, the Group strives to cultivate an eco-conscious
culture that encourages positive lifestyle and habits among
employees.

In addition to our full compliance with the Waste Disposal
Ordinance, Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance, Water
Pollution Control Ordinance, Noise Control Ordinance, Air Pollution
Control (Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission) Regulation and Air
Pollution Control Ordinance, an environmental management system
in conformance with ISO 14001 international standard has also
been established. In general, works performed by our subcontractors
are inspected and monitored by our project management team to
ensure adherence with our environmental management system.
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The Group shows our commitment by identifying and planning for
effective responses to potential environmental impacts of related
business activities as follows:
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A EAB B AR B AR A S B
BERFHENTE  BRRMPUBROFAE
T

Environmental Impacts Activity Response
REXE EE [E] fE
Air and noise pollution e Machinery operations e Advanced technology for mitigation

. Construction works
- o LRI
o EETHE

Water contamination e Discharge of wastewater
UNEES o REREK

Depletion of natural resources e  Office operations

e Construction works
HIBRAEIR o WREEE

o BEETRE

For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group in relation to air and GHG emissions, noise
control, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Climate Change

The executive Directors of our Group are responsible for assessing
and handling significant ESG issues as well as climate-related risks
and opportunities. They will perform regular reviews to analyse issues
and risks that are relevant to the Group’s business development.
Our executive directors will also stay informed about the latest
government policies regarding climate change. To better understand
the risks and opportunities, the executive directors and senior
management will engage in discussions on the sustainability of the
wet trades works industry and low-carbon economy. The Board
will collaborate closely to identify future risks and opportunities
and take appropriate measures to adapt to the constantly changing
circumstances.

The Hong Kong Government has developed various plans and
initiatives in response to the Paris Agreement, including the issuance
of “Hong Kong's Climate Action Plan.” This plan outlines the vision
of achieving “Zero-carbon Emissions, Liveable City, Sustainable
Development” and includes specific actions to achieve this goal.
The Group intends to align with local government initiatives and
comply with the local emission reduction requirements. Our target
is to reduce GHG emissions by approximately 3% by the financial
year 2027/28, and we are committed to ensuring that Group’s GHG
emissions will meet the local requirements by 2030 at the latest.
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The Group has included climate change action in its business AEEBEERIEZ(LITEIMAHLEREFTE » Iab
strategy and integrated it into its governance and management A RMIHEALEREFEF - T2§$EELT$§"E<
processes. A table provided below outlines the four essential ERFRIEHBITEEERE TIFENES @ ©
elements of the Group’s response to the climate change disclosure  FEXHMEE(C B S TR T LONEEAEE -
obligations according to the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial

Disclosures recommendations.

Core element

The Group's response

BOER AEEHEE
Governance e Regular meeting on ESG topics
e Incorporating ESG matters, including those related to climate, into corporate
decision-making processes
EA o R HEKEARZBEARTHEH
o KRR HELEAFE(BRERFMERNER)MARRIRERE
Strategy e Understanding climate risks and recognising the risks and opportunities
associated with the transition to a low-carbon economy
SR o BRARRRME MR MR EE A E RARR BV R Nt B

Risk Management

e\ i 3

Metrics and Targets

EEEBER

e Reviewing ESG risk on regular basis

e Preparing for the transition to a low-carbon economy

e Establishing and implementing measures to manage physical climate risks
o EHRAERE  HeMEARER

. /&1ﬁﬂj3i1ﬁﬁmﬁ§,§§

s RUNEKEHBEETEERRAIKER

e Developing short-term, medium-term, and long-term goals for reducing GHG
emissions to achieve net-zero emissions

o HFIERREREHNEENE D REHABRE  UERFTHR
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After analysing the data provided by the Hong Kong Observatory,
we have identified several risks and opportunities that may have
material impact on our business growth:

Risks

[ B
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BAIAM T EBRAX BRENBIRZZ - BHIH
ZER e g H A MNEFIEREREATENR
i R

Opportunities

B

Short term (0-1 year)

SEEGEIED)

Medium term (5 years)

RHEI(5%F)

Transition risks — Securing the skills
and capability required to implement
climate strategy

Transition risks — Implementation of -
regulations to mandate “Prevention

of Heat Stress At Work" guidelines
Physical risks — Rising temperature

and heightened precipitation

resulting in the proliferation of
mosquitoes, which increases the risk

of transmission of mosquito-borne
diseases

Physical risks — Increased frequency

and severity of extreme weather
conditions such as cyclones and

extreme precipitation

BEER - BEEERRREATN —
BERBE -

BRER — BRI - AEBIETT
[ T{ERIER & 453l

BRER — SRR LT R EKEE NG
B @BAREE - BN T B EHER
RHE R

B —Ein R EAMR (NEEEE
AR K ) M SRRIZE MR E
T2EIE N

Transition risks — Implementation of -
low-carbon policies for the operation
Transition risks — Changing customer
behaviour in response to climate- -
related risk will affect demand and
supply of our goods and services

EE R — ph 8 B IR AR IR -
EERR-FPTRRBREAERSN —

RERmMEE - #SE BRI m MR

sk

2022/23 3R o

Technologies to enhance the
performance of operation and energy
efficiency

Heat-relieving measures to combat
increasing temperatures and re-
arrange work schedules to avoid
working under hot weather

R ERIER MR O RAMT
REVES =IRHMEREN - ANEH
L TIERRE - @RERARR T
1

Increasing opportunities in
environmentally friendly urban
redevelopment

Replacing our forklifts with those that
emit less GHG

BIBRRT R EREAEE
BXEERARERBHRER DD

AUSR
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Risks
27y

Opportunities
A

Transition risks — Potential new

regulation and policies such as

carbon taxes will increase cost

—  Transition risks — Development and
use of emerging technologies may
increase the operational costs, and
reduce the Group’s competitiveness

—  Transition risks — Reputation may be
impacted due to changing customer
or community perceptions if we do
not achieve the public demands

- Physical risks — Rising sea levels

resulting in severe damages to wet

trades works performed at low-lying

areas due to flooding

Medium to long term (5+ years)

—  Transitioning to low carbon economy
market to meet government
decarbonisation targets

—  Becoming a pioneer in the industry
and building up the relevant
reputations

P RAFGEBIBSF) — BERBR-BENFRAIREEE (N — BESEBRGEMS - UWEKBITH
BRAR ) 2 AR AR RIE B IR
— BERR-BERCERAFESMATE — KRITELE BuEE
IEMNEERAN  HEAEEN GRS
7
— BERR-WEMREREARE
ko BPEMRERMOBRAEE
EE L fiéﬁﬁ B PINBE
— EBEBRR-STELEAEEREEE
iﬂ@ﬁﬁﬂ’]@kﬁila@kﬁﬁ Eall]=3
BHE
Action on Climate Change A IR B L 5 B 1T B

Our action plan encompasses various measures, including but not
limited to:

—  Encouraging employees, suppliers, and customers to reduce  —
carbon emissions into their day-to-day activities wherever
feasible;

—  Establishing and implementing long-term targets for reducing  —
our carbon footprint;

—  Adopting industry best practices and technology to enhance  —
energy efficiency in our daily operations such as replacing our
forklifts with those that emit less GHG or are more efficient in
energy consumption; and

—  Taking climate change into account in all strategic matters. —

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT

BANTEE BB S ZEER - BRETER

wEEE HERREPERTNERT
B BB A MIRBERL

HEIEERERR

VOR A B2 E1

BRAASRAETTREHI Rl - LA&%EM**

ERER N 1 Jﬁﬂ%ﬂ#yﬁiﬁ%‘%ﬁ/
TR ER D LR BN =S fﬁﬁ’]ﬁ”
5% R

EAREEETEBERIEECARERE -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL ASPECTS
Employment and Labour Practices

Employment, Recruitment and Promotion

The Group acknowledges that the success of the organisation heavily
relies on the skills, capabilities, and commitment of its employees.
Therefore, the Group’s philosophy is centered on attracting highly
competent candidates who share the same values and mission
as the Group, while also promoting diversity to foster excellence.
The Group aims to recruit suitable talent and maintain a pool of
employees based on human resource planning and requirements.
High-performing employees will be promoted and moved to fill
vacancies, providing them with opportunities to advance within the
Group.

In addition, the Group values the growth and development of
its employees. Generally, employee salaries are determined by
their qualifications, position, and seniority. To attract and retain
valuable employees, annual performance appraisals are conducted
to assess their performance in various areas such as safety, work
ethics, technical skills, and interpersonal skills. The Group takes
these evaluations into account during the annual salary review and
promotion appraisal process.

The Group has adhered to all relevant employment laws and
regulations in Hong Kong, including but not limited to:

Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57);

—  Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282);

—  Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485);
—  Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608);

—  Construction Workers Registration Ordinance (Cap. 583);
—  Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480); and

—  Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 487).
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Working Hours and Rest Periods

The Group is dedicated to maintaining reasonable working hours
and ensuring that employees receive adequate rest periods. All
employees are entitled to public or statutory holidays, which are
announced in The Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region Gazette each year. Additionally, employees have access to
various types of leave, including but not limited to annual leave, sick
leave, compensation leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, marriage
leave, and compassionate leave.

Diversity, Equal Opportunities and Anti-
Discrimination

The Group shows unwavering commitment to promoting equal
opportunities, diversity, and anti-discrimination in our workplace.
Equal opportunities are provided pertaining to human resources
matters or in any other activities during employment regardless
of age, gender, physical or mental state, marital status, family
status, pregnancy, race, colour, nationality or ethnic origin, religion,
or sexual orientation. Employees are recognised and rewarded
according to their contribution, performance and skill, which leads
to different remuneration packages and training opportunities.

Any forms of verbal or physical abuse, physical punishment, or
actions that may be considered oppressive or regarded as sexual
harassment towards our employees are strictly prohibited. We also
condemn any punishments, supervision methods, or disciplinary
actions that incorporate such behaviour. In the situation when
employees feel sexual harassed, they are strongly urged to report
the matter to their relevant supervisors or department heads to seek
advice and discuss. Detailed investigations will be conducted by the
Human Resources and Administration Department and managed
confidentially according to the guidelines for handling sexual
harassment complaints.

If justified, relevant disciplinary actions will be taken, which in the

most severe cases, may result in termination of the employment
contract.
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Board Diversity Policy

In recognition of the benefits of diversity, the Group has established
a board diversity policy. The Group sees the importance of gender
diversity and will continue to foster gender diversity at all levels
including but without limitation on our Board. In addition, we aim
to provide more training resources and career growth opportunities
for experienced female employees as well as nominating female
management staff who possess relevant skills and experience to
our Board. The Group believes that the implementation of Board
Diversity Policy will bring about a positive impact in the long run.

Employee Benefits and Welfare

The Group offers numerous incentives and welfare to its employees
in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong.
The Group participates in the defined contribution scheme under the
Mandatory Provident Funds Scheme Ordinance where contributions
are based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries. The
Group'’s employer contributions are fully vested with the employees
upon being contributed to the Mandatory Provident Funds Scheme.

For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases of
non-compliance with laws and regulations concerning compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

Labour Standards

The Group upholds its values to respect international human rights
and strongly condemns any human rights abuse especially child
labour, forced labour and illegal labour. The Group abides by the
relevant laws and regulations and acts in accordance with the
Employment of Children Regulations (Cap. 57B), the Immigration
Ordinance (Cap. 115) and the Employment Ordinance during the
recruitment process. We therefore establish strict regulations to
prevent having child labour, illegal immigrants or workers from
being on-site.

To avoid illegal employment of child and forced labour, the human
resources department of the Group requires all job applicants to
provide valid identity documents to ensure that they can be lawfully
employed prior to the confirmation of employment. Important
details such as job duties, locations and working hours of the staff
are also set out clearly in the employment contract to protect their
rights and interests. Once any case is found to be against the labour
standards, the employment will be terminated immediately, while
the responsible personnel will be disciplined accordingly.
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For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group in relation to preventing child and forced
labour.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total of 77 employees
(independent non-executive directors are not included), all of whom
were based in Hong Kong. Below are the details of the workforce

REHA - NREE I ARG E R ERE
DIrET NS T AEAHAREELERY
LBHYEOIER -

20233 A31H » "EEAXBT7ZEE
BEBUIENTES)  BREEIMURES - N
TARSEHAEBREE B MEE RARNF

and the rate of employee turnover during the Reporting Period: 15 -
As at As at
31 March 31 March
Workforce'® 2023 2022
20235 F20224F
EE@E° 3A31H 3A31H
By Gender RIERIE S
Male 5 56 61
Female z 21 22
By Age Group RERHERE S
Below 30 305k A T 8 6
30-50 30E505% 60 65
50 or above 50B% A = 9 12
By Employment Level REBRE S
Senior Management aREERE 11 12
Middle Management FAREERE 45 43
General Staff —MRET 21 28
By Geographical Region ZiENEE S
Hong Kong B 77 83
Total st 77 83

1 It includes the employees of the Group only. Workers of the
subcontractors are not included.

10 HERRARERSE - DEBENTALEAEL
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As at As at
31 March 31 March
Turnover Rate™ 2023 2022
M20234%F R20224F
ML=z 3A31H 38318
By Gender RIERIE S
Male B 48% 39%
Female L8 24% 36%
By Age Group RERHERE D
Below 30 30BRA T 25% 0%
30-50 302505% 45% 45%
50 or above 5075A 33% 25%
By Geographical Region R IB (Y B El D
Hong Kong a5 42% 39%
Overall et 42% 39%
Occupational Health and Work Safety BEBFEHTIEZS

The Group prioritises occupational health and work safety, and
as a result, we have adopted an occupational health and safety
management system, which has been certified to be compliant
to ISO 45001 standards. This is a testament to our commitment
to promoting a safe and healthy working environment for all
employees.

The Group strictly abides by the applicable laws and regulations
in Hong Kong relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards, including
but not limited to Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap.
509), Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance (Cap. 59),
Construction Sites (Safety) Regulations (Cap. 59), Occupiers Liability
Ordinance (Cap. 314).

" Turnover rate = Number of employees left the Group during the
Reporting Period / Number of employees as at the end of the reporting
period). The Group had a total of 32 employee turnover during the
Reporting Period.

AEEEBRERFATIELZ2RNEEEMNE -
I BRPIRA T —ERERFHEL2EERS
HOEREBARAISO 45001124 - 5 —2hFE A
BERMAYNAZEREERY —EAL2ERENIIE
IRIEREGE ©

AEEFESETEAAMRERLZE THERERR
BREERXBERTNEREIESR  BEE
TRUFBS09B(BELR 2 LIEEED) - F59%
(IR R TEEEED) - FoAB(EEME (R
B)RODEEIVE(ERNEREEEDD) -

" ORAE=REANER A EENEEABWE
HIREBAE - RIBEHA - AEBEA LR
T32%EE -
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Health and Safety Measures and Implementation

The implementation of our occupational health and safety policies
is overseen by our project management team, who make sure that
we comply with all the applicable safety standards. The Group has
created an internal safety plan that we regularly review to integrate
the most up-to-date best practices and enhance certain aspects of
our safety management system.

Ensuring that workers and subcontractors follow proper and safe
working practices is a critical responsibility of our safety supervisor.
They provide regular guidance to maintain high safety standards.
If we observe any subcontractors repeatedly violating our internal
safety procedures, we may enforce fines or exclude them from our
list of approved subcontractors.

We conduct regular meetings with our subcontractors to guarantee
that safety measures are implemented effectively. These meetings
are an opportunity to discuss safety measures and address any safety
issues that arise during the project implementation process. By doing
so, we can identify potential safety hazards and take the necessary
steps to mitigate them, creating a safer working environment for all
involved.

Acquiring Equipment and Tools to Further Strengthen
our Occupational Safety

We are fully committed to promoting safety practices throughout
our project implementations and continuously strive to enhance
occupational safety by investing in appropriate equipment and tools.
Our safety plan outlines strict safety rules that all employees, as well
as subcontractors’ employees, are required to follow. In addition,
we provide suitable personal protective equipment, including full-
body harnesses, safety helmets, and safety boots, based on the type
of work being performed. Our goal is to ensure that all workers
are equipped with the necessary safety gear to perform their work
safely and without undue risk. In addition, in compliance with the
Construction Sites (Safety) Regulations, we guarantee adequate
quantities of planks and toe-boards to ensure the safety of our
workers when working at heights. This will also attract quality
subcontractors and workers to work with us in the future.
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Enhanced Internal Control Measures for Accident
Management

While unpredictable accidents are inevitable, the Group believes to
constantly improve measures to enhance our internal controls and
safety measures to prevent pasts incidents from happening again.
These measures included:

— Improving our site accident reporting procedures by establishing
a clear workflow for reporting accidents that occur on work
sites. We assigned contact persons responsible for each site to
ensure that accidents are reported promptly and efficiently. This
enables the senior management and project management team
to receive timely notifications of site accidents for the handling
of work injuries and reporting to the Labour Department. In
cases where there is a delay in reporting a site accident, our
executive directors are informed. They promptly follow up with
the relevant staff and/or main contractor to ensure that the site
accident is reported within the required timeline to the Labour
Department.

—  Establishing an instant message application for accident
reporting. This involves a site accident reporting channel to
facilitate timely reporting of accidents.

Ensuring Safety Compliance at Project Sites

As one of the means to ensure safety compliance, a mandatory
safety training course is required to be taken by every construction
site worker who will then be able to attain a valid certificate (also
referred as “green card”) before he/she is approved to enter a
construction site.

The Group conducts site safety induction briefing sessions for
workers on their first day of work and provides on-site training for
workers, including subcontractors’ employees. The safety training
covers various topics such as safety procedures for different types of
work (e.g., working at height), emergency procedures, duties and
procedures for reporting hazards, incidents, accidents, and diseases,
potential hazards at work sites, proper usage of personal protective
equipment, contingency measures, and good housekeeping
practices. These safety training sessions are intended to educate
workers on the importance of safety measures and to provide them
with the necessary knowledge and skills to perform their work
safely. We also regularly review and update our training programs
to ensure that they remain effective and relevant to the changing
needs of our work sites.
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Additionally, the Group maintains effective promotion and
communication of safety procedures through various measures.
These include establishing a safety incentives scheme which
rewards workers with a cash coupon for good safety performance,
conducting regular internal and external safety meetings and
documenting safety issues spotted for each project. General safety
rules are also posted on prominent noticeboards on site. These rules
highlight safe working procedures for work-at-height encompassing
areas such as (i) access to and egress from scaffolds; (ii) proper
erection of working platform; (iii) regular inspection of scaffold by
competent person; and (iv) use of personal protection equipment
including fall arrestor and safety harness. Anyone who does not
comply with the safety rules will face disciplinary actions.

The Group's safety officer conducts risk assessments to identify
potential hazards and accidents and suggests preventive measures
before commencing work. Site inspections are carried out weekly by
our safety supervisors to ensure compliance with safety regulations.
Safety audits and reviews are also conducted in accordance
with Factories and Industrial Undertakings (Safety Management)
Regulation.

Safety Organisation

Our safety department, is responsible for implementing the safety
management system at our project sites. Additionally, we established
a safety committee at the corporate level. The safety committee
enforces safety policies, reviews and assesses safety policies,
incidents, hazards, and non-compliance with safety standards and
laws. They also address cases of injuries, ill health, and property
damage, as well as incidents that have the potential to cause harm
or losses. The safety committee meets monthly to discuss accident
rates and non-compliance with safety-related laws and regulations.

Safety Performance

The total number of lost days due to injuries was 182 days for the
2022/2023. The Group will continue to prioritise safety by raising
awareness among its stakeholders and leveraging on these events to
improve its safety performance.
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Work-related Injury Statistics 2022/2023 2021/2022 202072021
TESET 2022/2023%F  2021/20224  2020/20214F
Number Reportable Accidents B R ) B R 3 3 0
Number of Work-related Fatalities AT A 0 0 0
Number of Lost Days Due to ATEEEANTIERH

Work Injury 182 609 0
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Measures in Response to the Outbreak of COVID-19

To address the outbreak of COVID-19 in Hong Kong, we have
implemented several hygiene and safety measures intended to
protect our staff and workers. These measures include:

—  Requiring staff and workers to wear surgical masks at both
office and work sites.

—  Monitoring the stock of personal protective equipment, such as
surgical masks and hand sanitiser, for our employees.

— Conducting mandatory body temperature checks before
entering work sites and random temperature checks
throughout the day.

—  Requesting staff and workers to maintain personal hygiene,
and anyone experiencing respiratory symptoms shall be
refrained from working and advised to seek medical attention
promptly.

—  Placing health educational materials on COVID-19 in prominent
areas of our office and work sites.

— In the event that any staff or workers are requested by
the Department of Health to be quarantined or have been
confirmed to have contracted COVID-19, we will inform their
respective department or project management team and keep
a record. We will also notify any other staff or workers who
have had close contact with the infected individual.

We believe that by implementing these measures, we can effectively
mitigate the spread of COVID-19 and create a safe working
environment for our staff and workers.

For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group in relation to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.
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Development and Training

The Group places great importance on providing training and
development programs to our employees to enhance their
productivity and contribute to the long-term growth of the
organisation. According to our training and development policy,
we strive to ensure that all employees have equal opportunities to
develop their knowledge, skills, and abilities through various learning
channels, such as mentoring, coaching, on-the-job training, courses,
conferences, and seminars.

On top of that, we conduct performance appraisals to assess our
employees’ personal strengths and weaknesses, as well as their
suitability for promotion or further training. Based on the results of
the performance appraisal, we provide discretionary bonuses and
salary adjustments to our employees.

We offer a range of training programs to our employees, including
technical knowledge related to wet trades works, safety, first aid,
and environmental matters. These training programs are available
through both internal and external channels, such as courses
organised by the Occupational Safety and Health Council, which we
sponsor our employees to attend.

As construction workers, our employees are generally required to be
registered under the Construction Workers Registration Ordinance
(Cap. 583). We believe that investing in our employees’ training and
development is essential to ensuring that they have the skills and
knowledge necessary to perform their work safely and effectively.
This also leads to improved employee engagement and attendance
rates, ultimately contributing to the profitability and success of our
organisation. Therefore, we aim to constantly provide access to a
variety of training programs as well as encouraging our employees
to take up training programs and seminars for self-improvement.
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Throughout the Reporting Period, 29 employees of the total
workforce received training, representing 38% of the Group's
employees. The total number of training hours provided to these
employees was 71.58 hours. The breakdown of this figure is as
follows:

Percentage of Employee Receiving Training'
FIEEEDLL?

R - HEREGHRS

REERSHN  BEEKTEARZIIE
B HAKBEREBE AN - MZFREE
RHENFIIREAHRT71.85 K - BAHFH
BRARESIEA T ¢

77

o

2022/2023 2021/2022
2022/2023%F 2021/20224

By Gender RERIE S
Male Es 86% 88%
Female z 14% 12%
By Employment Category REBRE S
Senior Management SREEE 11% 19%
Middle Management FREERE 79% 81%
General Staff —RET 10% 0%
2022/2023 2021/2022
2022/20234 2021/2022%F
hours/ hours/
Average Training Hours™ employee employee

PG R 8 e

AN AN

By Gender RERIE 5

Male s 0.49 0.50
Female 4 2.10 3.57
By Employment Category REBRE S

Senior Management SRERE 5.73 8.45
Middle Management FARERE 0.16 0.22
General Staff —RET 0.07 0.00
Overall mat 71.58 102.75

Percentage of trained employee = Number of employees in the
specified category received training during the reporting period /
Number of employees received training during the reporting period.

13 Average training hours = Total training hours during the reporting
period / Total number of employees at the end of the reporting period.
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Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

The Group recognises the importance of building and maintaining
strong relationships with our suppliers to achieve consistency and
stability in areas such as cost reduction, efficiency improvement,
and supply chain continuity. Our suppliers primarily comprise
subcontractors, providers of wet works materials, and providers of
machinery and equipment.

We believe that working closely with our suppliers is critical
to ensuring that we have access to high-quality materials and
equipment at competitive prices. By building strong relationships
with our suppliers, we can also improve communication and
collaboration, leading to greater operational efficiency and
productivity. We are committed to maintaining open and
transparent communication with our suppliers to ensure that we can
work together to achieve our shared goals.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had a total of 455
(2021/2022: 407) suppliers and subcontractors, and all of them were
based in Hong Kong.

The Group identifies environmental and social risks of the supply
chain through stringent and systematic supplier/subcontractor
management.

Enhancing our information technology capability and
project implementation efficiency

The procurement of an Enterprise Resource Planning (“ERP”) system
is part of our plan to boost our information technology capacity and
improve project implementation efficiency. This system will simplify
the process of procuring materials and managing subcontractor
payroll. Our executive directors are confident that the new ERP
system will carry out the following functions:

— Enable our project management team to send purchase
requests online via a web application accessible by mobile
devices, thus facilitating the ordering process.

—  Allow for web-based payment approval by our site agent and/
or executive Directors, thus facilitating the approval process of

purchase orders.

—  Generate purchase orders automatically from purchase
requests, thus facilitating the processing of purchase orders.

—  Minimise errors and duplication of purchase orders by storing
all purchase requests in a central database.
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—  Enable our staff to retrieve and trace any purchase orders
placed on a real-time basis, thus facilitating the management
of purchase orders.

- Enhance documentation and automate manual procedures,
such as recording works performed by subcontractors and
online storage of progress payment applications submitted by
subcontractors.

Basis of selecting our suppliers

Our usual practice involves procuring materials and tools from a list
of verified suppliers that we maintain internally. In selecting these
suppliers, we assess several factors including their pricing, the quality
of materials they offer, their ability to deliver on time, and their
capability to meet our specifications and requirements. Our list of
approved suppliers is constantly reviewed and updated to ensure its
accuracy and relevance.

If suppliers meet the same performance standards as others in their
industry, we give preference to those who offer sustainable products
and services. To provide products and services to our Group,
suppliers must adhere to statutory requirements for environmental
protection. For example, the forklifts we own are Regulated
Machines and are subject to the Non-Road Mobile Machinery
Regulation.

To ensure compliance with environmental protection statutory
requirements, we require all suppliers who provide products and
services to our Group to adhere to these regulations. We believe
that it is our responsibility to work with suppliers who operate
in an environmentally responsible manner and are committed to
minimising their impact on the environment.

Basis of selecting subcontractors

The Group values the importance of selecting the right
subcontractors to ensure the success of our construction projects.
When evaluating subcontractors, we consider several factors to
ensure that we select the most qualified and skilled candidates for
the job, including the quality of their services, qualifications, skills
and techniques, prevailing market prices, delivery time, availability of
resources, and reputation. We maintain an internal list of approved
subcontractors that we update regularly based on these factors.
This list includes only those subcontractors who meet our stringent
selection criteria. When selecting subcontractors, we follow a
rigorous process and obtain quotations from multiple eligible
candidates for comparison. We evaluate and select the candidate
with the most pertinent experience for the specific project,
availability, and a competitive fee quotation.
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Product Responsibility

At the Group, product quality and safety are fundamental values
that guide our construction and maintenance activities. We
recognise the importance of delivering high-quality work and are
committed to fulfilling our contractual duties with integrity and
efficiency, as stated in our quality policy.

To achieve this, we aim to gain a strong understanding of our
customers’ demands and a clear control system to continually
improve the competitiveness of our services. The Group fosters
among all employees the awareness and significance of quality.
Teamwork, participation and leadership are strongly encouraged to
attain the Group's objectives.

Service responsibility

In addition to our commitment to quality, we also take responsibility
for our services. We maintain ongoing communication with our
customers to ensure that we understand and meet their expectations
and demands. Upon completion of our projects, our site agent of
the project management team arranges for handover of the project
sites to our customers. We encourage our customers to perform site
visits, and if any defects are detected, rectifications will be scheduled
for promptly.

Quality control

The Group understands that the dedication to providing quality
services is the key to our reputation and continued success. To
ensure such quality, a comprehensive quality control system, which
is certified to be in conformance with the requirements of 1ISO 9001
standards, has been established. We have established and devised
a quality manual that stipulates procedures and controls related to
the quality management system, proper filing, communication with
customers, revision of quality manual and procedures, employee
training, internal and external audits, evaluation and procurement
of materials and tools, subcontracting services, and management of
non-conforming work. We believe that by maintaining a culture of
quality and continuous improvement, we can achieve our objectives
and deliver value to our customers.

Collecting Feedbacks from Customers

As we strongly value our customers’ opinions, our executive directors
and senior management team conduct regular engagements with
customers and conduct site visits to gather feedback. The Group
ensures speedy response to these customer feedback to guarantee
top-notch service standards consistently. Additionally, we may
participate in progress meetings held by customers to address any
issues identified in the projects.
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Designation of Project Management Team

Every project will be managed by a project management team with
relevant qualifications and experience. The site agent is in charge
of overseeing the team as well as the overall project management,
including communication and coordination with customers,
providing guidance to team members, monitoring the project’s
progress, budget, and service quality.

Throughout the project implementation period, we are typically
required to submit monthly progress reports to customers,
depending on their requests. Our project management team
prepares these reports, which outline the project status and any
identified issues. Our senior management team reviews the reports
to ensure their accuracy and completeness, and then submits them
to customers for their records.

Quality Of Materials and Tooling

To ensure the quality of the materials and tools we use, we maintain
an updated approved list of suppliers. Before finalising the materials
that we will use from our suppliers, we typically submit samples
to our customers to seek consent. Specific branded materials may
be procured upon customer requests. Lastly, upon the arrival of
materials and tools, we perform inspections to verify their quality
standards.

Works Performed by Subcontractors

At the Group, we take responsibility for the performance and
quality of work rendered by our subcontractors. To ensure the
compliance of our subcontractors with our contract specifications,
we have implemented a quality management system, environmental
management system, and occupational health and safety
management system that conform to the ISO 9001, ISO 14001
and ISO 45001 standards, respectively. Works performed by
our subcontractors are inspected and monitored by our project
management team based on these systems.

To ensure compliance with our contract specifications, we
have put in place the following measures to oversee the quality
and advancement of work that we have outsourced to our
subcontractors:

—  Our project management team holds periodic meetings with
the responsible personnel for our subcontractors to assess their
performance and address any challenges encountered during
their work.

—  Our subcontractors must adhere to our safety management
system guidelines and instructions. The on-site safety
performance of our subcontractors will be closely monitored by
our project management team.
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—  During project implementation, our project management
team continually examines the work carried out by our
subcontractors, following our quality control manual. We
evaluate the performance of our subcontractors based on their:

Ability to meet delivery schedules;

- Response to instructions;

—  Ability to honour the defects liability period,;
—  Management commitment;

—  Quality of services; and

Cost competitiveness.

We believe that by monitoring the quality and progress of works
outsourced to our subcontractors and ensuring their compliance
with our contract specifications, we can deliver high-quality, safe,
and reliable construction and maintenance services to our customers.

Managing Subcontractor Performances

To ensure the safety of our project sites, we require all
subcontractors to follow our safety inspection policy and comply
with our safe work practices when carrying out wet trades works.
We have established a procedure to evaluate and assess the safety
performance of our subcontractors. If a subcontractor’s performance
is deemed unsatisfactory, we will report it to our Directors and
issue a warning letter to the subcontractor. If no improvement is
shown, we may remove the subcontractor from our approved list
of subcontractors for a certain period and discontinue any existing
engagements if there is a significant non-compliance with safety
requirements following the warning letter.

Health and Safety and Product Return

Our contracts generally include a defects liability period of 12 to 24
months, following the completion of the relevant site works. During
the defects liability period, we are typically required to rectify any
defect without delay at our own cost if the defect is due to our non-
conformance of works performed, or due to our neglect or failure to
comply with our contractual obligation.

The Group’s business does not involve any research and
development, product manufacturing, packaging and labelling
activities. To the best of Directors’ knowledge, the Group is not
aware of any material non-compliance relating to customer health
and safety, product return during the Reporting Period.
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Complaint Handling

In order to handle and prevent potential complaints, we have
various customer complaints and feedback handling procedures
established such as conducting regular engagements with customers
and conducting site visits to gather feedback as specified under
the “Collecting feedbacks from customers” section, as well as our
defects liability period as specified under the “Health and Safety and
Product Return” section. To the best of our directors’ knowledge,
the Group did not receive any official complaints from its customers
during the Reporting Period.

Intellectual Properties

We acknowledge the significance of safeguarding and upholding
our intellectual property rights and abide by all pertinent laws and
regulations that have a notable impact on our operations. This
includes but is not limited to (i) the Trademarks Ordinance (Cap.
559) and (ii) the Copyright Ordinance (Cap. 528) in Hong Kong.

In order to avoid infringement of any third party’s intellectual
property rights, we prohibit our employees to use unlicensed
computer software or making unauthorised software copies. The
Employee Handbook also stipulates the code and provision that we
require our employees to comply with.

As of the Reporting Period, the Group possess a registered domain
name and trademark in Hong Kong. We were not aware of
any significant violations, either by us of third-party intellectual
property rights or by third parties of our intellectual property rights.
Additionally, our directors did not have knowledge of ongoing or
impending claims against us or any Group members regarding a
substantial infringement of third-party intellectual property rights.

Employee and Customer Data Protection and Privacy

At the Group, we consider the confidentiality of employee and
customer information to be of utmost importance. We are
committed to protecting the privacy of our customers, business
partners, and employees in the collection, processing, and use of
their personal or business data.

Consumer data including project-related information and other
sensitive information are subject to access right control to ensure its
security and prevent any abuse and misuse. The HR Department is
responsible to observe the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap.
486) and review our personnel and business practices from time to
time to ensure its compliance.

As a construction work contractor, the Group did not have material
issues concerning advertising and labelling matters. Nevertheless, we
require our employees to provide customers with accurate and true
information on the Group's services.
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For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group in relation to health and safety, advertising,
labelling, and privacy matters related to products and services
provided.

Anti-corruption

The Group has a zero-tolerance policy for any form of corruption,
including bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering and we
strictly adhere to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201).
Our staff handbook includes a disciplinary code that outlines the
consequences of fraudulent behaviour, and we ensure that our
employees understand its terms.

We encourage our employees to report any suspected misconduct,
and we have established guidelines and procedures to avoid
conflicts of interest. Our staff handbook includes declaration of
interest guidelines that require our employees to act in good faith
and honesty in all transactions and avoid using their positions or
knowledge gained from their employment for personal gains.

To prevent any conflicts of interest, our employees must declare any
potential or perceived conflicts of interest to our executive directors
when they have or have had a personal relationship with a related
person. We take any suspected or actual fraudulent behaviour
seriously and immediately report it to our directors.

The tendering process is vital to our business, and all tendering
documents are kept confidential and restricted to concerned parties
only. Fairness is needed to protect the interests of the Group and
our clients. Employees responsible for tendering must comply with
the Competition Ordinance (Cap. 619), and refrain from exchanging
or communicating any sensitive information with or to competitors,
from participating in price-fixing, imposition of restrictions on clients
or abuse of a dominant market position.

The Group is committed to upholding the highest standards of
ethical conduct and complying with all laws and regulations related
to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering in the regions
where we operate. For the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any cases of non-compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group in relation to bribery,
extortion, fraud, and money laundering.

During the Reporting Period, no anti-corruption training has been
provided yet. However, the Group has already planned with the
Independent Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC") to provide
an anti-corruption seminar in the second half of calendar year 2023.
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At the Group, we prioritise transparency, integrity, and
accountability. To support this commitment, we have established
a whistleblowing policy that serves as a communication channel
for employees to report any concerns related to ethical business or
personal conduct, accounting and financial matters, integrity and
other misconduct, or maltreatment by other staff members.

We encourage our employees to come forward and voice their
concerns if they suspect any misconduct or malpractice within our
Group. We assure complainants of their anonymity and protect them
against unfair dismissal, victimisation, or unwarranted disciplinary
action, even if their concerns turn out to be unsubstantiated.

To ensure the effectiveness of our whistleblowing policy, our
Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring and reviewing its
implementation regularly. The Group is committed to maintaining
the highest level of transparency, integrity, and accountability. We
provide our employees with a safe and secure whistleblowing policy
to report any concerns related to misconduct or malpractice within
our organisation without fear of retaliation.

Community

Community Investment

Our Group strongly believes that community contribution is a vital
component of sustainable development. We recognise that our
construction projects can have a significant impact on the local
community and environment, and we are committed to building
good relationships with the communities near our project sites. We
believe that by engaging with the community, we can establish a
harmonious society and promote social welfare.

To achieve this, we are proactive in communicating with the local
community, seeking to understand their concerns and needs while
keeping them informed about our construction projects’ progress.
We aim to address any issues raised by the community promptly
and transparently. By fostering open and honest communication,
we have been able to build strong relationships with the local
community, which has been recognised by various stakeholders.

We also recognise the importance of inspiring our employees
towards social welfare awareness. We encourage our employees
to participate in voluntary work and community activities to make
a positive contribution to society. We believe that by motivating
our employees to be socially responsible and actively engaged in
community activities, we can create a culture of giving back and
make a meaningful impact on the communities in which we operate.
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Though there were no resources contributed during the Reporting
Period, the Group shall keep abreast of the latest trends and best
practices related to environmental protection at construction sites,
and workers’ health and safety to further extend our care to the
community.

In summary, the Group believes that community contribution is an
essential component of sustainable development and we aim to
create long-term success in our organisation while making a positive
impact on the communities.
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Aspect A1 Emissions
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Disclosure (@) the policies; and Management; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that Emissions
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
—RRARER FHABERIAERBEYN - KR THWEET -  BERE REER RN 66-70
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General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, Environmental 66-67, 73-75
Disclosure water and other raw materials. Management; Energy
Consumption and
Water Consumption
—RARIREE BRUEAER(BIEER - KEEA R R BBUR RIFERE ; gelRFEA  66-67, 73-75
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have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer,
and the actions taken to manage them.
B A IEIR BB RAIRGHBTAELATENEARGHEBSE RIEEL 75-78
A4.1 B REHTH -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI - HERERHRS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Page
Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1) Section number
TELGE  BE —REERBREXEZRFE) -} BR
Subject Area B. Social
#HISB. Tt
Employment and Labour Practice
BRERETER
Aspect B1 Employment
EMEB1 B
General Information on: Employment 79-81
Disclosure (@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.
—RRIREE ERTINREE  BEREM  TERHH - RE - TSH ERF 79-81
2 Zb - IR A R E A RS R AE AN
(@ HXE: K&
(b) BFHBITABERFENRBEEERANINEER -
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, Employment 82
full- or part-time), age group and geographical region.
FARE NIRRT RIS - EBERE (WNEBEEEE) - Fiednl tRE s (ER 82
B1.1 MEE /A -
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Employment 83
geographical region.
BB A DER ZIER - FlBR KRB DEBMALLE - (= 83

B1.2
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI - HEKRELQHRS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Page
Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1) Section number
TELGE  BE —REERBREXEZRFE) -} BiR
Aspect B2 Health and Safety
EmB2 i2FRL 2
General Information on: Health and Safety 83-87
Disclosure (@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.
—RRIREE BRRH 2 TERERREREH B E LT RT3 83-87
(@ HE: K&
(b) EFHEHBETABERTZENEBMERZIIROIER -
KPI'B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each  Health and Safety 86
of the past three years including the reporting year.
FASRAE RUE R BE=F(PEERFE)BFRAITHRHABRLE - RT3 86
B2.1
KPIB2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety 86
RSB RUE R EAITGHEATIERS - [EER =R 86
B2.2
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures Health and Safety 83-87
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.
RSB RUE R R PTER AN B R R IR 25 - ARMBERITRER @BREZS 83-87
B2.3 JI0E
Aspect B3 Development and Training
[EMB3 R EH
General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for  Development and 88
Disclosure discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. Training
—RRIREE BHARMEERIT IEREN B MR NBER - s RIS 88
FEE)
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and Development and 89
employee category. Training
RASRAE RUE IR RIERINEEEREIDHXIEEB DL - R R 89
B3.1
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by Development and 89
gender and employee category. Training
RS HEIR RUERINEERRE D - BREETKIINFIIRFE - EREE 89
B3.2
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI - HERERHRS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Page
Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1) Section number
TEHE  BE - - —REERBESEREE(T) E=1:1] BR
Aspect B4 Labour Standards
[EEB4 45 T AR
General Information on: Labour Standards 81
Disclosure (@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child or forced labour.
— MR ER BRABIEE TR H S TH) 45 TAER] 81
(@ BX: Kk
(b) ETFTHBEITABEAZENEBEEZKAMNENEL
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to  Labour Standards 81
avoid child and forced labour.
RABEAE DER faun R B E P M AR R B T KR o&HI55 T - &5 TAER| 81
B4.1
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when  Labour Standards 81
discovered.
BB E DIER R ULTE IR B R IB SR B R A RIS P ERER B 2558 - 25 TAER] 81

B4.2
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI - HEKRELQHRS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Page
Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1) Section number
TELGE  BE —REERBREXEZRFE) =11 BX
Operating Practices
LIEEN
Aspect B5 Supply Chain Management
JEMBS e EIE
General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the  Supply Chain 90-91
Disclosure supply chain. Management
—RAREE EIRHIEERRE KAt R RRBUR HrEgEER 90-91
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain 90
Management
FASEEDIER i EE D HEREAE - HrEgEER 90
B5.1
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,  Supply Chain 90-91
number of suppliers where the practices are being Management
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
BB E DUETR A ERAEAHEERNEN - mERTHEREMNNMHER HERER 90-91
B5.2 HE - AT RERTE -
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental  Supply Chain 90-91
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are Management
implemented and monitored.
FARE N IEIR MR HERE ERSIRF L gRARNED - HEREER 90-91
B5.3 ARMBRIIT MBS TTE -
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally ~ Supply Chain 90-91
preferrable products and services when selecting suppliers, Management
and how they are implemented and monitored.
B A NIRRT IR BRE HE R e (2 2 IR REm KRB VED] - A HEEeEE 90-91
B5.4 NIRRT REREITE -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI - HERERHRS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Page
Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1) Section number
TELGE  BE —REERBREXEZRFE) -} BR
Aspect B6 Product Responsibility
[EMEB6 EmE T
General Information on: Product Responsibility 92-95
Disclosure (@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.
—RRIREE BRAMRHERNBRBOREREELZS - BES  SEELE EmEE 92-95
FEULMEBITER
(@ HBE: K&
(b) BEFHBITABERTENRBEEERAGINEER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to  Not Applicable It is not
recalls for safety and health reasons. relevant to
the Group's
business.
B A NIRRT PEXDEXEMAHTATREFRIBAMARKNE TEA TEARARE
B6.1 Dtk e EIES
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received  Product Responsibility 95
and how they are dealt with.
B E NIRRT BRI ZE o M RIS EVIR AR E A KRB 77 0% o EmEE 95
B6.2
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting ~ Product Responsibility 95
intellectual property rights.
RSB RUE R F st B o L ARFE AR EERE B AR 1B 1 EmEE 95
B6.3
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall  Product Responsibility 92-94
procedures.
RSB RUE R HE 218 E B REmMBIBGRTF ° EmEE 92-94
B6.4
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy Product Responsibility 95
policies how they are implemented and monitored.
BASRAE BUE IR AU EEERHMRERALRBECR - UREERTRERS EnET 95

B6.5

A
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI - HEKRELQHRS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Page
Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1) Section number
TELGE  BE —REERBREXEZRFE) -} BX
Aspect B7 Anti-corruption
BmEB7 X&E5
General Information on: Anti-corruption 96-97
Disclosure (@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
—ARIEE BRAYTIEBREE - B1R - BGFROE BRI ¢ RES 96-97
(@ HE: K&
(b) BTHETABEATENRBEERZNANNE -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt Anti-corruption 96
practices brought against the issuer or its employees during
the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
B A NIRRT RERBAHBEITASEEEREITEELENESHAR RES 9
B7.1 HEBIE RFFAMBR -
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing  Anti-corruption 97
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.
B A IEIR P S HE R R RIZ T - U RABBEBI T RER 5% o RER 97
B7.2
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors ~ Anti-corruption 96
and staff.
BASRAE RUE R ftAESE N8 TRENRESE - RER 9
B7.3
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI - HERERHRS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Page
Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1) Section number
TEHE  BE —REERBEEREBEZEMIE) E=3:1] =D/
Community
Fa
Aspect B8 Community Investment
[EHEB8 @&
General Policies on community engagement to understand the  Community 97-98
Disclosure needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to Investment
ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’
interests.
— BRI AL RSHERBEHRLSEMTHREENBEREERE HRIEE 97-98
e E AR NS BGR ©
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental ~ Community 97-98
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). Investment
R ERUER EIEREEB(INHE REFE HIH K @BF X HEEE 97-98
B8.1 it 87)-
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus Not Applicable There were no
area. resources
contributed
during the
Reporting
Period.
FARENIER EHEFEHISMEBAER(MEEER) o i A s HARE N
BS.2 TAETE
IR e
Note: M=t -
1. All general disclosures and KPIs under “Subject Area A. Environmental” 1. [HEBA BIE | R[HER 42 |18 NA—&KiE

and “Subject Area B. Social” are “comply or explain” provisions which
set out in the ESG Guide.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

i RVR A UCTE: S

s
pwec

To the Shareholders of GC Construction Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of GC Construction Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which
are set out on pages 117 to 195, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2023;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended,;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

R K E

ZGC Construction Holdings Limited i85
(REEREEMALNBRAE)

=R
BEMHEHFFAHAR

GC Construction Holdings Limited (LA T ES & [ &
RE D REMBARIATHRE E£E ) HIHN
FUTE1D5EMEGEEMBRE - B

o A2023F3A31HHGRAMBEIRE

s RAVBHRRME BRIZEFBER
HAOREEER -

EKMPNER

BMRE  ZEREYHERREBER ST
NEEMAKB BT BHRELEADEEMFEHR
BT BEH£EEMN2023F3A31HAGEA MR
LEBZEZBEFENGEMBRELMIAES
e WEBREB(RMENNNIEEREL A
bt o

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F, Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com

LTS AE G 7T ITHTEIT - Bk IR K T 2248
i | +852 2289 8888 - [HEL 1 +852 2810 9888 > www.pwchk.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
By HENRE

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
By ZHENHRE

RRETEE@®

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to revenue recognition on construction contracts.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition on construction contracts

Refer to Notes 4 (a) and 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, revenue from
construction contracts was approximately HK$541.6
million.

Revenue from construction contract is recognised over
the period of the contract by measuring the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation on the basis of the actual costs incurred by
the Group up to the year-end date as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each project.

Management’s estimation on the contract price from
variation orders and total budgeted cost is primarily
based on historical margin of similar projects (including
similar variation orders), management approved
budget and actual cost report prepared by internal
guantity surveyors for each project.

We focused on auditing revenue recognition on
construction contracts because the estimation of
contract price from variation orders and budgeted
cost is subject to estimation uncertainty. The inherent
risk in relation to this area is high due to subjectivity
of significant assumptions used and significant
judgements involved such as estimation on the total
budgeted cost and contract price from variation orders
requested by customers primarily based on historical
margin on variation orders.

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition on
construction contracts included:

e  Obtained an understanding of the Group’s internal
control and assessment process of revenue recognition
on construction contracts and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk
factors, such as subjectivity;

e  Evaluated and validated key internal control procedures
over revenue recognition on construction contracts
including management’s approval of project budgets;

e Checked, on a sample basis, the contract sum of each
project to its underlying contract;

e  Checked, on a sample basis, the historical margin of
the completed projects by comparing the estimated
cost and variation orders from the approved budget
against actual outcome to assess the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process;

. Tested, on a sample basis, the costs incurred during
the year ended 31 March 2023 and performed cut-
off testing, on a sample basis, by checking to the
underlying documents supporting these costs (including
invoices of material costs and subcontracting fees); and

e  Tested mathematical accuracy of the calculations of
contract revenue and stage of completion.

Based on our audit procedures performed, we found that
the assumptions and judgement adopted by management
in the revenue recognition of construction contracts were
supported by the evidence obtained.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
By HENRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BAERTHER O ERET FRTHENEES DR WAMER -

RREITER
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the GC Construction Holdings Limited 2023 Annual
Report (the “annual report”) other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We have obtained
some of the other information including management discussion
and analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. The remaining
other information, including corporate information, financial
highlights, chairman’s statement, biography of directors and senior
management, corporate governance report, report of the directors,
environmental, social and governance report, summary of financial
information and the other sections to be included in the annual
report, is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information
that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the
annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matters to the Audit
Committee and take appropriate action considering our legal rights
and obligations.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
By HENRE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
By ZHENHRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
By HENRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yuen Shin Fong.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEETHBRAR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z2023%F3 431 H1-F/E

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FAT
Revenue WA 5 541,648 456,432
Cost of services PR AR 7 (476,127) (398,744)
Gross profit EF 65,521 57,688
Other income E A A 6 18,743 592
Administrative expenses THAX 7 (20,605) (12,087)
Listing expenses WX (6,951) (7,642)
(Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment & 5 REWFHIBN A LB E
loss on trade receivables and contract CREEE),REEE
assets (o) 3.1(@a) (439) 360
Operating profit A 56,269 38,911
Finance income TSN 10 1,006 1
Finance costs BATER AN 10 (540) (140)
Finance income/(costs), net BN AR < (139),
Profit before income tax expense BRATS BB X AR 56,735 38,772
Income tax expense FrigBiFf X 11 (7,407) (7,478)
Profit and total comprehensive income 7~ B#H A EL FE%
for the year attributable to owners ARZEBAZE
of the Company 49,328 31,294
Earnings per share attributable to FUNGTE 2PN ]
owners of the Company BRER
Basic and diluted (expressed in HK cents BEAR R EE (AFARBL
per share) FIR) 12 5.7 4.2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FE IR R

As at 31 March 2023 R2023%F3H31H

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Plant and equipment B KA 14 3,113 1,702
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 328 820
Deposits B 18 - 173
3,441 2,695
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables g S rlEaE 18 53,704 27,183
Contract assets BHREE 19 196,845 130,272
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HAbFEUFIA - 1&& N8
S5 18 6,330 11,039
Amount due from immediate holding JEW B BRI A B RIE
company 25(d) 65 437
Short-term bank deposit 5L HAERTTIF K 20 50,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEY 20 47,942 27,546
354,886 196,477
Total assets BEHAE 358,327 199,172
EQUITY xS
Equity attributable to owners of the ARBEE AEGES
Company
Share capital N 21 10,000 390
Reserves e 296,750 142,066
Total equity Engs 306,750 - 142,456
118 GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT




As at 31 March 2023 R2023%3H31H

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EEMERIAR

2023 2022
20235 20224
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
BaE THT FEL
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 15 - 353
Deferred tax liabilities EEMIBEE 16 320 174
320 527
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B SN RIE 22 21,870 28,707
Accruals and other payables FEETE A K EoAth E T B 22 18,950 14,656
Amount due to a director BN—R%ESHE - 10,741
Contract liabilities EHEaE 19 3,076 887
Lease liabilities HEEE 15 353 510
Bank borrowings RITHER 23 5,634 -
Current income tax liabilities BIHAFR S B E 1,374 688
51,257 56,189
Total liabilities BE8E 51,577 56,716
Total equity and liabilities ERkEERAE 358,327 199,172

The consolidated financial statements on pages 117 to 195 were S 1172 195B MR A BRI A EF 102023
approved by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2023 and were  F6A27BHLETHUTEEREREE -
signed on its behalf.

Chan Kiu Sum Chan Wing Ping
BRAS R RR K
Director Director

2 2

BEM Y LA L AR A TS H R —&F )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

pey e B

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z2023%3 431 H1-F/E

Attributable to owners of the Company

ADEEEARES

Share
capital

B
HK$'000
T

(Note 21)
(BF=E21)

Share
premium
R ME
HK$'000
TAT

Retained
earnings
BERR
HK$'000
TET

Total
N
HK$'000
THT

Balance at 1 April 2021 R202154 A1 BB &R 390 - 110,772 111,162
Profit and total comprehensive FEHENREERALSE

income for the year - - 31,294 31,294
Balance at 31 March 2022 R2022F3 A31 BR& 54 390 - 142,066 142,456
Balance at 1 April 2022 R2022F4 A1 BR &5 390 - 142,066 142,456
Profit and total comprehensive income  &EE R & 2 E WA 58

for the year - - 49,328 49,328
Shares issued in the Initial Public RERAREE(EHARH

Offerings ("IPO") BE DETORG 2,500 122,500 - 125,000
Capitalisation issue of shares BB AL 2T 7,110 (7,110) = =
Share issuance costs PR B TR - (10,034) - (10,034)
Balance at 31 March 2023 1202393731 BB EH 10,000 105,356 191,394 306,750

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GRREHRER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z2023%F3 431 H1-F/E

2023 2022
20235 20224

HK$°000 HK$"000
TRT TAT

Cash flows from operating activities KETEHHABEESRE
Cash (used in)/generated from operations & &% (FiA),/

BT84 24(a) (33,660) 30,508

Income tax paid, net BT RLFE (6,575) (16,155)
Net cash (used in)/generated from KESEBN(FTA), TR
_operating activities . EFE CLZED) - 14,353
Cash flows from investing activities RETEFBRERE
Purchase of plant and equipment BEmWE L& 14 (2,542) (868)
Proceeds from disposal of plant and &SRR E KR TS R

equipment 8 -
Repayment from/(advance to) immediate M EEIZER A R

holding company B (B 372 (6)
Increase in short-term bank deposit 52 ERSRI T SRAE N (50,000) -
Finance income received [EALE RN = L
Net cash used in investing activities WERESAREFE (52,162) (873)

Cash flows from financing activities RMETEERERE

Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIERFTIFHIR 24(c) 19,100 -
Repayments of bank borrowings BERITER 24(c) (13,466) -
Decrease in pledged short-term bank 2R BRRITIF R

deposits 24(c) - 5,174
Payment for principal and interest of lease ~ FHEAEAR® &FI S5

liabilities 24(c) (537) (527)
Proceeds from issue of new shares BATHAR D P 5RIE 21(a) 125,000 -
Payment of listing expenses EREAR 24(c) (6,050) (1,930)
Finance cost paid BB SRR (513) (120)
Repayment to a director M—EZEFEXK 24(c) (10,741) (4,600)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing Eﬂﬁiﬁ@]ﬁﬁﬁ/(ﬁﬁﬁﬁ i)

activites ks D 112793 (2,003
Net increase in cash and cash HERBLSEEYEM

equivalents HE 20,396 11,477
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of ¥R & RIFEEEY

the year 27,546 16,069

Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRASRESEEY
the year 20 47,942 27,546

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — BEMIMI:TIEKZ G A BRI 20
financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

GC Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 28 April 2020 as an
exempted company with limited liability under Companies
Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company's registered office is 71 Fort Street, PO Box 500,
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1106, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are engaged in the provision of wet trades works to public or
private residential and commercial properties in Hong Kong.
The ultimate holding company of the Company is Evolve Billion
Limited (“Evolve Billion”). The ultimate controlling shareholders
of the Company are Mr. Chan Kiu Sum (“Mr. KS Chan”) and
Mr. Chan Wing Ping (“Mr. WP Chan").

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (“HKSE”) on 10 October
2022.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$'000"), unless otherwise
stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY
OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA™) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Company Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention.

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B I ERARMRE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #22023F3 /31 H 1 F/Z
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY
OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Certain comparative financial information has been
restated to conform with current year’s presentation.

(a) Relevant amendments to existing
standards, annual improvements and
guideline adopted by the Group
The following amended standards, annual
improvements and guideline are mandatory for the
first time for the financial year beginning 1 April

2022:
Annual Improvements Annual Improvements to
Project HKFRS Standards 2018-

2020 (Amendments)

Amendments to HKFRS 3,  Narrow-scope Amendments
HKAS 16 and HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent
Concessions beyond 2021

Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for
(Revised) Common Control
Combinations

The adoption of these amended standards,
annual improvements and guideline did not
result in any substantial change to the Group’s
accounting policies. The amended standards, annual
improvements and guideline listed above had
no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023%#3H31HIFF/E

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY 2 FHREEFDEASHBEHRE

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)
(continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 2.1 REEE @)

(b) New standards, amendments to existing (b) E #F il 82K & [F 15 E5 5 R
standards and interpretation that have 2022445 1HBRG1E#51B
been issued and are relevant to the FEHAENANBEEER
Group but not effective for the financial BRI FTETER - BEEAR
year beginning 1 April 2022 and have not CHES 2

been early adopted

Effective for
annual periods

beginning
on or after
R B sz
BB FEDR
B4
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 April 2023
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
EEEERB 1R RBEBNBE®R SeTHR 2 BE 2023FF4F1H
ELERNEBREFE25(EFTAR)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 April 2023
BB G ERIES (BRI A) GiHhET 2 EE 20234 F1H
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax related to Assets and Liabilities 1 April 2023

arising from a Single Transaction

R ERF12R(ERIA) HREE-RXZNEENAEERNETLNIA 2023F4R1H

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 April 2023
BRI EERIE175R &K 2023F4R1H
Amendments to HKFRS 17 Amendments to HKFRS 17 1 April 2023
%ﬁﬁfﬁ%ﬁ%téﬁﬁu% 75% EBEMBREERFE175R(ERTAR) 20234 H1H
=5
HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 — 1 April 2023
Comparative Information
BEBMBREERFE175R A ER BRI IMELERIE 175 N BB G,  2023F4H18
HAERNFE T — LLEE K
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non- 1 April 2024
current
HEEERIE 1R (ERTA) MEBFFERBBRE LD 20244711
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 April 2024
BB ERIE 1 (ERTA) MR EER BB & 20244711
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 April 2024
%ﬁﬁ?fﬁgg%ﬁﬁu% 655 ERERNEERE 202454 F1H
EH
HK Int5 (Revised) Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation 1 April 2024

of Financial Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayments on Demand Clause

EBREESREERT) ERREESR(ERT MIEHERER —ERAY 202494718
BHEREKERGRCEHER S
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between To be determined
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

BAMGREEL 105 RAFRRABERRNGERRRZAELER HET
EEGTERE28R(ERIA) 1E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY 2 FHREERDEASHHFEHRE

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New standards, amendments to existing

standards and interpretation that have
been issued and are relevant to the
Group but not effective for the financial
year beginning 1 April 2022 and have not
been early adopted (continued)
The directors of the Group are in the process of
assessing the financial impact of the adoption of the
above new standards, amendments to standards
and interpretation, and do not expect them to have
a material impact in the current or future reporting
periods and on foreseeable future transactions. The
directors of the Group will adopt the new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretation when
they become effective.

2.2 Subsidiaries
2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #22023F3 /31 H 1 F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY 2 FHREEFDEASHBEHRE

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

222 Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwvill.

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segment is reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors of the Group that
makes strategic decisions.

2.4 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial
statements of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements is presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY 2 FHREERDEASHHFEHRE

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.

2.5 Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the financial
year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their costs net of their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Office equipment and furniture 5 years
Machinery 3 years
Motor vehicles 3 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #22023F3 /31 H 1 F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.5 Plant and equipment (continued)

(&)

2.5

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.6).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

2.6 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date.

2.7 Financial assets

(a) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets as at
amortised cost only if both of the following criteria
are met:

(@) The asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows;
and

(b) The contractual terms give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and
interest.

Management determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition. The Group
reclassifies debt investments when and only when its
business model for managing the assets changes.

2.6

2.7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY
OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2.7 Financial assets (continued)

(a)

Classification (continued)

If collection of the amounts is expected in one year or
less they are classified as current assets. If not, they
are presented as non-current assets. The Company’s
and the Group’s financial assets comprise trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, amount
due from immediate holding company, short-term
bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents.

(b) Recognition and derecognition

(9]

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial asset carried at fair value through profit or
loss are expensed in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payments of
principal and interest.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in consolidated statement of comprehensive income
and presented in “other gains/(losses)”. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #22023F3 /31 H 1 F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY 2 FHREEFDEASHBEHRE

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
2.7 Financial assets (continued)
(d) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade and retention receivables, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

For other financial assets at amortised cost, including
deposits and other receivables, management
considers that their credit risks have not increased
significantly since initial recognition with reference to
the counterparty historical default rate and current
financial position. The impairment provision is
determined based on the 12-month expected credit
losses which is close to zero.

(e) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial assets, if the part
being considered for derecognition meets one of
the following conditions: (i) the contractual rights to
receive the cash flows from the financial asset expire;
or (ii) the contractual rights to receive the cash flows
of the financial asset have been transferred, and
the Group transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset; or (iii)
the Group retains the contractual rights to receive
the cash flows of the financial asset, but assumes a
contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to the
eventual recipient in an agreement that meets all
the conditions of de-recognition of transfer of cash
flows (“pass through” requirements) and transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY 2 FHREERDEASHHFEHRE

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
2.7 Financial assets (continued)

(e) Derecognition (continued)
Where a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety
meets the criteria for derecognition, the difference
between the two amounts below is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

—  the carrying amount of the financial asset
transferred; and

—  the sum of the consideration received from the
transfer and any cumulative gain or loss that
has been recognised directly in equity.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group continues
to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability.

2.8 Financial liabilities
(a) Recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities
at amortised cost. Financial liabilities at amortised
cost are recognised initially at fair value net of
transaction costs incurred and subsequently stated
at amortised cost. Any difference between proceeds
net of transaction costs and the redemption value
is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the period of the
financial liabilities using the effective interest
method.

Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities
if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities. Borrowings
are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #22023F3 /31 H 1 F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.8 Financial liabilities (continued)

(b) Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled
or expired. When an existing financial liability
is replaced by another from the same lender
on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified,
such as exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a
recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

2.9 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group has a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the company or the counterparty.

2.10 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. See Note 3.1(a)(ii) for a description of the
Group's impairment policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY
OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
2.11 Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration from customers in exchange for the provision
of wet trades works that the Group has transferred to the
customers that is not yet unconditional. Contract assets
arise when the Group has provided the wet trades works
and other wet trades related ancillary works under the
relevant contracts but the works have yet to be certified
by architects, quantity surveyors or other representatives
appointed by the customers and/or the Group's right to
payment is still conditional on factors other than passage
of time. Any amount previously recognised as a contract
asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point when
the Group’s right to payment becomes unconditional
other than passage of time.

In accordance with the terms of the contracts entered
into with customers, the Group is required to submit to
customers payment applications for the value of work
done under the contracts along with any variation orders
performed. Customers will settle normally in 14-60
days after certifying the monthly payment applications
based on their assessment of work done by the Group.
Customers usually retain an amount up to 10% of the
value of work done as retention money for the contract.
The terms and conditions in relation to the release of
retention vary from contract to contract, which is subject
to practical completion, the expiry of the defect liability
period and the discussion of final accounts.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment under the
same approach adopted for impairment assessment of
financial assets carried at amortised cost.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer the aforesaid services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call
with banks and bank deposits with original maturities of
three months or less, and bank overdrafts.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #22023F3 /31 H 1 F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.13 Share capital

2 WEEEREXRSTHEMRE

(&)

2.13 [ A&

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

2.14 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade payable are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

2.15 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the period-end
date.

2.16 Borrowing costs

General borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY
OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the year is the tax
payable on the current year’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable
to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and considers whether it
is probable that a taxation authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax
balances either based on the most likely amount or
the expected value, depending on which method
provides a better prediction of the resolution of the
uncertainty.

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #22023F3 /31 H 1 F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY 2 FHREEFDEASHBEHRE

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
2.17 Current and deferred income tax (continued)
(b) Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

2.18 Employee benefits
(a) Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) which is registered under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong Kong.
Both the Group and the staff are required to
contribute 5% of the employees’ relevant income
with a ceiling of HK$1,500 per month to the MPF
scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
in a separately administered fund. The Group's
contributions to the MPF scheme are expensed as
incurred.

The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contribution has been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when they
are due.

(b) Bonus
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for
where contractually obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY 2 FHREERDEASHHFEHRE

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
2.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.20 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for services rendered in the normal course of business.

If contracts involve the sale of multiple services, the
transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on their relative stand-alone selling
prices. If the stand-alone selling prices are not directly
observable, they are estimated based on expected cost
plus a margin or adjusted market assessment approach,
depending on the availability of observable information.

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the
good or service is transferred to the customer. Depending
on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply
to the contract, control of the good or service may be
transferred over time or at a point in time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #22023F3 /31 H 1 F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (continued)

Control of the good or service is transferred over time if
the Group’s performance:

e provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

. creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

e does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the asset. Specific criteria where revenue is recognised are
described below.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on one of
the following methods that best depict the Group’s
performance in satisfying the performance obligation:

e direct measurements of the value transferred by the
Group to the customer; or

e the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of the performance obligation relative to the total
expected efforts or inputs.

(a) Revenue from provision of wet trades
works
Revenue from provision of wet trades works is
recognised over time as the Group's performance
creates or enhances an asset or work in progress
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. The Group has applied the input method
in recognising the revenue from construction
contracts over time by reference to the Group's
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction on a performance
obligation (for example, subcontracting fees, cost of
materials and toolings) relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of the performance
obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY 2 FHREERDEASHHFEHRE

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
2.20 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a) Revenue from provision of wet trades
works (continued)
The payment terms differed for different customers
due to the variety of projects. Most of the payment is
payable according to the stage of construction with
credit term of 14-60 days. An amount up to 10% of
the value of work done is retained and recognised as
retention receivables, which would be paid after the
retention period expires. The Group does not intend
to give financing to customers and the Group makes
efforts to collect the receivables and timely monitor
the credit risk.

For construction contracts with fixed price, the
Group recognises the revenue in accordance with
the contract price on the basis of the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation. The Group considers the input method
better depicts the Group’s performance in
transferring control of services to its customers.

The Group accounts for a modification if the
customers to a contract approve a change in the
scope and/or the price of a contract. A contract
modification is approved when the modification
creates or changes the enforceable rights and
obligations of the customers to the contract. If the
customers have approved a change in scope but
have not yet determined the corresponding change
in price, the Group estimates the change to the
contract price as a variable consideration.

For construction contracts that contain variable
consideration such as variations in contract work,
the Group estimates the amount of consideration
to which it will be entitled using the expected
value method. The estimated amount of variable
consideration is included in the construction contract
only to the extent that it is highly probable that such
an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue
reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #22023F3 /31 H 1 F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY 2 FHREEFDEASHBEHRE

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
2.20 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a) Revenue from provision of wet trades
works (continued)
At the end of each reporting period, the Group
updates the estimated transaction price (including
updating its assessment of whether an estimate of
variable consideration is constrained) to represent
faithfully the circumstances present at the end of the
reporting period and the changes in circumstances
during the reporting period.

(b) Existence of significant financing
component
In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effects of the time value of money if the
timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customers or the Group with
a significant benefit of financing the transfer or
services to the customers. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing
component. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied
by the payment terms agreed by the parties of the
contracts.

Notwithstanding the above, a contract does not have
a significant financing component in circumstances
where payments are in accordance with the typical
payment terms of the relevant industry, which has a
primary purpose other than financing.

2.21 Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

e the profit attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares,

e by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY 2 FHREERDEASHHFEHRE
OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (810)

(continued)

2.21 Earnings per share (continued)

2.2 BRER @)

(b) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in
the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account:

e the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

e the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.22 Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Such determination is made on
an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement,
regardless of whether the arrangements take the legal
form of a lease.

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessee with
respect to certain premises and motor vehicles.

Leases are initially recognised as a right-of-use asset
and corresponding liability at the date of which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the asset’s estimated useful
life and the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #22023F3 /31 H 1 F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.22 Leases (continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payment that are based on an index or
a rate;

e amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option;

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that
option; and

e |ease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of lease liabilities.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined, or the
Group's incremental borrowing rate.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

e the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liabilities;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentive
received;

e any initial direct costs; and
e  restoration costs, if any.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis
as an expense. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise of
printers and photocopiers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY
OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
2.22 Leases (continued)

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based
on their relative stand-alone prices and accounts for
separately.

Some of the property leases include extension options.
These terms are used to maximise operational flexibility
in terms of managing contracts. The extension options
held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessor. The Group considers all facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive to
exercise an extension option in determining the lease
term. The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or
a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects
the assessment.

2.23 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders of the Company
is recognised as a liability in the consolidated and
company financial statements in the period in which the
dividends are approved by the shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

Dividend proposed or declared after the reporting period
but before the financial statements are authorised for
issue, are disclosed as a non-adjusting event and are not
recognised as liability at the end of the reporting period.

2.24 Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
part of other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #22023F3 /31 H 1 F/Z

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

2.25 Government grant

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised within “Other income” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate. Government grants relating to
property, plant and equipment are offset against the costs
of the related assets.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group's overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure
and the current operations of the Group, no hedging
activity is undertaken by management.

(a) Credit risk
(i) Risk management

The carrying amounts of cash and cash
equivalents, short-term bank deposits, trade
receivables, amount due from immediate
holding company, deposits and other
receivables and contract assets included in the
consolidated statement of financial position
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to its financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

B R R B B B ()
3.1 IERAKBEEZ@®
(a) EEER &)
(i) EEBREE#)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Risk management (continued)

Management considers the Group has limited
credit risk with its banks which are leading and
reputable and their external credit ratings are of
investment grades. Majority of bank balances
are deposited with reputable banks. The Group
has not incurred significant loss from non-
performance by these parties in the past and
management does not expect so in the future.

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group's
policy that all customers who wish to trade on
credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. The procedures focus on the
evaluations on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability
to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer, such as its financial
position, past experience and other factors, as
well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group is exposed to
concentration of credit risk on trade receivables
and contract assets from the Group’s five
largest customers amounting to approximately
HK$182,309,000 (2022: HK$116,384,000) and
accounted for approximately 73% (2022: 74%)
of the total trade receivables and contract assets
balance. The major customers of the Group
are reputable organisations and with good
repayment history. Management considers that
the credit risk is limited in this regard.

The Group's other financial assets at amortised
cost are considered to be low risk. Management
has closely monitored the credit qualities and
the collectability.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Impairment of assets

The Group has six types of assets that are
subject to the expected credit loss model:

e trade receivables;
e contract assets;

e other receivables at amortised cost;

e amount due from immediate holding
company;

e  cash and cash equivalents; and
e short-term bank deposits.

While cash and cash equivalents and short-
term bank deposits are also subject to the
impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial as
the relevant banks’ external credit ratings are of
investment grades.

Trade receivables and contract assets
The Group applies simplified approach
prescribed by HKFRS 9 to measuring expected
credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables and contract
assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables and contract assets are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due. The contract assets relate to
unbilled work in progress and have substantially
the same risk characteristics as the trade
receivables for the same types of contracts.
The Group has therefore concluded that the
expected loss rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation of the loss rates for
the contract assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BERBREREm
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 iRk EE @

(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) B &)
(i) Impairment of assets (continued) (i) EEHEE &)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(continued)

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of revenue over a period of
12 months before each reporting period end
and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within each reporting period. The
historical loss rates are also adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors (i.e. GDP and
employment rate) affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables.

Based on management assessment, the
provision for impairment of trade receivables
and contract assets as at 31 March 2023
is approximately HK$819,000 (2022:
HK$380,000).

On that basis, the loss allowance as at end
of each reporting period was determined as
follows for trade receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023%#3H31HIFF/E

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HERBEEm

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 iRk EE @)
(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EEERE &)
(i) Impairment of assets (continued) (i) ZEHE®E)
Trade receivables and contract assets ESRNFEREGHNEE
(continued) (&)
At 31 March 2023 7202343 H31H

Pastdue Pastdue
within 31 to 60

Trade receivables Current 30 days days
gy BN
B 5 WA BN 30KA EX{IPS

Gross carrying amount  BREI42{E

(HK$'000) (F#&T) 50,300 2,816 - 858 53,974
Expected credit EHEEE

loss rates Bx 0.3% 1.2% - 11.1%
Loss allowance BEES

(HK$'000) (F%7T) (140) (35) = (95) (270)

Net carrying amount  BRMEF(E
(HK$'000) (F#7T) 50,160 2,781 - 763 53,704

At 31 March 2022 202293 A31H

Past due Past due
within 31 to 60 Over

Trade receivables Current 30 days days 60 days
Ikl BHA31 Il
B S WA BEA 30KA 60K HER60K

Gross carrying amount  BRTEI4A{E

(HK$'000) (F#7T) 19,286 5,211 2,296 556 27,349
Expected credit BHREES

loss rates Bx 0.2% 0.5% 2.3% 10.3%
Loss allowance EIREE

(HK$'000) (F#7T) 31 (26) (52) (57) (166)

Net carrying amount  BREIH{E
(HK$'000) (F%7T) 19,255 5,185 2,244 499 27,183
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FO ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BIBEREE@m

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 B EkEEE @)
(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) B &)
(i) Impairment of assets (continued) (i) EEHEE &)
Trade receivables and contract assets EZRWFEREGHNEE
(continued) (&)

On a similar basis as above, the loss allowance
was determined as follows for contract assets.

EUHERE - AHEENE
BEEETENT -

As at 31 March

M3H31H
Contract assets 2023
EREE 20234
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRMEIZABE(TFET) 197,394 130,486
Expected credit loss rates TEEEEEEX 0.3% 0.2%
Loss allowance (HK$'000) EsiERE(FET) (549) (214)
Net carrying amount (HK$'000)  BRELFE(THIT) 196,845 130,272

The loss allowance provision for trade
receivables and contract assets reconciles to the
opening loss allowance for that provision as

BoRINFAERANEERN
EERE R EREZREND
VBB ER BRI T

follows:
Trade Contract
Contract assets NS assets Total
B S
EHEE MIE EHEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHIT FHIT
As at 1 April 2021 M202154H18 224 516 740
Reversal of impairment loss % [15 {E &5 18 (58) (302) (360)
As at 31 March 2022 and 720223 A31H X
1 April 2022 2022%4H1H 166 214 380
Provision for impairment  JE{ER 104 335 439
As at 31 March 2023 7202343 A31H 270 549 819

The Group also assessed the reasonableness of
the provision amount by making reference to
publicly available credit information about its
customers.

AEETER2EERER
M AR AT S5 A B BT 3

HBeHERRaRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z2023%3 431 H1-F/E

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Impairment of assets (continued)

Other receivables at amortised cost

Other receivables at amortised cost mainly
represents other receivables and deposits in
well-known companies. Management considers
that its credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition with reference to the
counterparty historical default rate and current
financial position. The impairment provision is
determined based on the 12-month expected
credit loss which is immaterial.

Amount due from immediate holding
company

The directors consider the credit risk on the
amount due from immediate holding company
is low as no default payment was noted.

(b) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Most of the income and expenditures of the
Group are denominated in HK$, being the
functional currency of the subsidiaries now
comprising the Group, and hence, the Group
does not have any material foreign exchange
risk exposure.

3 HERBREREm
3.1 iRk EE @)
(a) EERE &)

(i) ZEBE &)
BREBERATENEME
kg
W SR AN FT 2 M E Ab FE UL
HIEFEAEMEWGRIER
RN MEZATINER - &
BERE BYIHBRERIN
K 2BISGEFHELIE
HER RN - Bfz
BRI AREZIZN o BE
BEEN12EAEREES
BET  BTEK-

BYREEZERARRE

EERARREERERAR
RENEERBRRE - I?%
WEmBEIRIER AT -

(b) 5 E R
(i) SMEREE
AEBABHRARLH
BB T (BIREAR A EE
MK B A R BT AL E ) 5T
18 - FEtk - R EEY S
BEARINERK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

BREREE @
3.1 B E R E @
(b) THREE &)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Market risk (continued)

(i) Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from short-
term bank deposit, cash at banks and bank
borrowings. Bank borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk which is partially offset by the bank
deposits. The interest rate profile of short-term
bank deposit and bank borrowings are disclosed
in Note 20 and Note 23 respectively. The bank
deposits generate interest at the prevailing
market interest rates.

At 31 March 2023, if interest rates had been
50 basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s post-
tax profit for the year t H hen ended would
have been approximately HK$385,000 (2022:
HK$115,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of
higher/lower interest income on cash at banks.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to
meet its obligations when they fall due, resulting
from amount and maturity mismatches of assets and
liabilities.

The Group employs projected cash flow analysis to
manage liquidity risk by forecasting the amount of
cash required and monitoring the Group's working
capital to ensure that all liabilities due and known
funding requirements could be met. In order to meet
their liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders and drawdown available bank
facilities. Further, management performs monthly
review of receivables and payables ageing analysis
to ensure the Group is able to maintain sufficient
financial resources to meet its liquidity requirements
and to follow up on any overdue balances.

2022/23 3R o

(i) BE£HREFZRE

N2 B /0 FI) R [ BR OR B A2 HB
IRITFR - IRITIRE RIRTT
B3 - UFENFIREEITAVR
TEFEAEERRIRSR
EFREAR - ZEBID W
RITIFRATIKREY o RHAERTT
TF R R AR TTHE FRE R R A5
BRI EE20 R 5E 233 4%
5 o RITFFUABRITI ST
REEHR B o

M2023%3H318 » filF =
EFTRHSOEES W
FTE Bt &Sz T - 8
REBHEZBIEFEDN
B B 18 i B HE 1L 00T B
#9385,0007% 7T (2022 %F -
115,000%70) * IEEHRN
RITIR S W F B I AR,
TFEFTER ©

(o) TErtmmE
mEERREEANEERBEN
TRLHAR AT MEHAE
B2 RS EOXEITH R AR

B o

AEBRBEANRSREDN
E - RBERMEReEWEE
AEENEEESREER M
[\ - SAHER BE S & AT 2
BEBMDHNESHFL - BiHE
R EHNRBESFR K
SEARHBNTERRORE S
NIRRT AHIRITE R © It
Sh - EIEES ARHEYGER
FERSRIREBREC D AT - PAREER AR
SEENER TR B ERM T
HRBESHR - ARBREEMA
BERAEER o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z2023%3 431 H1-F/E

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HERBREREm
3.1 B ERREE @)
(c) TEMEEE &)
TEREAUBRREABEL
495 H B 9B T RS 5 s 22
SRBESITAEBEIBAR -
ERAFEBNSEAA K

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below analyses the financial liabilities of
the Group into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the date of the consolidated
statement of financial position to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
the contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interests payments computed using contractual
rates, or if floating, based on the current rates at
the period-end date). Where the loan agreement
contains a repayable on demand clause which gives
the lender the unconditional right to call the loan
at any time, the amounts repayable are classified
in the earliest time bracket in which the lender
could demand repayment. The maturity analysis for
remaining financial liabilities is prepared based on
the scheduled repayment dates.

As at 31 March 2023

BEIRIR
% R -

N}
L E

(BREEREHOFN
AIER B RH

BRITHERFAENFIEAF) © fi
BT B RERERNK

o

Eo
ZS N

BT E AR

[ A] S AR 1 1 B MR B SR B A R -
AIEEENSEHEATRAR
ZREFNRPHR - BT E
BENIEBBES T HREBIE
HHHRE -

R2023563H31H

On Within Over

demand 1 year 1 year Total

RER 1R HIB1E et

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FExT FExT FExT

Trade payables B S IR - 21,870 - 21,870
Accruals and other FEETER R EAM

payables FEIS IR - 15,984 = 15,984

Lease and interest

payments HERF SR = 358 = 358

Bank borrowings RITENR 5,634 = - 5,634

5,634 38,212 - 43,846
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BIBEREE@m

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BiEREE @
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) #EEREEE &)
As at 31 March 2022 202243 H31H
On Within Over
demand 1 year 1 year Total
REX 1R B 1F wmEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHIT FHIT FHIT
Trade payables B S IR - 28,707 - 28,707
Accruals and other FEET B A R EAthfE
payables 5RIE - 11,943 - 11,943
Amount due to a director Eff —REEFHIE 10,741 - - 10,741
Lease and interest
payments HERFERTK - 537 358 895
10,741 41,187 358 52,286
The table below summarises the maturity analysis TREMBE SRR AAED
of bank borrowings of the Group with a repayment BEFEERMBEIRERKER
on demand clause based on agreed scheduled BAREBERITERELAZIEE
repayments set out in the loan agreements. The D ZESBEBIEEAE LN
amounts include interest payments computed EHEOF BT - At - 1E
using contractual rates. As a result, these amounts SES N ERTEEEB ST
were greater than the amounts disclosed in the [RZ2R | —HREN S -

“on demand” time band in the maturity analysis
contained in the above table.

Within 1 year

151

HK$'000

T

As at 31 March 2023 202393 A31H 5,727
As at 31 March 2022 20223 A31H -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z2023%3 431 H1-F/E

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HERBREREm

3.2 Capital risk management 3.2 EXEBER
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to TEEEEEARKN B RIHEASE
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as going concern EHRENFEEE - LLARRIREE
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits BERAHMAZZOERMERN - 1
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital HERFEICNERERE - KMRDER
structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Group mainly A - REBEFEZBERBRANBHEE
uses equity to finance its operations. In order to maintain RHTEED -  REFAFAEERRE
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the AEBEAEERABRRNTFTRENRKRE
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital SR MREREBER - BITHRG
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce FHEEEUNFPEBXREIES
debt or repay borrowings when cash received from non- R EREIR CREREGER It
trade receivables. Also, the Group continues to monitor Ih - REBIEEE R R EEEMN
and maintain the sufficiency of banking facilities for its EHRITEERE ©
operations.
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors HEARAHMAT B ~AEEREE
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is EBELREREER - R RZE
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt TFERNE RN RBETE - BEFFE
is calculated as total borrowings and lease liabilities less REFBERHEBGERAS KRS
cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank deposits. ZEMUARBEBRITTERE - EX
Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the REIRIR A W AR R R A 2
consolidated statement of financial position, plus net SINERFEETE -
debt.
The gearing ratio were as follows: BEABHENT :
As at 31 March
38318
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$’000
FTHET FAT
Bank borrowings HRITIERK 23 5,634 -
Lease liabilities HEaE 15(b) 353 863
Amount due to a director B —REERIE 25(e) - 10,741
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and & : 38& RIREHEY
short-term bank deposits LA 58 HRSR 1T
T2 20 (97,942) (27,546)
Net cash e FR (91,955) (15,942)
Total equity RS 4BRE 306,750 142,456
Total capital BBER 214,795 126,514
Gearing ratio BEBEALE N/ATE A N/A7T 3 F
The gearing ratio is N/A because the Group is in a net BERAEEHRGRSTE  WEESB
cash position. BRI T EA o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BIBEREE@m

3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 A¥EME

The different levels of financial instruments carried at fair BAFEFENER T AN TRRR

value have been defined as follows: REWMOT :

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for o RBEENBENEERMSEZ®R
identical assets or liabilities (level 1). BOCREAZRE) (B4 -

e Inputs other than quoted prices included within level o WEHEBEBAMEAEBR)IMEE(AD
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either HEBGSL)BRINEESE
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived B ABIE (F 1R RN RER
from prices) (level 2). N (BB24%) »

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on o TERABERMBEBEMNEELN
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) BERASEITABREA
(level 3). HE) (FE34) °

The carrying value of the Group’s financial assets and BRNZESR T ANHEERITE -

liabilities are reasonable approximation to their fair values rEEEREENRBENRAEGE

due to the relatively short-term nature of these financial HET R B QA o

instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023%#3H31HIFF/E

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities
The following table presents the recognised financial
instruments that are offset.

Gross
amounts

ReHE
HK$'000
TR

As at 31 March 2023 202343 A31H

3 HERBEEm
34 KEERMEERSREE

Gross
amounts set
off in the
consolidated
statement
of financial
position
REMBERR
R
wewm
HK$'000
FA&T

TREJEEEHENECEREHTA -

Net amounts
presented

in the
consolidated
statement
of financial
position
FEBHEMRR
RPZHH
RE

HK$'000
AT

Financial assets TRIEE
Other receivables, deposits and ~ EAbEUGIE « &

prepayments NI RFRIA 20,048 (13,718) 6,330
Financial liabilities TRIBE
Trade payables =) ANE e 35,588 (13,718) 21,870
As at 31 March 2022 7202293 H31H
Financial assets TREEE
Other receivables, deposits and ~ EAbEUWGRIE « E&

prepayments K FEfFRIE 18,188 (6,976) 11,212
Financial liabilities TRIBE
Trade payables E FENFIE 35,683 (6,976) 28,707
Note: As at 31 March 2023, other receivables from MEE : 202343 A31H © REAREE

HERPHANNENBENE
PEARITEED - YD BED
Ht A (A EEERAEENT
BT ANBHRAR)ERER—5
BRENE RN ORI (2022
F AR -

subcontractors which represents labour costs of site
workers directly settled by the Group, are offset against
trade payables to the same subcontractor pursuant
to the Group’s contracts with its customers and
arrangements with subcontractors, as well as industry
practice (2022: same).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue according to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of performance obligation
of the individual contract of wet trade works. The
progress is determined by the aggregated cost for the
individual performance obligation incurred at the end
of the reporting period compared with the estimated
budgeted cost. Management’'s estimation of the cost
incurred to date and the budgeted cost is primarily based
on construction contract budget and actual cost report
prepared by internal quantity surveyors, where applicable.
Corresponding revenue from contract work is also
estimated by management based on the progress and
estimated revenue which contains variable consideration.
Because of the nature of the activities undertaken in the
construction contracts, the date at which the contract
activity is entered into and the date when the activity is
completed usually fall into different accounting periods.
The Group regularly reviews and revises the estimation
of both transaction price and contract cost in the budget
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the
progress of performance, total contract costs and
value of variation work which may have an impact on
percentage of completion of the construction contracts
and the contract revenue and profit to be recognised
in an accounting period. In addition, actual outcome in
terms of total revenue or costs may be higher or lower
than estimation at the end of the reporting period, which
would affect the revenue and profit recognised in future
years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

2022/23 iR

4 BARSEHhE RAE

fEr RH G S FEETHG - LREBE
Rk HEMEAZMEL - BRESRRENS
LR R ERBBEL TRAEMTRY -

Z!»"*leiX{’Eﬁﬁﬁ&{E““ ° 1
& BiEAERROGERBERS
—@Z EE?&HEA%@UEQTf ﬁl
MEERBBENRAEFDENRAE
FH R BRERP T XAt

>|-
%i’t)

(a) WAFERR

AEERBET2EKRBENEKIREA
HBEOEEHEEEREA - B
EERENBOEENREHRELS
E’J£")ﬂ2$éﬁi1ﬁiﬁﬁi*"}ﬁ$2tt1ﬂ%
E o BEEHESEEERAREER
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RENEEANEERBERKARE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #22023F3 /31 H 1 F/Z

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)
(b) Impairment of trade receivables and

(9]

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e

contract assets

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to determine
whether trade receivables and contract assets are
impaired. Significant judgement is exercised on the
assessment of the risk of default and expected credit
losses from each customer. In making the judgement,
management considers a wide range of factors such
as results of follow-up procedures, customer payment
trends including subsequent payments, customers’
financial positions and expected future change of credit
risks, including consideration of factors such as general
economy measure, changes in macro-economic indicators,
etc. Details of assumptions and inputs used are discussed
in Note 3.1(a)(ii).

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong.
Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in
the period in which such determination is made.

4 BEESTHEERHE @

(b) EZEUFERENEERE

(0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FO ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5

The executive directors are identified as the chief operating
decision makers of the Group who review the Group's
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources.

The Group's revenue is derived from provision of wet trades
works in Hong Kong and accordingly, there is only one single

operating segment for the Group under HKFRS 8.

(a) Revenue

Wet trades work JeK TR

LN -
HOTEFRREAAEEIBLELRE
% o BERBRAREADRE AR
BRABAR -

AEBHBAKARERBRHENRKT
2 FEl - RIEFRAWHHREERFHR
AEBEE—EEFNEEDE -

(@) WA

Year ended 31 March
BZ3A318ILEE
2023 2022

20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T

541,648 456,432

All of the Group's revenue is recognised over time.

(b) Revenue from major customers

Revenue individually generated from the following
customers contributed more than 10% of the total
revenue of the Group:

Customer 1 B
Customer 2 B2
Customer 3 EF3
Customer 4 EP4
Customer 5 ®F5

RE B P A KU A I — BB ] A e

=7
o

(b) REEXEEFHHBA

UTEFREREENBABRERR
WABRI10%IA L -

Year ended 31 March

HBZE3AMBLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET F#T
128,942 59,012
74,414 70,820
65,004 154,236
60,602 N/ATN 3 A *
58,049 N/ATN 3 R *

* Represent less than 10% of revenue for the respective year.

All of the Group's revenue are generated in Hong Kong.

2022/23 iR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z2023%3 431 H1-F/E

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WAKRZEHER @

(continued)

(c) Segment assets and liabilities (c) "HEERERE
The Group monitors its total assets and liabilities centrally REERE-KENHERERESR
in one single operating segment. All of the Group's non- ERBE - AEEMAFERBEEY
current assets are located in Hong Kong. IRES o

(d) Revenue recognised in relation to contract (d) MENEBERPWA
liabilities
The following table shows the revenue recognised related TRINTHAHES B ERRBWA -

to carried-forward contract liabilities.

Year ended 31 March
BZE3A3MBLEE
2023 2022

20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHT T

Revenue recognised that was included in ~ FFAFHE N B EEHIE

the contract liability balance at the HERWA

beginning of the year

— Wet trades works — BRI HE 887 1,804

(e) Unsatisfied long-term construction (e) REBETRHIBESY

contracts
The following table shows unsatisfied performance TRINTRPEEGHMEENRE
obligations resulting from long-term construction TRHEME -
contracts.

Year ended 31 March
M3H31A
2023 2022

20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T

Aggregate amount of the transaction price N FRDEEARBITRIEEZE
allocated to long-term construction HENNR HERERE
contracts that are unsatisfied as at year
ended 621,476 758,063
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARZEHER @

(continued)

(e) Unsatisfied long-term construction (e) RBITRHBESN @)
contracts (continued)
Management expects that the transaction prices regarding EREESN  REREBERETED
the unsatisfied contracts at the end of year will be HRZSEBRESEUATRERERR
recognised as revenue by referencing to the schedule NS
below:

As at 31 March

HM3H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Within 1 year 1R 442,790 468,135
Over 1 year HBid1F 178,686 289,928
621,476 758,063
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023%#3H31HIFF/E

6 OTHER INCOME 6 HMKA
Year ended 31 March
BE3A3MBALFE
2023 2022
2023F 20224
HK$°000 HK$’000
TFEIT FAT

Employment Support Scheme (Note a) R EI(M5Ea) 18,296 -

Youth Employment and Training Programme 5 F 2 & 5231512 (Mf5Eb)

(Note b) 408 591

Other Hth 39 1

18,743 592

Notes: B & -

(@) Amount represents wage subsidy granted under Employment (@) ZeBERENENEESE MRS
Support Scheme of the Anti-Epidemic Fund. Subsidies are offered BB ITERR - BERERNEENLAHE
to employers who have employed regular employees and paid X FRE S K& = IR AL - 722022
MPF for them. Wage subsidies were granted to the Group for the FSAFE20202F7AHHE  AEEEETE
use of paying wages and MPF of regular employees from May e AU EREETENAES -
2022 to July 2022.

(b) Amount represents wage subsidy granted under Youth (b) ZemERESFREREIGE(ESF
Employment and Training Programme (“YETP"). Funds are BERIFIETE ) B TEER, - K&
granted to the Group for employing trainees under the YETP. The B R R B E F R IR IET 8l 2
Group is entitled to HK$1,500 salary allowance per month for AB AEEEREBBER—BXIAE
each trainee employed (2022: same). A ] B E1,5007% 7T /Y B & 2 8k (2022

F:ABR) -
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e B IR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

7 EXPENSES BY NATURE 7 RMBEEINEX
Year ended 31 March
BZE3A31ALEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$’000
FTHET T
Cost of materials and toolings MR TARAR 45,384 32,876
Subcontracting fees SBEER 377,293 332,920
Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ £ B@8H X (RIZEEME)
remuneration) (Note 8) (Ht5x8) 39,204 32,583
Auditor’s remuneration — audit services ZE AN & — BAZRTS 2,000 220
Depreciation of plant and equipment (Note 14) iR K& & #HE (FizE14) 1,131 824
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15)  {# R4 EEHTE (FizE15) 492 493
Expense relating to short-term leases (Note 15) 252 HifA & AR
(M&E15) 5,170 2,364
Insurance IRBe2 477 416
Repair and maintenance ACYSF 884 372
Entertainment expenses A 2 2,712 785
Consultation services A ARTS 438 260
Legal and professional fees EEREEER 1,107 1,192
Motor vehicles expenses B 609 526
Other expenses HAbkx 19,831 5,000
Total cost of services and administrative ARG PR AN R AT IR P S 4888
expenses 496,732 410,831
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023%#3H31HIFF/E

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 8 EEGMMX(EIFTESEE)
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION)

Year ended 31 March
BZE3A31MHILLEFE
2023 2022

20235 20226
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T

Salaries, wages, bonuses and other welfare e IE - e kEAM

and allowances B MR, 37,857 31,279
Pension costs — defined contribution plan RIS R — EREHEGTHE 1,347 1,304
39,204 32,583

Representing: B
Cost of services &R 26,992 24,858
Administrative expenses THAX 12,212 7,725
39,204 32,583
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 EEEINERFZ

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM2
The remuneration of each director paid/payable for each HZE2022F K2023F3A31HIEFE
of the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023 were set out EF BN/ ENSESEMESIM
below: T
For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE2023F3A31HILLEE

Employer's

contribution

toa

Allowance retirement

Discretionary  and benefits benefit

Name of directors Fees Salaries [ T3 in kind scheme Total
ERR BEIpBHEH

35 fé e RisAL ENEN RS gt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

ThAR TAR ThAT TAT ThAT TEn

FBrecutive director and chief HIEEERBIR
executive: AE:
Mr. KS Chan REALE - 2671 2276 - 18 4,965
Brecutie director: HIEE .
Mr. WP Chan RkFas - 888 607 - 18 1513

Independent non-executive BUFHEE

directors;
Dr. Huang Hong EBT 90 - = - - 90
Mr. Yu Chi Wing Fisss 90 - - _ _ 90
Dr. LoKi Chiu EfsIEL 90 - - - - 90
Total a5 270 3,559 2883 - 36 6,748
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023%#3H31HIFF/E

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 EEFEFE Az @)
(continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2022

(a) EEM L@
HE2022F3831BILFE

Employer's
contribution
foa
Allowance retirement
Discretionary ~ and benefits benefit
Name of directors Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme Total
EEE e i Migha ERA Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr B ThrL Thn Thn
Brecutie divector and chief HTEERZAN
executive: A&
Mr.KS Chan BRERLE - 2,400 200 - 18 2618
Erecutive director: HiTEE:
Mr. WP Chan BikFrE - 645 55 - 18 718
Total f23f - 3005 255 - 3% 333
The remunerations shown above represent remunerations FlEMIEZEEEUNEERLTEE
received from the Group by these directors in their EBESHBAREBWEAEH - ©
capacity as employees to the Group and no directors AEFELBEFRETMIE (2022
waived any emoluments during the year (2022: Nil). FmE) o
(b) Directors’ termination benefits (b) EEEBER
No payment was made to the directors as compensation RAFE  ERES A ERRIE
for the early termination of the appointment during the ERIRFRIEZERNRHE(20224F -
year (2022: Nil). ) o
(c) Consideration provided to third parties for () RRERHESHRBOE=FX
making available directors’ services WAE
No payment was made to the former employer of the RAFEE  BERNEENITFREES
directors for making available the services of them as a NAEMFIE  SBREUFREEESD
director of the Group during the year (2022: Nil). FIE MRS (2022F « £) o
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e R ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(continued)
(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans

(e)

(f)

and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors during the year
(2022: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Other than those disclosed in Note 25, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Group was a party and
in which directors of the Group had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of each
of the four years or at any time during the year (2022:
Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

For each of the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022,
the five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group include the two (2022: two) directors, whose
emoluments were reflected in Note 9(a). The emoluments
paid to the remaining three (2022: three) individuals are as
follows:

9 EEFEARFZH@

(d) FRUESE  BHERESEZEH

(e)

(f)

MEZBREAFEECERR
E@mAZER EERRHEAM
REZER

RAFE HENES HAHES
ZHREE L BEEHECERS

RHRAZER - EERREMKI S
(2022 : &) -

EENRS  REIEHNHH
BEARER

MM 25T B E N - AEE B E
FIVEAEEESEBEAAERES
REFBEEEEIEEEAERS 2R
Y 4F & = B R sl A F 8 IR fal B
BMIARTFENEARS « THERAY
(20224 : 4&;) -

TERETFMAL

HE2023F K2022F3A31HIEFE
EZF  AEENRAZERSTHMALS
BIEIE2H (20220 : 2B)EE » &
LM e RN )R - R T35
(20224 : 3%) ALHIBHE DRI T -

Year ended 31 March

BZE3H31BLEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FETT
Salaries and wages HehIE&E 1,839 1,824
Bonuses TE4T 576 219
Pension costs — defined contribution plan  RRE A — FaMHEZETE 54 54
Other welfare and allowances E A AR A o2 Ak = -
2,469 2,097

2022/23 3R o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023%#3H31HIFF/E

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 EEFEFNNFZH@m

(continued)

(f) Five highest paid individuals (continued) (f) ZEBEEHFMA L@
The emoluments of above individuals are within the Ft AL E TIER AT EE :

following bands:

Year ended 31 March

BZE3A31BLEFE
2023 2022
2023F 20224F
Emoluments band i &6 =
Within HK$ 1,000,000 {K#1,000,00078 7T 3 3
No incentive payment for joining the Group or RAFE  BERTANAZ &S
compensation for loss of office was paid or payable to any AT ENRIBERMAREH
of the five highest paid individuals during the year (2022: RIS SRR BE M (B (20226F « 48]) -
Nil).
10 FINANCE INCOME/(COSTS), NET 10 BHEWA(FA)FHE
Year ended 31 March
BZE3A31BLEFE
2023 2022
2023F 20224F
HK$°000 HK$’000
TR T
Finance income: 207 T ONE
— Interest income from bank deposits —RERITEFBOFEMA 1,006 1
Finance costs: BT ARR
— Interest expense on borrowings —([ERF B (513) (120)
— Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 15) —fHE&BEHNF B
(M¥E15) (27 (20)
e B8O (140)
Finance income/(costs), net BIRSA (RAR) 58 466 (139)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

11 FBHiMYX

Year ended 31 March

BZ3A318ILEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET T
Current income tax BIHAFTIS 7,261 7,480
Deferred income tax (Note 16) FEIEATSTE(HI5E16) 146 )
7,407 7,478

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the BVI-incorporated
subsidiaries are not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and the BVI (2022: same).

The Group's subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are subject
to Hong Kong profits tax. Hong Kong profits tax is calculated
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits during the year
(2022: 16.5%), except for one entity that is qualified under the
two-tiered profits tax rate regime, under which the first HK$2.0
million of its assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the
remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.

RBRERS LABELRS((EBEL
BREDMRARAR  REBRAESE
R ST A0 B ) 13 B B P 2 BE B
5B 0 2B S O E 1 P48 B4 (2022%F 48
) -

AEBRBEBFME LN BRI A
MEBFGH - RAFE - BEFNESH
TR 5 5T FE AR B i F H9 16.5% (2022 F -
165% )5t E - E—EZEBHTEFEHH
EH - BHEERBEFNE2088E T
THIE8.25%FTE + M #R T FE R BE 7 A%
16.5%51 & °

Year ended 31 March

BZE3A31BLEFE
2023 2022
2023F 20224F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR T
Profit before income tax B FT1S TR & A 56,735 38,772
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable  #Z3E AR E B A 2 B AH =R
to profits in Hong Kong STECHIE 9,196 6,232
Tax effects of: NTEIE MR
Income not subject to tax AR YA (3,025) (98)
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose AT 1,240 1,291
Under-provision in prior year BEFEREDE 8 73
Tax concession IR R (12) (20)
Income tax expense FriSfif 7,407 7,478
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z2023%3 431 H1-F/E

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE 12

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The weighted average number of shares in issue for the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 for the purpose of earnings
per share computation has been retrospectively adjusted
for the effect of the 711,000,000 shares issued under the
capitalisation issue on 10 October 2022.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company
(HK$'000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue ("000)

Basic earnings per share (in HK cents)

(F#&7T)

(TR
FRERBNGE)

AREHEA AEIE T

BRER
FREXRBNIRARRIHEE ARG RF
FRIARFREERITEBRIME RS -

METEERERNMS - #E22023F %2022
F3IA31BIEFEME EITRMD NEFY
O HIR2022F10 A 10 R IBE (L3517
MEL1TAI711,000,0000% BRI Y B2 B 4E 1T 18
WA o

Year ended 31 March
BZ3A318ILEE

2023
20234

2022
20224

ERITE BB S2

49,328 31,294
868,493 750,000
5.7 4.2

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2023
were the same as the basic earnings per share as there was no
dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during the year
(2022: same).

13 DIVIDEND 13

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company for the
year (2022: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

14 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 BERRXRE

Office
equipment
and Motor
furniture Machinery vehicles Total
MARBERER e RE @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTAT FHT FHT FAT
At April 2021 M2021F4A1H
Cost D% 740 3,651 1,513 5,904
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (426) (2,742) (1,078) (4,246)
Net book amount REFE 314 909 435 1,658
Year ended 31 March 2022 EZ2022F3HA31H
HFE
Opening net book amount FYRmFE 314 909 435 1,658
Addition for the year FRRE 95 773 - 868
Depreciation charge (Note 7) WEZH (HEE7) (140) (542) (142) (824)
Closing net book amount FREEEFE 269 1,140 293 1,702
At 31 March 2022 and RN202263A318 K
1 April 2022 20224H81H
Cost D% 835 4,209 1,513 6,557
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (566) (3,069) (1,220) (4,855)
Net book amount REFE 269 1,140 293 1,702
Year ended 31 March 2023 EZ2023F3H31H
LEE
Opening net book amount FREFE 269 1,140 293 1,702
Addition for the year FARE 46 2,11 385 2,542
Depreciation charge (Note 7) e H(HE7) (144) (795) (192) (1,131)
Closing net book amount FARIREFE 171 2,456 486 3,113
At 31 March 2023 M202363A31H
Cost jB#N 881 6,222 1,521 8,624
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (710) (3,766) (1,035) (5,511)
Net book amount REFE 171 2,456 486 3,113

2022/23 iR

e GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023%#3H31HIFF/E

14 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 14 BEKZE@®

Depreciation of the Group’s plant and equipment are REEME MBREITETERNT
recognised as follows:

Year ended 31 March

BZE3A31ALEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FBIT
Cost of services BRFS AR 795 541
Administrative expenses THAX 336 283
Depreciation charge for the year FRTEER 1,131 824
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

15 LEASES 15 #HE&
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EAREEE

Leased
premises

HEY=
HK$'000
TAT

At 1 April 2021

20214818

Cost %N 2,535
Accumulated depreciation REtTE (2,207)
Net book amount REVFE 328
Year ended 31 March 2022 BZE2022F3A31BLLFE

Opening net book amount FHREFE 328
Inception of lease contracts HES XL 985
Depreciation charge (Note 7) FE L (HEE7) (493)
Closing net book amount FRIEMFAE 820
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 720223 H31HK%20226481H8

Cost %N 985
Accumulated depreciation REtTE (165)
Net book amount REFE 820
Year ended 31 March 2023 BZE2023F3A31BLFE

Opening net book amount FHREFE 820
Depreciation charge (Note 7) FE L (HEE7) (492)
Closing net book amount FRIEMFAE 328
At 31 March 2023 7A202343H31H

Cost %N 985
Accumulated depreciation REtTE (657)
Net book amount REFE 328
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023%#3H31HIFF/E

15 LEASES (continued) 15 HEmw
(a) Right-of-use assets (continued) (a) FAREE®
The right-of-use assets represent the Group's rights to use EAEEEERASERBEEELZHER
underlying motor vehicles and leased premises under lease HE3ZAFNEARAAEREEY
arrangements over the lease terms from 3 to 4 years. R - ZEHEAREETIRKAE
They are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and BRFTHTE R RFDRERETIE
accumulated impairment losses.
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEARE
As at 31 March
MA3A31A
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Current portion BN 353 510
Non-current portion FEMENEL S = 353
353 863
As at 31 March 2023, the interest rate of each lease MR2023F3A318  EHEADHF
contracts is fixed at its contract date, and the interest RREAYWBHETE  FIEHEEARE
rate of all the lease liabilities was 4.3% (2022: 4.3%) per Y ER R BA4.3% (20224 :14.3%) °
annum.
The total cash outflows for leases including payments of RAFENHEERSRLRE(RER
short-term leases, lease liabilities and payments of interest HHENR HEBEBEXHEERNEH
expenses on leases for the year were approximately S 4955,707,00078 7T (20224 -
HK$5,707,000 (2022: HK$2,891,000). 2,891,000/ 7T) °
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e B IR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

15 LEASES (continued) 15 #HEw)

(c) Amount recognised in the consolidated () REBGEZTHBWARERNSEE
statement of comprehensive income

Year ended 31 March

BZ3A31HLFE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Depreciation of right-of-use assets as FATTHRASZHEAREE
included in administrative expenses e 492 493

Interest expenses on lease liabilities for the FRAE A EH B
year (Note 10) (FfFzE10) 27 20

Expenses relating to short-term leases B HEEF AR (GTA
(included in cost of services) (Note 7) BRAEACA) (M 5E7) 5,170 2,364
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RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023%#3H31HIFF/E

16 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current income
tax recoverable against current income tax liabilities and when
the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income
tax levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable
entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention
to settle the balances on a net basis. The offset amounts are as
follows:

16 ELFEHER

B B ATE A 98 I Bh 1T HE A A AT U [l BV ER PR
SRERSAEREERELBELEME
B B N B {5 B A — T 75 M R ot % B SR A
BRI TFAERNERBUWH ST E R
HEAERBIFREESTEHRE - 8
HEHBELEMENEERAE - HESBAW
™

As at 31 March

MA3A31H
2023 2022

20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHT T

Deferred income tax liabilities, net

EXEFTSHAE - F58

320 174

The movements in deferred income tax liabilities, without
taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the
same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

At 1 April 2021

AT REMERRAERANEHEELR - R
EFSHAENESHINT -

Accelerated
tax
depreciation

EBIRITE
HK$'000
TAT

R2021F4 /18 176

Credited to the consolidated statement of comprehensive st A%RA 2ERAEK

income (2)
At 31 March 2022 20223 A31H 174
At 1 April 2022 R2022%F4 818 174

Charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive 7474 2 HEUWR AR X 85

income

146

At 31 March 2023

7202343 A31H 320

As at 31 March 2023, there is no significant unrecognised
deferred tax for the Group (2022: same).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 17 RENEsHEm TR

As at 31 March
M3H31A
2023 2022

20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T

Assets as per consolidated statement of SREHERRKATEE
financial position
Financial assets measured at amortised cost RHENATENSREE

— Trade receivables (Note 18) — B ZEWFIE(FIEE18) 53,704 27,183
— Other receivables and deposits (excluding — B EIRIE kiR e (T E

prepayments) (Note 18) FEIBAFE) (KiFE18) 5,642 4,368
— Amount due from immediate holding — R E B IR A RFIE

company (Note 25(d)) (MF3E25(d)) 65 437
— Short-term bank deposits (Note 20) — R ARERTTE R (Md7E20) 50,000 -
— Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) —Re kRS EEW(HFE20) 47,942 27,546
Total st 157,353 59,534

Liabilities as per consolidated statement of #Z& BB R KA RAR
financial position
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost IREE A AT 2L R A E

— Trade payables (Note 22) — B SN FIE(ME22) 21,870 28,707
— Accruals and other payables (excluding non-  — fEZT 2 K E b fE U8
financial liabilities) (Note 22) (TBEEEEREE)
(Mf3E22) 15,984 11,943
— Amount due to a director (Note 25(e)) — R —REERIE
(HMiEE25()) - 10,741
- Bank borrowings (Note 23) — HRITIE R (M7E23) 5,634 -
— Lease liabilities (Note 15(b)) —HEBE(HFE15(0b)) 353 863
Total HEt 43,841 52,254
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fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023%#3H31HIFF/E

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18 ESZRHMEWRIE
(a) Trade receivables (a) EZEWFIE
As at 31 March
M3A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Trade receivables B 5 EIGRIA 53,974 27,349
Less: provision for impairment W B (270) (166)
Trade receivables, net B SRR FRE 53,704 27,183
The ageing analysis of the gross trade receivables based B O RWHIAIREZAMES 2 Rk
on invoice date is as follows: DT -

As at 31 March

M3H31H
2023 APV
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHETT
Within 30 days 30BAA 46,024 21,788
31-60 days 31£260H 7,093 3,757
Over 60 days 608 A E 857 1,804
53,974 27,349
The credit terms provided to customers range from REFEPHEEBRNT14H=60
14 days to 60 days. The Group's trade receivables are Ho N"EEMNE HEKFIBTIAST
denominated in HK$ (2022: same). sHE(20224F : #8R) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 18 E5 K HMEWRIE @)

(b) Other receivables, deposits and (b) HMEWFIE - MERFBELR
prepayments 15

As at 31 March

MA3A31A
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Prepayments for wet trades works Je K TIRTE( 5118 70 62
Prepayments for listing expenses R TERFIE = 6,448
Other prepayments HATATFRIR 618 334
Other receivables (Note) Hob kI (B ) 3,200 2,738
Interest income receivables JEHH] B HA 933 -
Deposits b e 1,509 1,630
6,330 11,212
Less: Non-current deposits o IERBIRE = (173)
Current portion RENE S 6,330 11,039
Note:  The balance mainly represented advance payment paid Mk : BHREIZAAEERIEERER
out by the Group in relation to the claims from work B MTEMNRIE - BT AEEH
accidents which is expected to be recovered by the RIBERBRREE R EEFRZHSN
Group from the main contractors under the relevant ZHELA RIT BB B R E IR
insurance policy and arrangements with the main [ (20224F : A8[) °

contractors as well as industry practice (2022: same).

The Group's other receivables and deposits are IR B Y H At JEUCGRIR R ik Th b
denominated in HK$ (2022: same). None of the other JTCEHE (20224 : 1BR) - HEEME
receivables and deposits was impaired. WERIE K ¥R & HIREE °

2022/23 %3k e GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED 179



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023%#3H31HIFF/E

19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 19 8N BERSHERE
LIABILITIES
Included in contract assets/(liabilities) are the following: AABHEE,/(AE)WT :

As at 31 March

M3H31R
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FETT

Contract assets EHNEE

Unbilled revenue FAZWA 127,878 72,802

Retention receivables for wet trades works MR TIRIREE € (MFEC)

(Note ¢) 69,516 57,684
Total contract assets BHEERE 197,394 130,486
Less: provision for impairment o ORERE (549) (214)
Contract assets, net AHEEFE 196,845 130,272
Contract liabilities aHatE (3,076) (887)
Notes: BisE -

(@)  The Group classifies these contract assets and liabilities as current (@) AEBEBZECNEERBESEAR
because the Group expects to realise them in its normal operating ) AAASEEATEHEERLEBEHA
cycle. A E B -

(b)  The settlement analysis of unbilled revenue and contract liabilities by AAZRWARAGHNEEEREEBRBEES
based on project cycle was as follows: T

As at 31 March

M3H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FABT
Unbilled revenue: RAZWA :
To be recovered within twelve months B+ @A 2Rk E 127,878 72,802
Contract liabilities: AHBIE:
To be recognised within twelve months 1R+ 8 A 2 AR (3,076) (887)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)  Retention receivables are settled in accordance with the terms of
the respective contracts. The terms and conditions in relation to
the release of retention vary from contract to contract, which is
subject to practical completion, the expiry of the defect liability
period or a pre-agreed time period. In the consolidated statement
of financial position, retention receivables were classified as
current assets based on its normal operating cycle. The settlement
analysis of these retention receivables based on the terms of
related contracts was as follows:

19 EHEEREHNEGB@W

PRt ¢ (48)

O REURRZESREZBENERTINEE -
FRRE SNERREHFRFEEH(FER
BEFR e - BRIE B (E B E R SR E SR
E)MEMTR « REgEMBARERS
ERRESENLERLBMOBERRY
HE o AN A OETNZ S RKRE
SHEEIWTWT :

As at 31 March

A3A31H

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FAT

To be recovered within twelve months B+ & A Ak 27,676 30,913
To be recovered more than twelve months after #RER%+ = LA U@

the end of the year 41,840 26,771

69,516 57,684

Contract assets have increased as the Group has provided
more construction services ahead of the right to payment upon
receiving certification from quality surveyors for construction
contracts. The Group also applied the simplified approach
to provide for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for contract assets. Please refer to Note 3.1(a)(ii) for the
impairment of assets.

Contract liabilities for the construction contracts increased
(2022: decreased) due to the increase (2022: reduction) in
receipt in advance on overall contract activities.

2022/23 iR

HRAEBEREG TR EMMEEESL
HIBRE R RN 2 AT D IR E 2 &
R#% - MEHWEEGPTIEM - NEETRE
REBM KIS ERF SR RARETT
EMTRHEEEBENEE - ZEAARF
RENEEXRRERREYEREE - 6H
BERE - F2EME3. 1)

BEANNENRBEBAIEM(2022%F /K
D) TTHRBEA QAN BYFIRE N
(20225 : JFD) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023%#3H31HIFF/E

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 20 RERRESZEEYLARESET

SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS (2
As at 31 March
MA3A31A
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTHER 47,942 27,546
Short-term bank deposits (Note) R ERRT T R (BT ET) 50,000 -
97,942 27,546
Maximum exposure to credit risk FrEENEREERR 97,892 27,522
Note:  Interest rates of short-term bank deposits are approximately Mzt REEIRITERERNEL R4.6% °

4.6% per annum.

All cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank deposits are FERS NIRSEEBYUAREHIEITER
denominated in HK$ (2022: same). THLAB TTEHE (20224 < #HEA]) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o~ 2
RE M IS ERRMIEE
For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z
21 SHARE CAPITAL 21 IR
Equivalent
Number of nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares share
LEREE ZEREESE
HK$'000
FHIT
Authorised: SEE
As at 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 R2021F4 818 K20224F
3A31H 50,000,000 500
Increase in authorised share capital (Note i) SRTE R ZNEE A0 (B 7)) 9,950,000,000 99,500
Balance at 31 March 2023 M2023F3 A31 B &R 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued: BT
As at 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 M2021F4 8 1H K%20224F
3A31H 39,000,000 390
Issuance of shares pursuant to the BB E AL B TR (T
capitalisation (Note ii) 711,000,000 7,110
Issuance of shares pursuant to the IPO BEERARBEEETRGD
(Note iii) (B 5T 250,000,000 2,500
Balance at 31 March 2023 202343 A31 AMEE# 1,000,000,000 10,000

2022/23 iR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘l-K

=L

R R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z2023%3 431 H1-F/E

21 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

22

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e

0}

(ii)

(iii)

Pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholder passed on 13
September 2022, the authorised share capital of the Company
was increased from HK$500,000 to HK$100,000,000 by the
creation of additional 9,950,000,000 shares with par value of
HK$0.01 each.

Pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholder passed on 13
September 2022, the Company allotted and issued a total of
711,000,000 shares, credited as fully paid at par, to Evolve Billion
Limited on 10 October 2022 by way of capitalisation of the sum
of HK$7,110,000 standing to the credit of the share premium
account of the Company.

On 10 October 2022, the Company’s shares have been listed
on the Main Board of HKSE by issuing 250,000,000 new shares
of HK$0.01 each at a price of HK$0.5 per share for a total cash
consideration, before deducting underwriting commission and
expenses relating to the issue of new shares, of HK$125,000,000.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

21 BRAm)
BT
() WIEBREN202F9 A8 13EL155’]
/?%n#&z?'( Z’S j/ﬁiﬁlesiﬁﬂ

(ii)

(iii)

9,950,000,000 % & i% I {£0.01 7% 7T &9 %
3 + F1500,000/ 7T4E 2 100,000,000/ 7T

BIERRER2022F9 B 13 B @B IRE
2 AREN2022E108108EBEAR
AR EERP#EER7,110,0008 TR & 58
EAR - MEEARARRERETAL
711,000,000 /% 1% T B A BR 5| {E 81 2 #9 %

1/\ °

MR2022F 108108 * RRABIMNERMHEBRA
LA A% 0.5 7T B9 (B #% 8% 17250,000,000 %
SREEOVBITHFMBNNAR £
VB BT AR T (RN ER B AT R AR D 48
B89 B 858 & & B9 2 125,000,000 7T 2
AT) + AR S RE -

22 BESREMENRKIE

As at 31 March

M3H31H

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHETT

Trade payables B S EMNRIA 21,870 28,707
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R A T RUE

— Accruals for subcontractors’ labour cost — R B TR 13,718 6,976

— Accrued staff cost —JEFF B TRCAR 2,631 2,378

— Accruals for listing expenses —FERT LT = 4,852

— Other accruals and payables —E MR B A RIE IR 2,601 450

18,950 14,656

40,820 43,363
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 22 B REMEBENRE@®
The trade and other payables are denominated in HK$ and the H 5 RAAMEMNFRIBIILAETEE - BER
carrying amounts approximate their fair values (2022: same). E{EEE A HERE(2022F - HA) -
The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice date H SR FRIBREEE A A RE 4T
is as follows: AN

As at 31 March

M3H31A
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHT T
Within 30 days 30HA 21,870 28,707
23 BANK BORROWINGS 23 RITHER
As at 31 March
M3H31A
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHT T
Current, secured BNER - HEH
— Term loans —THIE® 5,634 -
The term loans are denominated in HK$ and bear interest at FEHERTIABITEHE - WIETIHKER
floating rates that are market dependent. FETEGTE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR L

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z2023%3 431 H1-F/E

23 BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

(@ The table below analyses the bank borrowings of the
Group into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at the year end to the contractual
maturity date without taking into consideration the effect
of repayment on demand clause.

Bank borrowings repayable: HEBRITHER
Within one year —F RN

(a)

23 SRBITER@

TRAFRBFTHEESHIHAR
SEIZAAMEI A AER B D RTTE
R - BRI EST RIRERKEEGK
RHFE -

As at 31 March
M3H31H
2023 2022
20224
HK$’000

T

20234
HK$'000
FHT

5,634 -

During the year, the Group has drawn down bank
borrowings of approximately HK$19,100,000 (2022:
Nil). It also repaid bank borrowings of approximately
HK$13,466,000 (2022: Nil).

The carrying amounts of the bank borrowings
approximate their fair values. As at 31 March 2023, the
weighted average interest rates are 5.26% (2022: Nil) per
annum.

(b) For the year ended 31 March 2022, all of the Group's
banking facilities are guaranteed personally by Mr. KS
Chan. Further, (i) certain revolving loan and installment
loan facilities are additionally secured by the Group's
pledged short-term bank deposit; (i) certain SME revolving
loan facility is additionally guaranteed by Hong Kong
Mortgage Corporation Limited and HKMC Insurance
Limited; and (iii) certain overdraft facility is additionally
secured by a property owned by Mr. KS Chan.

Apart from the security by a property owned by Mr. KS
Chan, all other security and guarantee above are released
during the year ended 31 March 2023. Additionally, all of
the Group’s banking facilities are guaranteed by corporate
guarantee of the Company.
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RAFE » AEEBRBURTTERY
19,100,000/8 7t (20224 : &) - H
IR {E 32 SR 1T 8 3K 49 13,466,000 %8 7T
(20225 : &) »

RITEREMEREAFERE - B
2023F3A318 - MEFHFEF XA
5.26% (20224 : &)

MEE2022F3A31BILEE - K&
ERTARITRA BB R EREE
AER I - (VETRERERES
HEZREEINANERND EFE
BRI RIEER (VB TP
BREFMERBBILBESFBFRA
AIREBEERBRARA AR AEREI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

23 BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 23 RITER @
The Group has the following undrawn bank facilities consisting REERRERHORITHE (BERITEIR
of bank overdrafts and revolving loan: BEREFOWAT :

As at 31 March

MA3A31A
2023 2022

20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T

Floating rate FEFIE 29,400 19,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023%#3H31HIFF/E

24 CASH FLOWS INFORMATION 24 REREEHR
(@) Cash (used in)/generated from operations: (@) & (FA) P58 E

Year ended 31 March

BZE3A31ALEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$’000
FTHERT FAT
Profit before income tax expense FTiSBiF 2 AR 56,735 38,772
Adjustments for: BT EIEFAE
Depreciation of plant and equipment R R i E 1,131 824
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 492 493
Finance income BT URA (1,006) (M
Finance costs IR IDIN 540 140
Gain on disposal on plant and equipment, HERE KR EW S FEE
net (8 -

Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment & 5 EWKIE KA KEEN
losses) on trade receivables and contract  JFEEE CR{EEE
assets #EE) 439 (360)

Operating profit before changes in working & & 4 & &) 5il £ & 4 7

capital 58,323 39,868
Changes in working capital: LEEeE
Increase in contract assets BHEEE N (66,908) (12,665)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other BHNEMEWTIE - HE

receivables, deposits and prepayments RIEFFRE(E M), R (19,457) 9,326
Decrease in trade payables, accruals and ‘& ZENFIE - BT ER M

other payables E A eI sRIER (7.807) (5,104)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AHBEENOhd) 2,189 (917)
Net cash (used in)/generated from & (FTA) P8R & F 5

operations (33,660) 30,508
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

24 CASH FLOWS INFORMATION (continued) 24 BEREER @)
(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceed from (b) RABREREERRN  HERE LR
disposals of plant, and equipment comprise: HHIFTSRIEBLE

Year ended 31 March

BZE3A31BLEFE
2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$'000 HK$’000
THERT FHET
Net book amount (Note 14) BRTEFE (F5E14) - -
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment, HEBE KR EW S FEE
net 8 -
Proceeds from disposal of plant and HEME MR EFTSHIE
equipment 8 -
(c) Cash flow information - financing activities (c) BEREER —BETH
The movements of liabilities from financing activities for RIr2IMESHHcmESTBEER
each of the periods presented: £

Other assets Liabilities from financing activities

HipEE REEBFELNAR
Cash  Short-term Amount  Accruals
and cash bank lease  duetoa forlisting

I deposit Total Borrowings liabilities  director  expenses Total
RER it e Ef-%  LERX
RESEN  BOER a5t o B EBRR MEGTEA a3t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
TR TEn TER Tén TR T TR T

As at 31 March 2022 2002537318 21,546 - 21,546 - 863 10,741 4,852 16,456
Cash flows Eeig 20,396 50,000 70,396 5,634 (537) - (6,050) (953)
Repayment to a director m—GEZEH = = = = - (10741) - (1074)
Non-cash movements; ks B
Interest expenses HEHx% - - - - bij - - 2
Accruals forlisting expenses RS E B = = = = = = 1,198 1,198
Asat 31 March 2023 RADE3A3IE oS00 SR 56 33 - - s
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023%#3H31HIFF/E

24 CASH FLOWS INFORMATION (continued) 24 BEREER @
(c) Cash flow information - financing activities () REREER —ME TS @)

(continued)

Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
HitEE RERDMELNAE
Pledged
Cash  Short-term Amount  Accruals
and cash bank Lease duetoa  for listing
equivalents deposit Total liabilities director  expenses
Hek 2HEMEH HE BN LWHxX
He%EY RITEX st Bf BEFE EHEAR
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAET TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT AT
As at 1 April 2021 202164518 16,069 5,174 21,243 385 15,341 3,081 18,807
Cash flows Bene 11,477 (5,174) 6,303 (527) - (1,930) (2,457)
Repayment to a
director FA—RESEN - - - - (4,600) - (4,600)

4

Non-cash movements; JFE4EE) :
Inception of lease

contracts HERNHR - - - 985 - - 985
Interest expenses FER - - - 20 - - 20
Accruals for listing RISz fEst

expenses &/ - - - - - 3,701 3,701

As at 31 March 2022 720224
30318 27,546 - 27,546 863 10,741 4,852 16,456
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FO ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

25 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant
influence over the Group in making financial and operating
decisions. Related parties may be individuals (being members
of key management personnel, significant shareholder and/
or their close family members) or other entities and include
entities which are under the significant influence of related
parties of the Group where those parties are individuals. Parties
are also considered to be related if they are subject to common
control.

(@) The directors of the Company are of the view that the
following parties/companies were related parties that had
transactions or balances with the Group during the year:

Name of related parties

MBS B8

25 EEMARS

fid — 77 B Re h B Sk & B AN = B 1) B 75
REERRITEERTEN I BER
EAREEGRY - BH O AEARIEE
ERAE TBERRRHERELERE
KRE)REMELR  BEIAKEIEARE
TERZENER - WA WD IHR
2 TR SRR o

() KRATRESRAUTINS AfA
RARFERAEBER R EBNE

4%
b

Relationship with the Group
BEAKENERR

Mr. KS Chan Controlling shareholder, director of the Group and Chairman
BRIBAR ST IR - AEEEEREF

Mr. WP Chan Controlling shareholder and director of the Group

BRACF S ERERERNAEEES

Ms. Chan Chui Ying Daughter of Mr. KS Chan & Ms. Tsang

PREZ/ME BREBREERGRLEZR

Mr. Chan Chun Wai Son of Mr. WP Chan

PBRIERN T4 BRAKFREZF

(b) The following transactions were carried out with related
parties:

Save as disclosed in Note 9 of this report, the following
transactions were carried out with related parties:

Salaries and pension costs paid to:

BIRERA
Ms. Chan Chui Ying BRERZ/NMA
Mr. Chan Chun Wai FREBEL ST A&

(b) LATZR 5Ty ERRAHE AT

BAREH O RBEEN - U2
T S B T HE T

As at 31 March

BE3A3MBLLEE
2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000
FH7 T

FA TN BT EE M

694 546
565 476

The transactions were conducted in the normal course
of business at prices and terms as agreed between the
Group and the related parties.

2022/23 iR

R IR IEEFRHBRTPIEASE R
AR 7 2 PR 9P TE RO (B AR S AR RRPTAET T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z2023%3 431 H1-F/E

25 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(9]

(d)

(e)

GC CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT

Key management compensation

Key management includes the executive directors of
the Group. The compensation paid or payable to key
management for employee services is disclosed in Note 9.

Amount due from immediate holding
company

Particulars of amount due from immediate holding
company are as follows:

25 BEEMARS @)
(c) EEEEEMS

TBEREREAEMHITES - A
ERRHEAREN EEEEEHE
B -

(d) BREZEEZERARRE

FEWEEIER AR RIBOFENT

HK$'000
THETT

Balance at 31 March 2023 20233 31 B A 65
Balance at 31 March 2022 R2022F3 431 HRAE 437

As at 31 March 2023, non-trade receivables balances from
immediate holding company were unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand and approximate their fair
values (2022: same).

As at 31 March 2023, the balance with immediate holding
company is denominated in HK$ (2022: same).

Amount due to a director

As at 31 March 2022, non-trade payables balances to a
director of the Group were unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand and approximate their fair values.
The balance with a director is denominated in HK$. The
balance was settled during the year ended 31 March
2023.

R2023F3A31H » EEERARH
B SR IBEREEET - 28
BiREXEE  RANEEQAFERS
(20224 : §ER) °

R2023F3A31H @ EEERARLE
EBRUABTTETE (20224 < #HA)) o

(e) BN —RESFNE

M2022%F3 8318 ERNAEE—A
EENFESGNELBLEEER &
BRREE - BEAFEEE - &
EVEBBILEE - ZEBRERE
F2023F3A31HILEERES -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

26 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 26 ZA&2ARMBEMRRE
THE COMPANY

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FREEE
Investments in subsidiaries (Note i) MY B A mI IR E (HFED 101,592 101,592
Current assets REEE
Prepayments TEfIFRIE 1,076 6,448
Amount due from a subsidiary JE U — AT /B A B R IE 15,000 -
Amount due from immediate holding FEW B BEAR A Rl FRIE
company = 390
Short-term bank deposit 52 ERERTTIF K 50,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 29,429 4
95,505 6,842
Total assets EEHAE 197,097 108,434
EQUITY S
Equity attributable to owners of AATREE AELES
the Company
Share capital (Note ii) R& 7S (B i) 10,000 390
Capital reserve (Note ii) B 7 s (Bt i) 101,592 101,592
Share premium (Note ii) &5 1B (B =Eii) 105,356 -
Accumulated losses Z25HEE (23,200) (16,182)
Total equity RERAR 193,748 85,800
LIABILITIES afE
Current liabilities REBARE
Accruals FEETER 8 4,852
Amount due to a subsidiary FEAS — AR B 2 B 5R0E 3,341 17,782
Total liabilities BERE 3,349 22,634
Total equity and liabilities EnkBERHE 197,097 108,434

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2023 and was

signed on its behalf.

Chan Kiu Sum
PRI AR

Director

EF

Chan Wing Ping
B

Director

EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR GE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023%#3H31HIFF/E

26 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 26 A2 BB R @
THE COMPANY (continued)

Notes: PizE

() Subsidiaries i MBEAF
The following is a list of the subsidiaries held directly or indirectly AR AR RAEIR20234F £20229F3A31H
by the Company at 31 March 2023 and 2022: HEXMESANMNE AR RS

Place of incorporation/ Attributable
establishment, operations and Issued and fully  equity interest

Name of subsidiaries type of legal entity paid up capital to the Group  Principal activities
FEMREL/ K - EBHHR
Gl P HARNED ERARARRA ASEEGRE TEXH

Direct Interests

EE#ER
Ying Ying Company Limited The BVI, limited liability company United States 100%  Investment holding
Dollars ("US$")
1,000
BERRRF RERUHE  BRARF 1,000%7T REER
(%))
Wai Wai Prestige Company Limited The BVI, limited liability company US$1,000 100%  Investment holding
REARAR EBRAHE  BRATF 1,000%7T BEAER
Indirect Interests
HEEs
Chan Kiu Construction Decoration Hong Kong, limited liability company HK$10 100%  Provision of wet trades
Engineering Limited works
BRRERKEHIRERAR B ARAR 107 REEKIR
Ying Wai (Chan Kiu) Construction Hong Kong, limited liability company HK$10 100%  Provision of wet trades
Engineering Co., Limited works
BE(RRB)RERKIIRERRA EE  ARAR 1047T REERTRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # 22023331 H 1F F/Z

26 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 26 A& RIETFAR &R @0
THE COMPANY (continued)

Notes: (continued) st : ()

(i) The reserves movement of the Company is as follows: (i)  AREWNBEESHT

Capital Share Accumulated
reserve premium losses Total

N1 RiiEE R HR EH)

HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TR BT

Balance at 31 March 2021 20213 A31 RE4&# 101,592 - (8,538) 93,054
Loss for the year FREBE - - (7,644) (7,644)
Balance at 31 March 2022 and #2022F3A31A K%

1 April 2022 20224 A1 B 101,592 - (16,182) 85,410
Loss for the year FHEE = = (7,018) (7,018)
Shares issued in the Initial Public RERLRAEE((ERAH

Offerings (“1PO”) e | BTHRG - 122,500 - 122,500
Capitalisation issue of shares RIVEARMEET - (7,110) - (7,110)
Share issuance costs BRABITRAR = (10,034) = (10,034)
Balance at 31 March 2023 202353 A31 AR & 101,592 105,356 (23,200 183,748
Note:  The capital reserve of the Group represented combined Misr: ANEBOERFBBEREHETK

share capital of the companies now comprising the IR AERR A EE M S HEAFE
Group upon the completion of the reorganisation. BOFRRAR
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
I ERBIE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the ~ NEREHFIFEEEANEED TIEFEHRSZAAE
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the BREENZEELREEGERE - ARSI 1E
published financial statements, is set out as below. This summary  KEFZIEIHER 2 —3D -

does not form part of the audited financial statements.

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
pliyk}:3 20225 20015 20205 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THx TAT TEL THTT THT

Revenue O 541,648 456,432 440,369 513,154 447,920

Cost of services PRI A (476,127) (398,744) (386,447) (467,153) (416,400)
Gross profit EH 65,521 57,688 53,922 46,001 31,51
Other income HtA 18,743 592 19,628 208 85

Administrative expenses TR (20,605) (12,087) (11,197) (14,041) (12,229)
Listing expenses WY (6,951) (7,642) (8,538) - -

(Impairment losses)reversal of impairment & S EYGIE R A NEE
loss on trade receivables and contract (REER)/ REEE

assets B (439) 360 (216) (220) (146)
Operating profit "EnH 56,269 38911 53,599 31,948 19,221
Finance income/(costs), net BRI/ (K )54 466 (139) (809) (1,275) (664)
Profit before income tax expense BRFTS BB L AR 56,735 38,772 52,790 30,673 18,557
Income tax expense MRS (7,407) (7,478) (6,751) (4,863) (2,867)

Profit and total comprehensive income &2 H#H AL EERA
for the year attributable to owners ~ R2EKALAE
of the Company 49,328 31,294 46,039 25,810 15,690

As at 31 March

R=A=+-H

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20235 20225 20215 20206 20195
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER BT AL AT AT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,441 2,695 1,986 2,180 3,067
Current assets MEEE 354,886 196,477 185,263 175,534 161,357
Total assets BEEAE 358,327 199,172 187,249 177,714 164,424
Non-current liabilities EnEasE 320 527 176 492 1,271
Current liabilities MEAE 51,257 56,189 75,911 112,489 122,980
Total liabilities BEAH 51,577 56,716 76,087 112,981 124,251
Total equity BHAH 306,750 142,456 111,162 64,733 40,173
Total liabilities and equity BEREREE 358,327 199,172 187,249 177,714 164,424
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